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The decade started with a pandemic that shook the world, Covid-19. Hafnia played its 
part to support the world through the crisis by keeping our fleet moving, with credit 
to our dedicated employees at sea and on shore who delivered transportation and 
floating storage throughout 2020, safely and responsibly. 

Due to restrictions imposed as a result of the world-wide lockdown and the sus-
pension of the majority of international flights, our vessels were unable to conduct 
normal crew changes for much of the year. The crew onboard our ships, serving on 
extended contracts, experienced great uncertainty about when they would be able to 
reunite with family and friends ashore. As a means of overcoming the crew change 
crisis, Hafnia has signed the Neptune Declaration on Seafarer Wellbeing and Crew 
Change. This by itself is not enough, which is why it is only one of the many things 
we’re doing to support our crew during these challenging times. We’ve also introduced 
higher overtime wages, improved internet access and increased wellness activities.

For our staff on shore, working from home has become the norm. Hafnia did a great 
job working together while being apart. It is impressive to see how our young but 
strong culture has survived and adapted to this “new normal”.

Product tanker market prospects
Going into 2020, prospects for the product tanker market appeared promising, with 
the new IMO 2020 regulations presenting both opportunities and uncertainties. With 
the spread of Covid-19 and the subsequent drop in oil consumption by c. 22 million 
barrels per day y-o-y in April 2020, the world product tanker fleet started acting as 
floating storage. The Russia–Saudi Arabia oil price war triggered in March 2020 
caused oil prices to drop below zero. For a short while, product tanker rates and 
oil inventories both reached all-time highs. In the second half of 2020, oil prices 
increased while oil consumption recovered slightly towards pre-pandemic levels. 

A new normal
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P. 7In the first few months of 2021, the oil inventories continue to rebalance, with much 
of the world still in lockdown. 

The outlook for the product tanker sector in the first half of 2021 appears challeng-
ing, with many factors expected to continue to weigh on market conditions. Against a 
backdrop of ongoing impacts on oil demand from renewed lockdowns in key regions 
and the resultant pressure on refinery throughput, pressure is further expected 
from the continued easing in floating storage and the underlying fleet expansion of 
2.0% in the product tanker sector. 

However, the latest trade projections suggest a bounce-back in seaborne products 
trade in the second half of 2021 as oil demand recovers and inventories return to 
normal. Combined with the rebound in demand, seasonal uplift is expected during 
the second half of the year.

1.2 million barrels per day of global refinery capacity was closed, mothballed, or con-
verted in 2020 (not including capacity temporarily offline due to impacts of Covid-19), 
with an additional 0.7 million barrels per day announced for 2021. Whilst new ex-
port-oriented capacity is slated to start up this year and next, this will likely force 
inefficient refineries near to consumption areas to close, thereby improving tonne-mile 
demand.

The total product tanker tonne-mile trade is projected to exceed growth in terms of 
tonnes, expanding by approximately 7% and 5.5% in 2021 and 2022, respectively.

Fleet growth

Product tanker supply and demand

Source: Clarkson Research, January 2021
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External factors influencing international transportation
Unfortunately, 2020 was also a year where we saw increased piracy activities in 
areas where we trade. Piracy and armed robbery at sea is a global challenge, and 
we have introduced procedures as per IMO guidelines. 

In December 2020, our vessel BW Rhine was hit by a remote controlled two-engine 
skiff carrying explosives at Jeddah, Saudi Arabia, causing an explosion and subse-
quent fire on board. The Master immediately ceased all discharge operations and 
activated emergency procedures on board. The crew extinguished the fire with 
assistance from the shore fire brigade and tugboats. Fortunately, all 22 seafarers 
were accounted for unharmed. I am very pleased with how all employees involved 
handled the incident, and I am thankful that no one was injured.

Separately, the refugee crisis in the Mediterranean Sea has led to an increase in commer-
cial vessels rescuing refugees and migrants at sea. However, coastal states’ reluctance 
to accept disembarkation within their territory has caused uncertainty for shipowners, 
charterers and seafarers. An international solution and a clear division of responsibility 
is needed. We stand united with our peers and are determined to find a viable solution. 

Expanding Hafnia 
Despite the disruption caused by the pandemic, I am happy to report that we have 
further expanded our business. We have set up a brand new pool called “Hafnia 
Specialized” for the smaller product tanker segment (tonnage under 20,000 dwt). 

New projects with environmental drivers 
Hafnia has implemented clear and effective measures to promote decarbonisation. 
We are firmly committed to providing safe, sustainable and efficient hydrocarbon 
transportation solutions while participating in global efforts to combat climate change. 

In 2020, numerous capital commitments were made towards increasing the sus-
tainability of our business: 

•	 �Our investment in Northwest Innovation Works towards developing a 3.6 million 
tonnes per annum methanol production and export facility at the Port of Kalama 
in Southwest Washington, USA. The plant will convert regionally-sourced natural 
gas to methanol, which will then be transported via ship – the equivalent of an MR 
cargo every four days – for use in dedicated production in Asia.
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 Mikael Skov, CEO

•	 �We will also provide and operate purpose-built 
next-generation methanol dual-fueled ships to 
transport one-third of the methanol volume pro-
duced by the plant. These vessels will be tied to 
19 year charters with a satisfactory guaranteed 
return during the period.

•	 �Our order of two LR2 newbuilds equipped with Liq-
uified Natural Gas (LNG) propulsion from Guang-
zhou Shipyard International (GSI). The vessels will 
be immediately chartered by a French energy com-
pany on long-term time charters with fixed earnings 
upon delivery in 2023. These dual-fuel vessels were 
meticulously designed to encapsulate the traits we 
believe are necessary for ships of the future.

•	 �Additional fuel optimisation efforts for the current 
fleet. This includes intermediate dry dockings, in-
stallation of Mewis ducts, propeller boss cap fins, 
waste heat recovery unit for generators, among 
other initiatives.

Through years of investments in emissions reduction 
measures and the continuous optimisation of our ves-
sel operations, Hafnia has achieved significant mile-
stones in reducing overall emissions and improving 
vessel efficiency. We are in full compliance with the 
IMO 2020 regulations on sulphur emissions, and we 
fully support and are on track to meet the IMO’s green-
house gas (GHG) reduction goals of reducing carbon 
intensity by 40% and total annual GHG emissions by 
50% by 2030, with 2008 levels as the baseline.

In 2020, across Hafnia’s owned fleet, our carbon in-
tensity was 5.70 grams/ton nautical mile (T NM), 5.6% 
below the present IMO baseline. This progress is in 
line with our goal of reaching IMO 2030’s target of 
4.47 grams/T NM by 2028. Standard vessel optimi-
sation efforts will be supplemented with additional 
initiatives such as intermittent dry dockings and op-
portunistic fleet renewals to reach our goal.

Financial highlights and return of  
capital
Hafnia achieved a net profit of USD 148.8 million and 
earnings per share of USD 0.41. The commercially 
managed pool business generated an income of USD 
23.0 million. 

Hafnia paid a dividend of USD 0.21 per share following 
the first and second quarter of 2020 equivalent to 
51.8% of the annual net profit and 11.2% of our market 
cap as per 31 December 2020.

Looking ahead
I am pleased to share that our performance in 2020 
has been strong, considering the severe impact of  
Covid-19. Looking ahead, I still believe that further 
consolidation is needed within the product tanker 
sector to fully unleash value and synergies from ad-
ditional operational scale. We will continue to search 
for such opportunities.

Lastly and most importantly, I extend my deep grati-
tude to all of our employees, customers, partners and 
suppliers for their extraordinary efforts during these 
challenging times. In the face of Covid-19, internation-
al shipping has proven to be as essential as ever. At 
Hafnia, we will continue to prioritise our employees’ 
health and well-being so we can continue to serve the 
world and live up to our mission to be Best on Water.
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Income statement

Q1 2020
USD 

million

Q2 2020
USD 

million

Q3 2020
USD 

million

Q4 2020
USD 

million

2020
USD 

million

Operating revenue 268.4 268.9 165.5 171.3 874.1

TCE income 193.5 206.9 118.5 104.3 623.2

EBITDA 129.6 145.9 51.7 35.6 362.8

Operating profit (EBIT) 91.0 107.0 10.4 (14.8) 193.6

Financial items (14.7) (12.1) (10.7) (9.7) (47.2)

Share of profit from associates and joint venture 1.2 3.4 1.2 (0.8) 5.0

Profit before tax 77.5 98.4 0.8 (25.3) 151.4

Net profit for the period/year 77.1 97.7 0.4 (26.4) 148.8

Balance sheet 

Total assets   2,721.6 2,692.3 2,609.5 2,543.9 2,543.9

Total liabilities   1,581.5 1,477.8 1,436.1 1,395.9 1,395.9

Total equity 1,140.1 1,214.5 1,173.3 1,148.0 1,148.0

Cash and cash equivalents 128.5 148.0 122.6 100.7 100.7

Key financial figures

Return on Equity (RoE) (p.a.)1 27.3% 33.5% 0.1% (9.3%) 13.1%

Return on Invested Capital (p.a.)1 15.6% 18.3% 2.6% (1.6%) 8.9%

Equity ratio1 41.9% 45.1% 45.0% 45.1% 45.1%

Net loan-to-value (LTV) ratio2 56.0% 53.7% 56.0% 57.9% 57.9%

Earnings per share (“EPS”) 0.21 0.27 - (0.07) 0.41

Dividend per Share (“DPS”) 0.1062 0.1062 - - 0.21

For the 3 months ended 31 December 2020 LR2 LR1 Panamax MR Handy Total

Vessels on water at the end of the period3 6 25 4 47 13 95

Number of operating days4 552 2,297 355 4,051 1,167 8,422

Total calendar days (excluding TC-in) 552 2,072 368 3,772 1,196 7,960

TCE (USD per operating day) 27,108 13,649 8,640 10,836 9,476 12,389

OPEX (USD per calendar day)5 7,606 7,830 4,669 7,803 6,522 7,459

G&A (USD per operating day)6 853

Average broker value for owned fleet  
(USD milllion) 282.0 374.0 15.07 1,009.9 212.0 1,892.9

Key figures

1 Annualised
2 �LTV ratio is calculated as borrowings on the 

vessels (net of cash) divided by vessel values.
3 �Excluding five LR1s and one LR1 newbuild 

owned through 50% ownership in Vista Ship-

ping Pte Ltd; and including Compass and Com-

passion (classified as assets held for sale).
4 �Total operating days include operating days for 

vessels that are time chartered-in.
5 �OPEX includes vessel running costs and tech-

nical management fees.
6 �G&A adjusted for cost incurred in managing 

external vessels in the pools.
7 Excluding Compass and Compassion (classified 

 as assets held for sale)
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Best commercial performance
Over the years, we have benchmarked ourselves against our peers to evaluate our 
commercial performance, while adjusting for fleet composition, speed and consump-
tion. When we look at these ‘apples to apples’ benchmarks, we are at the absolute 
top in all of our segments. 

This is the result of the quality of our daily commercial decision-making which is 
supported by tracking our own and our competitors’ trading patterns. We constant-
ly improve our understanding of cargo flows and seasonal patterns of the product 
tanker market.

Lowest operating and funding cost
Our operational cash flow breakeven is below USD 13,000 per day - the lowest in 
the industry. Our industry leading interest margins, our solid balance sheet and low 
Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) expense of USD 800 per day are also 
key contributors to our competitiveness.

USD 23.0 million in income from the pools and other fee-gener-
ating activities

�Focus on Environmental, Social and Corporate Governance (ESG)
E: In Hafnia, we believe that joint global efforts are needed to combat climate change. 
As a leading shipping company, it is Hafnia’s goal to keep providing safe, sustainable 
and efficient hydrocarbon transportation solutions, and thereby contribute to the 
shipping industry’s efforts to reduce environmental impact. 

S: Additionally, we have continued to promote diversity at sea and ashore. By 2024, 
we strive to have 40% female colleagues throughout the organisation, including in 
key management positions. We also continue to develop an inclusive and diverse 

working environment with our newly introduced culture and leadership academy, a 
project which encapsulates the heart of Hafnia.

G: The development, implementation and maintenance of good and well-functioning 
governance policies and practices are important processes and focus areas for 
Hafnia.

�A firm believer in consolidation. We see three obvious benefits:
1.	� Large scale in number of vessels enables better performance in chartering, 

operations, bunker and back-office.
2.	� Clear cost synergies. We have seen examples of how smaller platforms of 20-25 

vessels could have reduced the daily SG&A per vessel by more than USD 1,000 
per day, and saved a total of more than USD 20 million per year, including better 
financing.

3.	� Digitalisation across a large fleet improves data intelligence significantly and 
enables faster and better decision making. Smaller platforms lack the scale 
needed to properly utilise the added information from a big fleet. 

As an example, a trial we are conducting in Hafnia involves installing sensors 
on board on part of our fleet. On each vessel, the sensors collect 3,000 to 5,000 
data points every 30 seconds, allowing for:

•	 Data-based fuel consumption optimisation, 
•	� Emission reduction programs with tracking and reporting,
•	 AI-based predictive maintenance application,
•	 Fully automated hull efficiency monitoring, 
•	 Automatic performance reports,
•	� Notifications, alarms and warnings, and
•	 Compliance applications.

Why Hafnia 
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USD 
874.1m

Revenue

USD 
623.2m

TCE Income

USD 
193.6m

Operating Profit

USD 
0.41

Earnings per Share

13.1%

Return On Equity

1,997

Employees

5

Global Offices
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Operating highlights

Financial highlights

Fleet utilisation

1,148.0m Total
Equity 98.3m

Dividend paid in 2020, 
including dividend 
declared in Q4 2019

1,279 Shareholders

USD USD

88 Owned 
Vessels 184 Vessels in 

Hafnia's Pools 4 Commercial 
Shipping Pools 25 External Pool

Partners

925 Voyages 
Performed 18,090

USD

TCE per 
Operating Day 0 Fatalities

28% Laden 21% Ballast 36% Port 6% Idle 2% Bunker 4% Others 3% Off Hire
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Safe harbour 
statement
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These Forward-looking Statements may be identified 
by the use of forward-looking terminology, such as 
the terms “anticipates”, “assumes”, “believes”, “can”, 
“could”, “estimates”, “expects”, “forecasts”, “in-
tends”, “may”, “might”, “plans”, “should”, “projects”, 
“will”, “would” or, in each case, their negative, or 
other variations or comparable terminology. These 
Forward-looking Statements are, as a general mat-
ter, statements other than statements as to historic 
facts or present facts and circumstances. 

They include statements regarding Hafnia’s inten-
tions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, 
among other things, financial strength and position 
of the Group, operating results, liquidity, prospects, 
growth, the implementation of strategic initiatives, as 
well as other statements relating to the Group’s future 

business development, financial performance and the 
industry in which the Group operates.

Prospective investors in Hafnia are cautioned that 
Forward-looking Statements are not guarantees of 
future performance and that the Group’s actual finan-
cial position, operating results and liquidity, and the 
development of the industry and potential market in 
which the Group may operate in the future, may differ 
materially from those made in, or suggested by, the 
Forward-looking Statements contained in this report. 
Hafnia cannot guarantee that the intentions, beliefs or 
current expectations upon which its Forward-looking 
Statements are based, will occur.

By their nature, Forward-looking Statements involve, 
and are subject to, known and unknown risks, uncer-

tainties and assumptions as they relate to events and 
depend on circumstances that may or may not occur 
in the future. Because of these known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the outcome 
may differ materially from those set out in the For-
ward-looking Statements. These Forward-looking 
Statements speak only as at the date on which they 
are made. Hafnia undertakes no obligation to pub-
licly update or publicly revise any forward-looking 
statement, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise. All subsequent written 
and oral Forward-looking Statements attributable 
to Hafnia or to persons acting on Hafnia’s behalf are 
expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary 
statements referred to above and contained else-
where in this report.

This annual report includes “Forward-looking Statements” that reflect 
Hafnia’s current views with respect to future events, and financial and 
operational performance. 

Disclaimer regarding 
forward-looking statements 
in the annual report
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Heart of 
Hafnia
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Hafnia’s core competence is in arranging transportation in the product tanker spot 
market. This requires flexible management of the business. By integrating traditional 
shipowner business units with adjacent innovations, Hafnia has built a platform that 
enables sound commercial decision-making.

Hafnia services customers within four product tanker segments - Handy, MR, LR1 
and LR2 segments - and various chemical tanker segments in the Specialized pool.

By leveraging on its expertise and insight in the dynamics of the 
product tanker spot market, Hafnia generates commercially 
viable solutions for both partners and customers across its 
four shipping pools. Hafnia also facilitates further synergies by 
supplying bunkers and technical services to its pool partners, 
as well as to shipowners outside the shipping pools.

By creating structured, coordinated and inclusive work-
streams across its wide range of business units, Hafnia  

creates maximum value for its customers - that is the Heart of Hafnia. 

Hafnia is a modern shipowner and pool management company with 
integrated commercial, crewing and technical operating units providing 
expert service and support to partners and customers within the trans-
portation of refined oil products and “easy chemicals”. 

Heart of Hafnia
Copenhagen

Pools

P
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Values

Technical
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Hafnia’s core 
competence is 
in arranging 
transportation 
in the product 
tanker spot 
market
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Handy MR LR1 LR2

Type Owned
Bare-

boated-in
Time 

chartered-in 
Commercial 
management Total

LR2 6 - - - 6

LR1 28* 4 3 41 76

MR 41 - 6 15 62

Handy 13 - - 10 23

Specialized - - - 17 17

88 4 9 83 184

* Including five LR1’s and one LR1 newbuild owned through 50% ownership in Vista Shipping Pte Ltd

Environmental efficiency is important in securing favourable contracts with high-qual-
ity customers. Hafnia’s fleet is part of our competitive advantage. Being young and 
well-maintained, our fleet reduces fuel consumption and operating cost while im-
proving safety and vessel utilisation, hence maximising the quality of service we 
deliver to our customers.

In total, Hafnia’s owned, bareboat-in and time chartered-in fleet of 100 vessels has 
a carrying capacity of approximately 6.1 million dwt. The average age of the fleet is 
approximately 7.3 years (excluding newbuilds). A large part of our fleet has a modern 
eco-design that uses technological improvements to optimise speed, minimise fuel 
consumption and reduce emissions.

The average age of the global LR2, LR1, MR and Handy fleets are approximately 9.4, 
11.3, 10.6 and 14.7 years respectively (source: Clarksons research, January 2021). 
The estimated useful lifespan of each vessel is 25 years.

• 13 owned vessels
•	10 vessels in commercial  
	 management

(25,000-39,999 dwt)
Length: 185 meters  
Lightweight: 8,307-9,620 tons
260,000 barrels

• 41 owned vessels
•	6 time chartered in
•	15 vessels in commercial  
	 management

(40,000-54,999 dwt)
Length: 185 meters
Lightweight: 10,235-12,056 tons
320,000 barrels

•	28* owned vessels 
•	4 bareboat chartered-in
•	3 time chartered-in 
•	� 41 vessels in commercial  

management

(55,000-84,999 dwt)
Length: 228 meters
Lightweight: 12,705-15,673 tons
520,000 barrels

• 6 owned vessels 

(85,000-124,999 dwt)
Length: 249 meters
Lightweight: 19,391 tons
750,000 barrels
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P. 20 4.1.1	 Products transported
The product tanker fleet can carry a wide range of oil and oil products, 
including gasoline, diesel, gas oil, naphtha, kerosene, vegetable oil, fuel oil, 
crude oil and chemicals. 

In 2020, 32% of global cargoes were gasoil, 25% were gasoline, 19% fuel oil, 
15% naphtha, and 9% jet fuel/kerosene.

4.1.2	 Employment and earnings
Hafnia employs its fleet within three of the four Hafnia pools, namely the 
Handy pool, the MR pool and the LR pool, or through longer chartered-out 
contracts. 

Revenue from a vessel’s employment within a pool is influenced by the num-
ber of vessels in the pool, the number of days during which the vessels in 
the fleet operate and the freight rates that the pool earns, after adjusting for 
pool points. A vessel’s pool points reflect the earning potential of the vessel.

32%
Gasoil Gasoline

19%
Fuel oil

15%
Naphtha

9%
Jet fuel/Kerosene

25%

Source: Clarksons Research, January 2021
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Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 TOTAL

Handy

Vessels at the end of the period 13 13 13 13 13

Total operating days 1,173 1,218 1,245 1,167 4,803

Total calendar days (excluding tc-in) 1,183 1,183 1,196 1,196 4,758

TCE (USD per operating days) 22,723 18,819 10,399 9,476 15,321

OPEX (USD per calendar day)  6,306 5,928 6,599 6,522 6,340

MR

Vessels at the end of the period 47 47 47 47 47

Total operating days 4,214 4,301 4,215 4,051 16,781

Total calendar days (excluding tc-in) 3,731 3,731 3,772 3,772 15,006

TCE (USD per operating days) 21,960 22,497 12,709 10,836 17,089

OPEX (USD per calendar day) 6,728 5,852 6,883 7,803 6,819

Non-pool Panamax

Vessels at the end of the period 4 4 4 4 4

Total operating days 364 364 368 355 1,451

Total calendar days (excluding tc-in) 364 364 368 368 1,464

TCE (USD per operating days) 20,996 30,991 8,393 8,640 17,283

OPEX (USD per calendar day) 8,186 7,223 6,894 4,669 6,737

LR1

Vessels at the end of the period 26 26 26 25 25

Total operating days 2,327 2,309 2,287 2,297 9,220

Total calendar days (excluding tc-in) 2,093 2,093 2,116 2,072 8,374

TCE (USD per operating days) 23,041 26,412 14,694 13,649 19,475

OPEX (USD per calendar day) 7,191 6,542 6,937 7,830 7,123

LR2

Vessels at the end of the period 6 6 6 6 6

Total operating days 546 545 552 552 2,195

Total calendar days (excluding tc-in) 546 546 552 552 2,196

TCE (USD per operating days) 23,762 27,465 27,702 27,108 26,514

OPEX (USD per calendar day) 6,383 6,297 6,318 7,606 6,653
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P. 22 4.1.3 	 Technical and crewing
Hafnia has a fully integrated technical department that draws support and 
knowledge from external technical managers to manage maintenance, dry 
docking, marine vetting, security, and crew management. They ensure that 
the highest safety and environmental standards are maintained on board. 
The technical department is also working on developing IT solutions to run 
and maintain the fleet. 

4.1.4 	 Strategy for 2021 
Hafnia is making progress to lower the emissions profile of its fleet, but 
substantial changes take time, as significant investments in technological 
advancements are required. Hafnia follows all new technologies close-
ly and is in constant dialogue with shipyards and technical suppliers  
regarding more sustainable solutions for retrofits and newbuilds, and 
methods to prove performance are being developed.

Hafnia may divest older tonnage to make room in the fleet for alternatives 
with ECO or dual-fuel type vessels, be they in the form of chartered-in 
vessels, vessels bought second-hand, or newbuilds. 

Hafnia continues to maintain, improve and upgrade the existing fleet. For 
example, Hafnia reduces fuel consumption in its vessels through improved 
anti-fouling, engine room management, intermediate dry dockings, waste 
heat recovery, and optimising maintenance.

As further demonstrations of Hafnia’s commitment to sustainability,  
Hafnia has also acquired a 50% stake in two LR2 dual-fuel vessels char-
tered out to Total on long-term contracts. Moreover, Hafnia bought a stake 
in the Kalama methanol facility guaranteeing 19-year contracts to carry 
methanol from the US West Coast to Asia on methanol-fueled vessels, and 
has entered into sustainability-linked loan arrangements.
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P. 234.1.5	 Purchase options and obligations
The below tables present an overview of the Group’s purchase options and 
obligations for its time chartered-in or bareboat-in vessels.

Options

USD million

Name Type Year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Orient Challenge MR 2017 31.90 30.30 28.70 27.10 25.50 23.90 22.30 - - -

Orient Innovation MR 2017 31.90 30.30 28.70 27.10 25.50 23.90 22.30 - - -

Beagle MR 2019 - 38.00 35.75 34.25 32.75 31.25 29.75 - - -

Basset MR 2019 - 38.00 35.75 34.25 32.75 31.25 29.75 - - -

Boxer MR 2019 - 38.00 35.75 34.25 32.75 31.25 29.75 - - -

Bulldog MR 2020 - - 38.00 35.75 34.25 32.75 31.25 29.75 - -

Sunda LR1 2019 - 46.00 44.00 42.00 40.00 38.00 36.00 - - -

Karimata LR1 2019 - 46.00 44.00 42.00 40.00 38.00 36.00 - - -

Hafnia Africa LR1 2010 24.00 19.60 17.10 14.60 12.10 9.60 8.00 5.50 3.00 -

Hafnia Australia LR1 2010 - 21.00 19.00 17.00 14.90 12.90 10.90 8.90 6.35 -

Hafnia Asia LR1 2010 23.70 22.86 21.25 19.38 - - - - - -

Hafnia Arctic LR1 2010 24.65 23.77 22.10 20.15 - - - - - -

Obligations

USD million

Name Type Year 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 2030

Hafnia Australia LR1 2010 - - - - - - - - - 4.20

Hafnia Asia LR1 2010 - - - - 17.25 - - - - -

Hafnia Arctic LR1 2010 - - - - 17.94 - - - - -
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P. 24 4.1.6	 Tonnage chartered in and out

Tonnage chartered in 31 December 2020

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day

Handy - - - - - - - - - - - -

MR 2,190 15,950 2,190 15,950 2,190 15,950 1,698 15,943 398 15,908 - -

LR1 1,094 16,837 840 17,997 730 18,750 427 18,750 - - - -

LR2 - - - - - - - - - - - -

Tonnage sales and lease back 31 December 2020

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day

Handy - - - - - - - - - - - -

MR - - - - - - - - - - - -

LR1 1,460 6,811 1,460 7,240 1,460 7,718 1,464 7,663 1,133 7,574 730 7,547

LR2 - - - - - - - - - - - -

Tonnage chartered out 31 December 2020

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026

Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day Days USD/Day

Handy 525 14,695 252 15,625 - - - - - - - -

MR 1,358 15,764 33 14,250 - - - - - - - -

LR1 234 21,228 39 22,022 - - - - - - - -

LR2 1,552 25,789 920 25,525 - - - - - - - -
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P. 254.2		 Hafnia’s pools
As per 31 December 2020, Hafnia operated 
a fleet of 184 vessels including newbuild and 
vessels chartered out on long-term charter 
contracts in our four pools which range from 
small specialised chemical tankers to the larg-
est product tankers. The pools are managed 
to maximise both fleet utilisation and revenue 
within a cyclical freight market.

Hafnia’s highly specialised and dedicated 
chartering and commercial departments are 
responsible for developing, marketing, and 
negotiating all contracts for both the product 
tanker vessels and the chemical tankers that 
the pools operate.

Hafnia’s chartering department primarily trades 
the vessels in the spot market. All contracts in the 
pools are negotiated and secured by the pools 
under instruction and authority from the Pool 
Board.

Each pool is managed by a pool board compris-
ing representatives from each pool member. The 
pool board is the pool’s governing body, over-
looking the pools’ overall strategic management.

4.2.1	 Functioning, structure and size
When employed in a pool, a vessel is part of a 
fleet of similar vessels, brought together by 
their owners to exploit efficiencies, economies 
of scale and benefit from a revenue/loss shar-
ing mechanism. The pool operator sources dif-
ferent cargo shipment contracts and efficiently 
directs and operates the vessels to provide the 
services needed pursuant to such agreements.

The Specialized Pool comprises 17 chemical 
vessels and has 1 pool participant. The Handy 

Pool comprises 23 Handy vessels and has 5 
pool participants. The MR Pool comprises 62 
MR vessels and has 9 pool participants. The 
LR Pool comprises 82 LR vessels and has 17 
pool participants.

4.2.2	 Pool earnings
The earnings allocated to vessels are aggre-
gated and divided based on a pool point sys-
tem, reflecting comparative voyage results 
on hypothetical benchmark routes. The pool 
points system is weighted by attributes such 

as size, fuel consumption, classification and 
other capabilities. Pool revenues are only rec-
ognised for the given period during which the 
vessel has participated in a pool, and when the 
amount of pool revenue during that period can 
be estimated reliably.

Hafnia receives pool management commission 
in the form of a fixed fee and a percentage of 
all net pool income from voyage charters, time 
charters and other charters.

Vessel earnings/income

Finance &
Control

Specialized Pool

1 participant

Chartering Operations

Pool management
by Hafnia

Handy Pool

5 participants

MR Pool

9 participants

LR Pool

17 participants
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4.2.3	 Operations
Hafnia’s operations department is responsible 
for managing the performance of the vessels 
during their voyages. This includes each ves-
sel’s compliance with the terms and conditions 
of the applicable charter party contracts and 
the active management of voyage costs to op-
timise each vessel’s earnings. 

4.2.4	 Bunkers 
		  Hafnia’s Bunker department is responsible for 

the competitive procurement of bunker for 
both pools and third party customers.

Hafnia receives commission in the form of a 
fixed fee per ton of all bunker purchased.

4.2.5	 Strategy for 2021
In 2020, Hafnia expanded the pool manage-
ment business with the specialized chemical 
tanker segment, and Hafnia seeks to further 
expand its commercial management business 
into new segments in the years to come. In ad-
dition, Hafnia’s strategy is to increase the num-
ber of vessels in its four pools through adding 
external vessels with the right pool partners, 
while maintaining its customised approach to 
pool management.

4.3 	 Projects
4.3.1	 Investments 

Hafnia has long-standing relationships with 
leading global financial institutions, which, to-
gether with the company’s strong reputation, 
enables Hafnia to secure attractive financing 
regarding both structure and terms. This en-
hances our ability to move quickly to ensure 
investment opportunities.

The sale and purchase team drives Hafnia’s 
investments, providing analysis to the manage-
ment on sale and purchase activities, lease-
back transactions, and newbuild opportunities.

In 2020, we focused on divesting older ton-
nage and securing projects with long-term 
contracts that focused on next-generation 
dual-fuel tonnage.

4.3.2 	 Innovation 
We have also created 
a culture of innovation 
at Hafnia by encourag-
ing employees to con-
stantly experiment and 
suggest new ways of 
meeting and exceeding 
our customers’ needs.

4.3.3 	 Partnerships 
In addition, we scout for potential partnership 
opportunities with start-ups and other indus-
try majors to accelerate our internal initiatives 
and tackle some of the significant challenges 
faced by shipping industry today.

4.3.4	 Strategy for 2021
The ability to discover and fulfil unmet cus-
tomer needs in a competitive market is what 
has brought Hafnia to its position as the 
world’s leading listed product tanker com-
pany. Hafnia’s strategy is to grow its market 
share and profits through product and ser-
vice innovation.

At Hafnia, we will continue to focus on new 
business opportunities, emphasising our 
edge in long-term contracts, innovative solu-
tions, and adjacent businesses.

By solving every-
day problems  
with innovative 
solutions, we  
save costs and 
increase job  
satisfaction
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Covid-19 turned 2020 upside down – making it a year 
nobody could have predicted. At Hafnia, we are proud of 
how we learned to stand together while staying apart. 
Like all other shipping companies, we were challenged by 
the travel restrictions prohibiting our seafarers’ move-
ment and forcing our shore staff to work from home. 

We believe that the world has yet 
to see the full effects of Covid-19 
and its associated physical and 
mental health consequences. 

At Hafnia, we believe that the 
business and our employees 
benefit from an inclusive and 
diverse working environment. 
Thus, despite living with confine-
ment restrictions in 2020, our 
diversity efforts continued. We 

still maintain our ambition to have employees identifying 
as female form at least 40% of the organisation, includ-
ing in key management positions, by 2024.

As part of Hafnia’s effort to promote equality, we have 
introduced measures to improve wage equality during 
our compensation and benefits review. Management is 
firmly committed to eliminating any differences in pay 
based on gender.

We also stand united towards the shared goal of elimi-
nating corruption and bribery in the maritime industry. 
We recognise that this is not something we can achieve 
on our own. A global coalition is necessary to stop such 
a pervasive problem. In 2011, the industry formed the 
MACN (Maritime Anti-Corruption Network), to work to-
wards an industry free of corruption and to enable fair 
trade to benefit the society at large. Hafnia joined the 

MACN in 2014 and continues to contribute and partici-
pate as an active member of the network. 

At Hafnia we strive to “C A R E” – to be Collaborative, Am-
bitious, Reliable, and Enduring. We aim to integrate these 
values in our day-to-day operations and our strategy. As 
part of this integration effort, we initiated a values-based 
leadership programme in 2020 for all shore-based em-
ployees with leadership responsibilities.

Prioritising employee wellbeing is not the only way that 
Hafnia puts people first. The People, Culture & Strategy 
team has recently launched several initiatives to bring 
people closer to each other and to gain a broader under-
standing of the industry. One such initiative is the new 
‘Hafnia Employee Assistance Programme’, which aims 
to assist employees who experience work- or family- 
related challenges.

People, culture 
and values

Hafnia  
employees 
represent 19 
countries, and 
34% of our 
shore-based 
employees are 
female.
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5.1		 At sea
By the end of 2020, we had 1,812 seafarers 
employed on Hafnia’s 46 internally managed 
ships. Additionally, 40 vessels are managed 
by external technical managers, adding 
1,661 to our total number of seafarers.

Our seafarers maintain 
the value and quality of 
our vessels, playing a 
critical role alongside 
our land-based col-
leagues to achieve the 

safe transportation of our customers’ cargoes. 
The Covid-19 pandemic has put Hafnia’s seafar-
ers around the world in precarious situations. 
Hafnia has signed the ‘Neptune Declaration’ in 
order to work towards resolving crewing chal-
lenges alongside other shipowners, the IMO and 
international labour organisations. 

5.2		 Our team on shore
Hafnia has its operational headquarters in Sin-
gapore and has offices in Copenhagen, Hou-
ston, Monaco and Mumbai. On shore, Hafnia 
employs 185 specialists in both technical and 
corporate support functions, such as charter-
ing, finance, operations, and bunker supply.

Hafnia believes in educating young profession-
als through a combination of theoretical and 
practical training. We offer a traineeship pro-

gram that accepts fresh university graduates 
on an annual basis. Our trainees go through 
a 2-year shipping curriculum alternating be-
tween lectures and on-site teaching in relevant 
subjects, including ship knowledge, commer-
cial negotiations, business ethics, economics 
and maritime law. The trainees go through 
this curriculum in conjunction with related 
work experience in various departments at 
Hafnia. The trainees will rotate through dif-
ferent departments within Hafnia, such as 
chartering, operations and our bunker desk. 
They will also be exposed to other departments 
such as claims, controls and projects to gain 
a well-rounded and holistic understanding of 
how a modern shipping company works. This 
allows the trainees to continue expanding their 
maritime education while supplementing it with 
practical hands-on commercial experience.

5.3		 Talents
Through its quarterly 
appraisal dialogues, 
Hafnia encourages 
managers and employ-
ees to mutually reflect 
on how to develop each 
employee’s talents in 
service of the organ-
isation. During these 
dialogues, employees discuss how they can 
develop in specific focus areas through our 

tailor-made talent development programs, 
which include: 

•	 Additional training and courses
•	 Coaching
•	 Mentoring
•	 Job rotation
•	 Overseas attachments 
•	 Networks
•	 Career and succession planning
•	 Feedback sessions
•	 Promotions

5.4		� Flexible work arrangements and 
working from home
Covid-19 has accelerated the movement to-
wards increased flexibility in work arrange-
ments. Hafnia recognises that better work-life 
balance can improve employee motivation, 
performance and productivity while reducing 
stress. Along with flexible work arrangements, 
Hafnia also provides guidance to its employees 
on how to benefit and utilise such arrange-
ments effectively. 

During 2020, the percentage of employees 
working from home was extremely high due 
to Covid-19 lockdown restrictions. We hope 
that we will return to a more familiar working 
routine in the second half of 2021, in order to 
enhance collaboration and continue building a 
strong company culture.

Hafnia has 
1,812 seafar-
ers from 17 
nationalities.

With our 
People First 
approach,  
we believe 
in hiring for 
attitude and 
training for 
skills
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We interviewed Mette Gandrup (General 
Manager and Head of Operations in Houston), 
Fausto Braschi (Senior Manager, Chartering 
in Copenhagen) and Emelia Yusope (Assistant 
Manager, Bunkers in Singapore) about their 
working lives and what it’s been like to work 
from home.

What are the greatest advantages of working at  
Hafnia?
Mette Gandrup: The most significant advantage of work-
ing at Hafnia is that it feels like a family, everyone is ac-
cessible, and everyone always takes time to help or talk. 

Fausto Braschi: I agree, at Hafnia you are always sur-
rounded by people with shared values. We work to-
wards the same goal, and are always willing to support 
each other. We have a common ground. I love my job. I 
think it is the best job in the world.

Emelia Yusope: The best thing is colleagues. Everyone 
is very welcoming, and it is easy to discuss something 
if you have any issues.

What is the downside of working in shipping?
Mette Gandrup: It can be difficult to find a balance be-
tween private life and work. We spend a lot of hours 
working. It is a lifestyle choice.

Fausto Braschi: It can be challenging to make people 
around you to understand the long working hours. Peo-
ple outside shipping have a hard time understanding 
the demanding hours, and that we are available on the 
phone 24/7.

Emelia Yusope: Shipping never really stops. The plans 
you made can change in a second due to unforeseen 
circumstances.

How did Covid-19 affect your life at work and at home? 
Emelia Yusope: When I started with Hafnia, the safe 
management practices were in place at work. However, 
despite the reduction in face-to-face interactions with 
colleagues, the onboarding went well.

Fausto Braschi: As a company and team we managed 
very well under the pandemic. Working from home is 
challenging and I really miss being in the office. However, 
I think I would enjoy working from home for one day per 
week, and look forward to similar forms of flexible work-
ing hours once we return. The communication and han-
dling of Covid-19 from Hafnia’s side has been excellent.

Mette Gandrup: Now everyone has a proper work  
station at home, which is great. I think the pandemic has 
opened a lot of people’s eyes to the benefits of working 
from home.

What have you learned personally and professionally 
during Covid-19?
Emelia: Obviously working from home was relatively un-
common prior to the pandemic, but I have found it rela-
tively easy to adapt to. Moving forward, I believe a healthy 
balance between working from home and in the office 
can boost productivity whilst improving work-life balance.

Mette Gandrup: I have gained some clarity on how to 
juggle life. It has been a gift to have more time with my 
son and husband. I have a lot of new tools in my toolbox.

Fausto Braschi: I feel much more confident in my ability 
to juggle personal life and work.

How does your family cope with your choice of career?
Fausto Braschi: I’d say they cope pretty well, but I sup-
pose you’d have to ask them! They understand that 
things change a lot. My wife has told me several times 
how happy I look every day when I return home from 
the office. 

Emelia Yusope: My family was excited when I joined Haf-
nia, and I have to say that I am very happy to have joined.

Mette Gandrup: My husband also tells me I look happy 
when I return from the office. My husband is also in 
shipping, making it easier for him to understand the 
demands of the business.

Working at Hafnia, at home P. 31
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This year was very difficult for seafarers 
around the world. The crew change crisis has 
not only made life difficult for those at sea, but 
also their families, from whom they have been 
temporarily separated.

Captain Somen Roy 
We had the privilege of interviewing Captain Somen Roy, 
who was delayed on board BW Columbia during his last 
assignment due to Covid-19. He went on board on 21 
January 2020 for three months and ended up on board 
until 30 July, staying there for six months and ten days.

Captain Roy started with us as a trainee (cadet) in Sep-
tember 2000, progressed to the rank of Master and 
took over his first command in January 2016. He has 
been with us for more than 20 years now. 

Tell us a little about yourself
About 20 years ago, I graduated from Glasgow College 
when Worldwide Shipping came to campus to interview 
potential crew members. Six candidates were selected, 
and fortunately, I was one of them! The final interview 
was done by Andreas Sohmen-Pao, who, I believe, joined 
the company that year. This was in the year 2000, so we 
were introduced to the company as “Y2K” cadets. My in-
itial cadetship was on product tankers and VLCCs. Fast 
forward 16 years and I was promoted to Master on 1 
January 2016.

What are the greatest advantages of being a seafarer?
I love the sea! I would say that I was born for the sea. 
I’m definitely not office material! The experience over 
the past 20 years has been unparalleled. The safety 

culture here is so superior to other companies. We of-
ten have to train other people up when they come from 
different companies.

What is one downside?
The only thing I don’t like is that you can’t get a helicop-
ter in the middle of the sea in the event of an emergency. 
If you’re in the middle of the Atlantic Ocean, there is no 
help. This can be challenging because there are times 
in life when your family needs you, and you may not be 
able to be there for them. However, I know first-hand 
that the company will do all it can to get you to them 
if the possibility exists. A few years ago, my wife and 
son were on vacation in Dubai while I was at sea. My 
son got appendicitis and was rushed to the hospital 
for immediate surgery. I was on BW Thames sailing to 
Sikka. To my good luck, the shore team arranged for a 
captain to replace me. I did not tell my wife I was coming. 
I was able to sign off and take a direct flight to Dubai, 
arriving just as my son got out of surgery. I stayed with 
him for his recovery and flew back with them to India. 
Upon arrival in India, my parents met us, and I flew 
back to the ship! I am very grateful that I was able to 
be there for them.

What could Hafnia do better for our seafarers?
The crew welfare is pretty great, especially in response 
to Covid-19 – daily updates, increased data access, im-
proved healthcare have been very helpful for all of us. One 
area where we could improve is the frequency of train-
ing courses for officers, both junior and senior. We used 
to have more regular leadership development training 
in Mumbai, Singapore and Manila. I found this played a 
significant role in grooming people effectively. The hard 
skills are exceptional across the fleet, but we can always 

benefit from more attention towards improving our soft 
skills. Similar to our safety culture, these soft skills should 
be unconsciously incorporated into our decision-making.

How did Covid-19 affect your life at sea and ashore? 
It was initially very difficult, mostly because the ports 
didn’t know how to handle the situation. Even when they 
had guidance, it took them a while to follow it. I don’t 
think people realised how serious the situation was for 
a while. When I signed onto BW Columbia in the middle of 
January 2020, I had no idea what Covid-19 was. Nobody 
was wearing masks. 

Fortunately, my wife was able to be with her sister and 
parents during the lockdown in India. This made my being 
stuck at sea a lot easier on me. It was still difficult, though. 
One of my bosuns had kidney issues and needed to get 
off. Everybody tried (office, manning, etc.), but borders 
were closed. We needed to go to Djibouti because no one 
else would accept us. I don’t blame the other countries, 
because they didn’t understand the situation at that time. 
The guys on board were among the safest in the world, but 
their presence there was taken for granted. The medical 
conditions should have granted them special permissions. 
It’s not like you’re just asking to get off the ship just be-
cause you want to. You need to get off the ship!

How did you handle crew complaints and concerns? 
What were common thoughts? 
One word: depression. If someone was finishing nine 
months in January, then extended to August - that’s 17 
months! That’s really challenging. Junior and senior of-
ficers were more manageable because their contracts 
are shorter and they were privy to more information 
that helped them understand the situation. Keeping in-

Life at sea during Covid-19 – A glimpse into the  
impact on seafarers and their families
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formation flow open was vital. Depression sets in when 
you’re scared for your life and thinking about your fam-
ily. The easiest way to prevent this was to keep the crew 
engaged. It was essential not to let people be alone with 
their thoughts for too long.

The Hafnia wellness program was also quite helpful to 
us. The beginning of the pandemic was hard period. But 
once everyone realised the new normal, they saw the 
need to take care of their wellness. Our ship followed the 
program, and everyone was receptive as most people 
found it helpful.

Swapnil Roy, Wife of Captain Roy
We also had the privilege of speaking with Swapnil, Cap-
tain Roy’s wife, about her experience being the spouse 
of a seafarer and how their family was impacted by 
Covid-19 and the crew change crisis.

Tell us a little about yourself
I’m a mechanical engineer and did an MBA. After having 
children, I quit my job to be a full-time mother.

I was school friends with Somen. I knew him for 15 
years before getting married. He got into his merchant 
navy college, then went to Glasgow. We have been mar-
ried for 14 years now.

What is it like to be married to a seafarer?
We’re both very positive people. We enjoy our freedom 
and time together when we can. I married him knowing 
he was in this profession. I like being independent, so 
it’s okay for me, but the kids do miss him a lot. After 2-3 
months, they start asking “When will Papa come?” I have 

to appease them by saying that we’ll do X, Y and Z when 
Papa comes back.

I’ve sailed with him 4-5 times. My experience was great 
each time. The first time there were three other families 
there. We became excellent friends and visited ports 
that were great to disembark at and explore. Since 
having kids, I’ve sailed only once. I wanted the kids to 
see where and what their father is doing all the time. It 
was definitely a good experience for them to know more 
about their father’s work.

For me, it’s a good way of life. For many others, it might 
not be suitable.

Is it hard to have him away from home for so long?
I’m okay with his career demands. It’s not a new thing. 
When he stays home for more 3-4 months, it becomes 
difficult! I tell him, “You’re acting like a captain at home. 
That is not allowed here. Please go back to sea and be 
your ship’s captain!”

How did Covid-19 affect you as a family?
I’ve known him since he was a cadet, when he used to 
sail for much more extended periods. So I knew that’s 
part of the job. This time, I was aware that many other 
people’s situations were a lot worse. So that made it 
easier. Plus, I was lucky to get stuck with my family – I 
was supposed to be with them for ten days, but that 
turned into four months. Plus I knew my husband was 
safe from the virus at sea. That being said, I told him not 
to blame me if I didn’t recognise him!

P. 33
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P. 34 5.5		 Leadership training
Hafnia’s ‘Ambitious Leadership Programme’ was introduced in 2020. All lead-
ers with direct reporting lines joined a three-hour kick-off session with the 
management team where our CEO set the scene for the programme, its scope 
and purpose. The programme is structured to focus on developing leadership 
capabilities, enhancing value-based leadership through CARE (Collaboration, 
Ambitious, Reliable, Enduring), personal and team development. 

5.6		 Diversity strategy
In Hafnia, we believe that multicultural diversity and inclusion are a part of 
our CARE values resulting in engaged and motivated colleagues leading to 
higher retention, creativity, innovation and performance. Hafnia employees 
represent 19 countries, and 34% of our shore-based employees are female. 
Hafnia is committed to increased diversity within the shipping industry and 
has thus signed the ‘Charter for More Women in Shipping’. Our management 
and board understand that diversity initiatives are key to attracting the best 
talent. We engage employees at all levels of the organisation so that future 
leaders in the shipping industry have diverse role models to aspire towards.

By 2024 we aim to have female-identifying persons forming at least 40% of 
the organisation, including in key management positions. 

In the fall of 2020, Hafnia, BW Group, and Shell collaborated to run a first-
of-its-kind diversity innovation programme called ‘Women in Maritime Lab’.

The programme aimed to scout innovative ideas 
from people of all genders on the challenges faced 
by women in the maritime industry – both at sea 
and ashore. Teams were shortlisted to participate 
in a virtual innovation sprint after submitting their 
proposals online.

We received 56 proposals from teams represent-
ing 18 companies and schools from all around the 
world. Seven teams were selected to participate in 
the hackathon. A panel of judges selected the win-

ning proposal. The winning team was “Seacode”, a team comprising seafarers 
from Turkey and onshore staff from Shell. Their idea, an anti-harassment app, 
will be further developed, tested and prototyped by Hafnia, BW LNG and Shell.

Our management
and board understand 
that diversity initiatives 
are key to attracting  
the best talent and  
engaging employees  
as role models at all  
levels of the organisation
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Security at sea
The safety and security of ships, cargo and personnel is critically 
important to the timely flow of goods and commerce worldwide. Com-
mon security threats facing our fleet are piracy, land mines and petty 
thieves. Hafnia’s vessels are equipped with a security alert button 
on board that can be quickly pressed in the event of a security situ-
ation, automatically notifying our entire security team and flag state 
representatives via phone and email. Our security team then starts 
coordinating with the Captain to solve the problem.

There are certain high-risk areas in which our vessels transit where 
the threats are elevated. These include the Gulf of Guinea, the Per-
sian Gulf, and the Gulf of Aden. Our vessels implement extra security 
measures when entering and sailing through these areas. Below we 
present a brief overview of what we do to keep our seafarers and 
ships safe in high-risk areas.

Security measures for high-risk areas:

•	� Weekly surprise drills – We test our crews’ response time to get to 
the safe haven (designated area for crew to be protected from pirates 
trying to gain entry).

•	� More frequent hull inspections – We use cameras to check our 
ships’ hulls for underwater mines before sailing.

•	� Physical fortification of ships – Prior to entering high-risk areas 
we take two days to line the vessel with steel mesh, double layers 
of barbed razor wire, and anti-boarding and anti-climbing barriers.

•	� Higher speeds – The moment we see a boat increasing its speed 
towards us, we increase our speed. These small boats will run out 
of fuel trying to chase us. They then have to stop to refill, at which 
point we will lose them.

•	� Outmanoeuvring – We also are prepared to manoeuvre to make 
more waves, making it more difficult for boats to come aside. When 
this is combined with fortification efforts, it becomes very difficult 
for pirates to board.

•	� Armed escorts – We coordinate with local navies for escorts in and 
out of ports in the Gulf of Guinea. 

Case study: BW Rhine
The BW Rhine (Singapore-flagged LR1 Product tanker built-in 2008) 
was hit by a remote controlled skiff carrying explosives whilst dis-
charging at Jeddah, Saudi Arabia at approximately 00:40 local time 
on 14 December 2020, causing an explosion and subsequent fire on-
board. The Master immediately ceased all discharge operations and 
enacted emergency procedures onboard. The crew extinguished the 
fire with assistance from the shore fire brigade and tug boats, and all 
22 seafarers were accounted for with no injuries. 

This is an example of a situation that we could not prevent. But we can 
control how we respond if something like this happens, and that’s pre-
cisely why the crew was able to handle the situation – they had been 
trained to react to situations exactly like this. The Master devised a 
plan focused on protecting the accommodation block from catching 
on fire. If it had ignited, there would have been multiple sources of 
ignition (instead of just an oil fire, there would have been an electrical 
fire and the likely ignition of combustible material) which would have 
quickly spun out of control. 

Hafnia is immensely grateful for the extraordinarily heroic efforts of 
the crew and emergency response team during the attack in Jeddah. 
Their dedication, courage and determination during the entire incident 
will be an integral part of the Hafnia story.



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 36 Hafnia believes in …

Workforce Diversity

We believe in creating an inclusive work 
environment and culture where differences 

are celebrated, and cross-cultural best 
practices are developed

How we strive to realise our belief:
Hafnia is a proud participant of the Charter for 

More Women in Shipping, an initiative organised 
by Danish Shipping to encourage more women to 

join the shipping industry. The “Taskforce for More 
Women at Sea” has also put together ten recom-
mendations that aim to help attract new women 

and to retain those who are already working in the 
industry. As a signee to the Charter, Hafnia has 
committed to establishing goals for the number 
of women in our employment and to drawing up 

concrete actions that they will undertake to reach 
these goals

Recruited 13 women across Hafnia offices

Diversifying in nationality and class by selecting 
cadets from China, India, Philippines and Romania

Ensuring equal workplace environment for exist-
ing female employees (10 in in-house fleet vessels, 

12 in external fleet, 34% of shore-based staff)

Organised Women in Maritime Lab, an innovation 
program to tackle challenges faced by women in 

maritime
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Employee Wellness

We believe in continuously improving the 
physical and mental health of our staff at 

sea and on shore

How we strive to realise our belief:
Hafnia Wellness Program – An initiative to promote 
the physical, emotional, mental and social wellbeing 

of our staff

All vessels complete 52-week workbooks with activi-
ties that foster good mental and physical health, with 

seafarers rewarded by prizes for participation

Mental health helpline provided to  
seafarers

Customer Relations

We believe in building trust with customers so that we can be 
relied upon whenever they need us

How we strive to realise our belief:
Continued fast and accurate responses to customer queries

Zero negative external feedback on poor customer service

Customer appreciation events

Virtual Pool Board meetings and technical committee meetings

Ensuring optimal availability of vessels for our customers

Zero delay in planned dry dockings

Zero Port State detention

Zero delay in planned maintenance onboard vessel

≤ 4 SIRE inspection observations per vessel

Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery

We believe in eliminating corruption and 
bribery faced by the maritime industry

How we strive to realise our belief:
Hafnia opposes all forms of corruption and is a mem-
ber of the Maritime Anti-Corruption Network (MACN), 
a global business network working towards the vision 
of a maritime industry free of corruption that enables 

fair trade to the benefit of society at large

Zero facilitation payments in 2020

Roundtable meeting between BW companies to share 
learnings and refine strategy

Global communication to commemorate UN  
Anti-Corruption Day

Culture and Values

We believe in making Hafnia one of the best 
places to work, where we treat each other 

with respect and work together to deliver the 
industry of tomorrow

How we strive to realise our belief:
Town Hall Meetings reinforcing Hafnia Values and 

Culture

Line managers reinforcing Culture and Values

Care packages sent out to office staff during  
Covid-19 lockdowns 

Monthly celebration and engagement organised to 
ensure continuous interaction given the changes in 

work arrangements 

Year-end celebrations organised in countries  
where allowed

Talent Development and Retention

We believe in finding and developing people who will thrive within the  
Hafnia culture and push the business to greater heights

How we strive to realise our belief:
Invest in the continuous development of employees to learn new skills

Support maritime universities by employing their trained cadets

Project to enhance workplace for women in maritime

Support for women taking up maritime education

Promoting from within: 17 Promotions within Hafnia Shore side; 152 Promotions on 
the Seafarers Side

Ambitious Leadership programme launched for leaders with direct reports

Sponsorship of courses to employees for personal and career development 
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The product 
tanker 
market

06
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The charter market is highly competitive and based 
primarily on the offered charter rate, the vessel’s 
location and technical specification, and the repu-
tation of the vessel and its manager.

As this simplified tanker market overview shows, the 
charter rates and product tanker capacities depend 
on several factors:
•	 Number of new tanker vessels delivered, under-

going repairs, and the number of vessels being 
scrapped

•	 Refinery throughput 
•	 Prices of oil, oil products and bunker
•	 Environmental regulations
•	 Geopolitics 

Crude tankers transport crude oil from points of pro-
duction to oil refineries or storage locations. Product 
tankers can carry both refined and unrefined petro-
leum products, including crude oil, fuel oil, vacuum 
gas oil (dirty products), and gas oil, gasoline, jet fuel, 
kerosene and naphtha (clean products).

Freight rates for product tankers trading under spot 
charters are susceptible to fluctuating demand and 
supply of vessels, and rates are consequently volatile. 
Rates are also strongly affected by seasonal fluctu-
ations in demand from end consumers. While trends 
in the product tanker market are heavily impacted by 
product tanker supply and demand trends, market 
conditions have also correlated with crude oil tanker 

market developments, reflecting that crude and prod-
uct tankers have the potential to act as ‘swing tonnage’ 
between the dirty and clean markets. 

In 2020, the average product flow transported at sea 
was approximately 20 million barrels per day, down 
from 22.4 million barrels in 2019. There was a similar 
reduction in average crude flow of 37.2 million barrels 
per day in 2020, down from 40.3 million barrels in 2019.

2020 Summary
The product tanker market experienced an extraor-
dinary 2020, with record highs and near record lows 
achieved due to disruptions from the Covid-19 pan-
demic. In the first half of 2020, disruptions to the oil 

Is cyclical and volatile. Changes in the global supply and demand for tanker 
capacity, and for oil and oil products, result in fluctuations in achievable 
freight rates.

The product tanker market



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 41

sector led to unprecedented demand for tanker floating 
storage, whilst significant discharge delays and logis-
tical issues exacerbated the impact, causing a market 
“super-spike” in earnings in April. 

According to Clarksons Research, average MR earn-
ings peaked at a record USD 74,000 per day in April, 
whilst LR2 earnings on the benchmark Ras Tanu-
ra-Chiba route spiked to USD 168,000 per day. Weight-
ed average earnings across product tanker markets 
hit a record of over USD 90,000 per day in late April 
and the first half of 2020 was the best half-year pe-
riod since 2008. This spike’s key driver was surplus 
oil supply as global oil demand plummeted amid ‘lock-
downs’ worldwide, which in early April affected c.40% 
of the world’s population to varying degrees and led 
to a significant global decline in jet fuel, gasoline and 
diesel demand. A drop of c. 22 million barrels per day 
in y-o-y oil demand was estimated during “Black April”. 
Meanwhile, Saudi Arabia and Russia commenced an 
oil ‘price war’, and the concurrent flood of crude oil 
into global markets led to a collapse in prices and de-
velopment of a steep contango in oil futures. Land-
based storage filled rapidly and prompted a surge in 
demand to store oil at sea, significantly tightening fleet 
supply, with c.10% of the product tanker fleet in dwt 
terms absorbed at the peak in early May according to 
Clarksons Research data. 

The y-o-y contraction in global oil demand narrowed pro-
gressively beyond April, as ‘peak lockdown’ measures 
were relaxed and summer holiday periods in the North-

ern Hemisphere supported a rise in transport fuel de-
mand. However, towards the end of Q3, global Covid-19 
cases began to rise once more and numerous regions, 
mainly in the West, suffered from severe second waves 
in Q4, resulting in renewed “lockdown” measures which 
impacted the nascent recovery in global mobility and 
economic growth. The deficit in global oil demand relative 
to the same period in 2019 is estimated to have widened 
from c. 6 million barrels per day in September-October to 
c. 7 million barrels per day in December. Overall, global 
oil demand is estimated to have contracted by 8.8% y-o-y 
in 2020 to 91.4 million barrels per day. Nonetheless, 
China remained one bright spot, with Chinese oil demand 
registering y-o-y growth in the second half of 2020 and 
falling by just 0.5% in the full year, compared to estimated 
falls of c.12% in US and European oil demand.

Alongside the downturn in global oil demand, sea-
borne oil products trade came under considerable 
pressure, falling by 18% y-o-y across Q2 2020 (peak 
impact of -27% y-o-y in May) according to Clarksons 
Research estimates. Downward pressure stemmed 
from sharp declines in global refinery runs and high 
regional inventories owing to the impacts from Cov-
id-19 on oil demand. International Energy Agency 
(IEA) data suggests that global refinery throughput 
fell by c.15% y-o-y across Q2 to less than 70 million 
barrels per day as utilisation rates were cut and ca-
pacity was taken offline. Imports of oil products into 
all regions came under pressure as demand dropped, 
whilst traditional major products exporters faced 
headwinds from lower refinery runs and the soft ex-

ternal demand. Overall, global seaborne oil products 
trade is estimated to have fallen by 11.2% in 2020. 

The downturn in oil trade and gradual unwinding of 
floating storage led to product tanker earnings easing 
back from April-May’s highs. According to Clarksons 
Research data, by end 2020, the share of product 
tanker fleet capacity engaged in floating storage had 
dropped to c. 3% and earnings in all sectors reached 
near record lows at points across Q4 2020. In Novem-
ber, clean MR and Handy spot earnings averaged c. USD 
5,300 per day and c. USD 1,200 per day respectively, 
the second-lowest monthly average on record in both 
sectors. Nonetheless, in the full year 2020, the impact 
of floating storage is estimated to have limited growth in 
the trading product tanker fleet to just 0.2%, compared 
to growth of 2.4% in total capacity (10k+ dwt).

The product tanker market has remained weak into 
early 2021, as cargo volumes remain low, with refinery 
throughput estimated to have remained 5-6% lower 
y-o-y in January and 7% below January 2019 levels. 
Spot earnings eased back from the moderate improve-
ments that had materialised in December, and in the LR2 
market, earnings on the Ras Tanura-Chiba route fell to 
a four-year low of USD 4,055 per day in late January, 
having reached almost USD 18,000 per day in mid-De-
cember. Meanwhile, clean MR earnings remained rela-
tively steady at weak levels, having varied within a band 
of USD 4-8,000 per day since early September.
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Major seaborne oil products trade routes 2020

North 
America 
1.6m bpd

Latin
America 
2.1m bpd

Europe
5.7m bpd

Asia
8.7m bpd

Far East-N. America 
0.1m bpd

U.S.-WCSA 0.4m bpd

U.S.-Caribs 1.2m bpd

U.S.-UKC 0.3m bpd

U.S.-ECSA 0.4m bpd

UKC-WAF 0.4m bpd

MEG-Europe 0.4m bpd

UKC-U.S. 0.3m bpd

UKC-UKC 1.6m bpd

MEG-Far East 1.4m bpd

India-Far East 0.4m bpd

India-Europe 0.2m bpd

Med-Med 0.7m bpd

Baltic-UKC 1.1m bpd

Far East-Far East 
3.3m bpd

U.S.-Far East 0.3m bpd

Africa
1.4m bpd

Source: Clarksons Research, January 2020

ECSA: East Coast South America
MED: Mediterranean Sea
MEG: Middle East Gulf
UKC: United Kingdom to Continent Range
WAF: West Africa
WCSA: West Coast of South America
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P. 432021 Outlook
The outlook for the product tanker sector in the first half of 2021 appears challenging, 
with Covid-19, inventories and lack of consumption expected to continue to weigh on 
market conditions. Against a backdrop of ongoing negative impacts on oil demand from 
renewed “lockdowns” in key regions and a resultant pressure on refinery throughput, 
seaborne oil products trade currently remains subdued. In the first half of 2021, 
market pressure is further expected from the continued easing in floating storage, 
on top of the underlying global fleet expansion of 2.0% in the product tanker sector. 
However, the latest trade projections suggest a bounce-back in seaborne products 
trade in the second half of 2021 as oil demand recovers while inventories return to 
normal. Combined with a rebound in demand, seasonal uplift is expected towards 
the end of the year. A potential logistical disruption also exists as storage unwinds, 
whilst inefficiencies from port delays, repositioning, and reactivation could also cause 
“windows” of rate improvement.

Although Covid-19 vaccination programmes have bolstered hopes of improved oil 
demand levels later in 2021, there remains major uncertainty in the outlook, with 
concerns of new Covid-19 variants and continued high case numbers in some regions.

According to Clarksons Research, global oil demand is projected to rebound by c. 6% 
in 2021 to 97.1 million barrels per day (following a sharp decline of 8.8% in 2020), 
with improving economic activity and easing of mobility restrictions relative to 2020 
(aided by the rollout of vaccines across major regions) projected to provide support, 
particularly to gasoline and diesel demand. According to IEA, oil demand in the fourth 
quarter of 2021 is expected to be 99.2 million barrels against 100.6 million barrels 
in the last part of 2019. 

Refinery throughput at the start of 2021 will be well below the pre-Covid-19 levels 
but is expected to catch-up from the middle of the year as oil demand recovers. IEA 
currently forecasts the bounce-back in global refinery throughput in 2021 at an 
average of c. 6% y-o-y following a decline of 12% in 2020. In the first half of 2021, 
European throughput is projected to remain under pressure as refiners continue to 
struggle with weak margins. These margins are likely to remain low until inventories 
are drawn down, oil demand recovery in the region picks up pace, and significant 
volumes of capacity remain offline either temporarily or permanently. Around 1.2 
million barrels per day of global refinery capacity was closed, mothballed or con-
verted in 2020 (not including capacity temporarily offline due to impacts of Covid-19), 
with an additional 0.7 million barrels per day announced for 2021 (potentially rising 
to over 1.0 million barrels per day). Whilst new export-oriented capacity is slated to 
start up this year and next, this is likely to exacerbate the existing surplus of refining 
capacity. This would force inefficient refineries near to consumption areas to close 
down, thereby improving tonne-mile demand.
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P. 44 In line with improving oil demand and refinery runs, seaborne products trade is ex-
pected to see improvement in 2021, with volumes growing by 6% y-o-y following the 
disruption in 2020. The seaborne volumes are expected to grow as oil demand and 
refinery runs improve throughout the year. However, trade volumes are projected to 
remain below 2019 levels with the expectation that impacts from Covid-19 on demand 
and trade in some fuels (e.g. jet) will take time to ease. However, total product tanker 
tonne-mile trade is in 2021 projected to exceed growth in terms of tonnes, expanding 
by c. 7%, partly as disruption to trade flows continues to raise average haul. 

Vessel prices
Product tanker asset values have also fluctuated over time, together with fluctuations 
in the charter market. The significant fall in newbuild prices between 2008 and 2010 
can primarily be seen as the result of lower global contracting activity. Newbuild 
prices have not recovered, at least as of January 2021. Prices increased in 2013-14, 
softened across 2015-16 and rose again between mid-2017 and September 2019, 
reaching USD 36.5 million for an MR vessel, but this price is still below the mid-2008 
level of USD 53.5 million. Due to low ordering activity, 2021 then saw a softening of 
the price to USD 34 million at the end of January 2021. 

Trends in refining capacity
Trends in refinery capacity and throughput levels are also a key driver of seaborne 
products trade patterns. At the end of 2020, global refinery capacity totalled an 
estimated 102 million barrels per day. Over a third of this capacity is located in Asia, 
and significant capacity is also located in the US and Europe. 

Global refinery capacity has expanded steadily over time in order to meet the con-
tinued growth in consumption of oil products and has expanded by over 9 million 
barrels per day since 2010. Refinery capacity additions in Asia, particularly China, 
have been a key driver of this expansion, with China adding 4.3 million barrels per 
day of capacity in this period. Growth in Middle Eastern refinery capacity has also 
been a key driver of expansion in the global refining industry, with the construction 
of large-scale export-oriented plants such as YASREF and Jubail in Saudi Arabia, 
which have supported long-haul products trade to Asia and Europe. Meanwhile, 
the refining industries in Europe, Japan and Australia have contracted as outdated 
capacity has been closed.

 

Further expansion is also projected in China, in particular in the independent refining 
sector. The product trade is expected to see new long-range trading patterns as 1.3 
million barrels per day of export-oriented refinery capacity comes on stream in the 
Middle East in 2020. This is likely to lengthen tonne-miles for the product market.

Supply and demand
Demand for oil tankers is determined by world oil demand and trade, as well as the 
location and accessibility of oil products supply relative to the principal locations 
for discharging such cargoes. The metric of tonne-miles is often used as a proxy 
for oil tanker demand and is a product of (a) the amount of cargo transported in 
tankers, multiplied by (b) the distance across which cargo is transported. Macroe-
conomic forces, both globally and regionally, significantly impact world oil products 
consumption and, consequently, the volume of oil products transported by sea. The 
average distance of sea transportation of oil products is affected by trading patterns, 
which are determined by a combination of economic and geographic factors, refinery 
developments, regional products imbalances, seasonal variations, oil price trends 
and differentials in oil products prices between regions, environmental influences, 
exceptional climatic conditions and geopolitical events.

North America Western Europe Middle East Asia Pacific & ISC Latin America & Africa

Regional fefinery capacity growth

Source: Clarksons Research, January 2021
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P. 45Daily oil demand increased from approximately 88.6 million barrels per day in 2010 
to 100.3 million barrels per day in 2019, driven by increasing world population, global 
economic expansion and rising oil consumption in the transportation industries of 
developing countries. The developing world has thus been a key driver of continued 
growth in global oil consumption. That said, Covid-19 has at least temporarily disrupt-
ed the continued growth across the last decade, with global oil demand dropping to 
91.4 million barrels in 2020. To contextualise the scale of the 2020 drop in oil demand, 
we can compare the drop against the recorded reduction in oil consumption following 
the financial crises in 2008-09, which was 1.5 million barrels y-o-y.

Estimated global oil supply and demand

Source: Clarkson Research, Industry Sources, January 2021
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Change vs 2019y-o-y change

Global oil consumption Crude oil tonne-miles Oil product tonne-miles

2021 / 2022 Forecast:
Oil consumption: 2.1% / 3.6%

Crude oil tonne-miles: 6.9% / 5.5%
Oil product tonne-miles: -7.1% / 6.8%

CAGRs 2015 – 2020
Oil consumption: 1.5%
Crude oil tonne-miles: 1.8%

World seaborne oil and total consumption growth

Source: Clarkson Research, January 2021

10%

5%

0%

-5%

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 (e) 2021 (f) 2022 (f)

Oil product tonne-miles: -1.3%

-10%

-15%

Fleet growth

Product tanker supply and demand

Source: Clarkson Research, January 2021

y-o-y-change

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 (e) 2021 (f) 2022 (f)

Tonne-mile growth

-12%

-10%

-8%

-6%

-4%

-2%

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

Key statistics comparing supply and demand growth in global oil and in the product 
tanker industry have been provided in the graphs on this page.



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 46

Product tanker fleet
CAGR (2015 – 2020): 4.5%

Crude tanker fleet
CAGR (2015 – 2020): 4.2%

Crude and product tanker fleet development

Source: Clarkson Research, January 2021

Crude tanker

Product tanker 

Product tanker
fleet growth

700

10%

12%

14%

16%

18%

20%

600

8%

500

6%

400

4%

300

2%

200

100

2
0

0
1

2
0

0
2

2
0

0
3

2
0

0
4

2
0

0
5

2
0

0
6

2
0

0
7

2
0

0
8

2
0

0
9

2
0

1
0

2
0

1
1

2
0

1
2

2
0

1
3

2
0

1
4

2
0

1
5

2
0

1
6

2
0

1
7

2
0

1
8

2
0

1
9

2
0

2
0

2
0

2
1

(f
)

2
0

2
2

 (f
)0 0%

million dwt, end year

Deliveries Demolitions

Product tanker (10,000 dwt+) fleet changes

Source: Clarkson Research, January 2021

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 20202019 2022 (f)
-5

0

5

10

15

20 30.0

25.0

20.0

15.0

million dwt Age (Years)

2021 (f)

Average demolition age (RHS)

Tanker supply is determined by the size of the existing fleet as measured by cargo 
carrying capacity. It is influenced by a variety of factors, primarily the size of the 
existing fleet and ship size, the rate of deliveries of newbuilds, scrapping, and other 
operating efficiency factors affecting the number of ships available for charter (for 
example, storage, time in port, and congestion and vessel speed):

The fleet of product tankers increases as a result of the construction and delivery 
of newbuilds to the fleet and decreases as a result of vessel loss or the removal of 
older vessels by demolition or other means. Permanent removal of a vessel can occur 
within a relatively short timeframe, typically within three months. However, the con-
struction of a newbuild products tanker typically requires between 18 months and 
three years from contract signing to delivery of the vessel by the shipyard, depending 
on the schedule of the relevant shipyard’s order book. Today’s supply-side dynamics 
are occurring against a backdrop of more limited global shipbuilding capacity than 
in the late 2000s, as well as limited availability of ship finance. 

Elsewhere, the product tanker order book reached a historic low of 6.8% of the fleet 
(in dwt) at the start of 2021, suggesting a corresponding period of lower fleet growth 
from 2022. Meanwhile, an accelerating green transition and the IMO’s timeline for 
regulations related to ship emissions have led to many initiatives such as the Sea 
Cargo Charter. In addition, the uncertainty surrounding green propulsion technology 
has also had a limiting factor on newbuilding activity and expected scrapping in 2021 
and 2022 should limit the net fleet growth to 2.3%.
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In pursuit of our vision to be ‘Best on Water’, Hafnia is committed to adapting to the 
constantly changing conditions while continuing to deliver energy to sustain the world. 

Hafnia has implemented clear and effective measures that solidify our firm commit-
ments to provide safe, sustainable and efficient hydrocarbon transportation solutions 
and to participate in global efforts combatting climate change.

Besides working to reduce our emissions to air and sea, Hafnia also strives to meet 
our social obligations for sustainable development. By providing hydrocarbon trans-
portation solutions, Hafnia is contributing and helping people to meet basic standards 
of living across the globe. Hydrocarbons run our planes, trains and automobiles. 
They power our homes and are used to make the roads that connect our cities. From 
clothes to cleaning products, packaging and pharmaceuticals – our world is currently 
run on hydrocarbons. Affordable energy facilitates better living conditions for many 
around the world, especially when we can deliver it in a safe and responsible fashion. 

As a leading shipping company, Hafnia sees social and environmental benefit as 
responsibilities. We take all of these responsibilities seriously, and are doing all we 
can to deliver cargoes with the lowest possible footprint.

Environmental 
actions, 
measures  
and progress

Products
transportation

Terminalling
& distribution

Environmental and 
social benefit

Fuel oil
Diesels
Gasolines
Jet fuel
Chemicals

Outputs
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Fleet emissions and efficiency metrics Unit 2019 2020

Number of vessels included in emission  
computation for the year

89 89

Fuel use and resulting emissions

HSHFO Metric ton 383,202 20,451

VLSFO Metric ton 24,066 362,816

LSMGO Metric ton 81,128 86,652

CO2 Metric ton 1,529,223 1,484,724

NOx Metric ton 79,586 77,724

SOx Metric ton 21,095 4,906

Distance sailed in nautical mile NM 4,594,384 4,549,692

CO2 emission in grams per ton nautical mile 
(Based on capacity work) gms/T NM 5.83 5.70

Please note: For SOx calculation (S%), average 2.7% S for HFO, 0.5% S for LSHFO & 0.1% S for MGO is used. For NOx calculation, 14.4 
g/kwh is used. Kwh is computed from Specific energy. HFO: 40,400 MJ/Kg, LSHFO: 41,200 MJ/Kg, MGO: 42,200 MJ/Kg was used.
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P. 50 Hafnia is contributing towards the shipping industry’s 
efforts to reduce environmental impact. As a member 
of the Getting to Zero Coalition, Hafnia is committed to 
challenging the industry of today to deliver the industry 
of tomorrow. 

This is done via:
�•	� Collaboration with shipyards, charterers, bunker 

suppliers, and regulatory bodies
•	� Decarbonisation – towards full compliance with 

IMO 2030 requirements
•	� Vessel optimisation initiatives
•	�� Implementation of a clear sustainability strategy

�The above focus areas are described in further detail in 
the following pages.
 

7.1		 Constant collaboration with  
		  stakeholders to ensure progress in  
		  sustainability

In order to ensure we are on the right track 
in a fast-moving world, we make it a point to 
engage with all of our stakeholders continu-
ally. Regular dialogue with employees, crew, 
customers, investors, bank partners, industry 
groups, governments, regulators, suppliers 
and third-party providers through formal and 
informal channels is essential to the way Haf-
nia develops its approach to sustainability.

Through systematic, consistent and inten-
tional communication with its stakeholders, 
Hafnia keeps its stakeholders updated and 
assured of its commitments and actions for 
sustainability. This is because we believe 
our stakeholders are essential partners in 
safekeeping our natural environment. For 
example, meaningful decarbonisation will re-
quire us to work in concert with shipyards, 

charterers, bunker suppliers, and regulatory 
bodies. 

Therefore, be it through one-on-one meetings, 
board meetings, conferences and press re-
leases, social media or media coverage, we 
openly share and discuss with our stakehold-
ers our business performance and sustaina-
bility approach.

7.2		 Decarbonisation 
Hafnia believes our sustainability journey 
starts with decarbonisation. We strive to sup-
port and promote industry decarbonisation 
while still transporting the resources neces-
sary to sustain the modern world. 

Hafnia has achieved some significant mile-
stones in our work to reduce overall emissions 

and improve vessel efficiency through years 
of investment in emissions reduction meas-
ures and by continuously optimising vessel 
operations. We are in full compliance with the 
IMO 2020 regulations on sulphur emissions, 
and we are on track to meet the IMO’s GHG 
reduction goals of reducing carbon intensity by 
40% and total annual GHG emissions by 50% by 
2030, with 2008 levels as the baseline.

In 2020, across Hafnia’s owned fleet, our car-
bon intensity as measured by Annual Efficiency 
Ratio (“AER”) was 5.70 gms/T NM, 5.6% below 
the present IMO baseline. We have set a goal 
to reach IMO 2030’s target by 2028, by reduc-
ing our current fleet’s carbon intensity to 4.47 
gms/T NM. Standard vessel optimisation efforts 
will be supplemented with additional initiatives 
such as intermittent dry dockings and opportun-
istic fleet renewals to reach our goal.
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P. 51It is also essential to understand the components that comprise the carbon 
intensity metrics to better understand what we can do to improve, and how 
we have improved year-on-year. 

In 2020, Hafnia’s owned vessels carried out 13,917,198,441 T NM more 
transport work than 2019. Despite this they consumed 18,476 MT less fuel, 
emitted 44,498 MT less CO2, and the Energy Efficiency Operational Index 
(EEOI) improved by 7.3 % compared to 2019.

One of the pillars supporting our efforts to 
decarbonise is our fleet renewal program 
focusing on investments in modern and more 
eco-friendly vessels.

We are constantly looking to improve our exist-
ing vessels through smaller but impactful op-
timisation measures that improve operational 
efficiency and reduce environmental footprint.
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7.3		 Environmental vessel 
		  optimisation initiatives

In 2020, we have focused on upgrading our 
fleet and optimising efficiency in order to in-
cease performance and reduce environmental 
footprint. This has been done in a number of 
ways, including:

 •	 Mewis Duct fitting before propellers, 
 •	 Variable frequency drive for big fans,  
	 pumps and steering gear,
 •	 Propeller boss cap fins, 
 •	 Twisted leading edge rubber bulb,
 •	 Increased propeller diameter,
 •	 Waste heat recovery unit for generators,
 •	 Fixed online PMI system for optimising  
	 main engine fuel consumption,
 •	� Advanced and hydro-dynamic hull 

designs through computational fluid 
dynamics optimisation,

 •	 Ballast water treatment systems,
 •	 Grey water modification, and
 •	 Advanced hull anti-fouling paint.
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P. 52 Many of these measures can only be intro-
duced while a vessel is in dry dock. Hafnia dry 
docks its vessels every five years with interme-
diate surveys taking place in between – which 
allows us to provide well-maintained vessels 
for our customers. Dry docking is an essen-
tial part of fleet management. The dry docking 
process involves taking a vessel out of service 
in the pools, and sailing it to a shipyard where 
it will be taken out of the water. Vessels are 
also given fresh coats of paint, including an 
anti-fouling layer, which helps reduce friction, 
allowing the ship to move faster through the 
water and improving its durability.

	 a. 	 Case study: Fuel optimisation 
		  - BW Kronborg

In 2019, BW Kronborg was flagged as an 
“under-performing” vessel in Hafnia’s perfor-
mance monitoring systems. BW Kronborg was 
built 14 years ago, and it had been about three 
years since her last dry dock. Her hull was 
fouled as the anti-fouling paint was destroyed, 
which caused excessive fuel consumption 
compared to peers, at a rate of approximately 
50 MT/day when laden, and 38 MT/day in bal-
last at 12 knots. As a result, she was scheduled 
to undergo intermediate dry docking.

Since leaving the dry dock, the vessel is operating 
close to 98% of her newbuild potential. As a result 
of this, the vessel will consume approximately 
782 MT less fuel per year - preventing roughly 
2,466 MT of CO2 and 7,826 kg of SOx emissions.
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	 b. 	 Case study: Fuel optimisation 
		  - Hafnia Pegasus

Eight of our older (built ~2010) MR product 
tankers from Guangzhou Shipyard Internation-
al (GSI) have performed relatively poorly. We 
have made many adjustments to improve their 
performance, including introducing very high 
specification anti-fouling paints and vibration 
compensators during their 5-year dry dock-
ing. The vessels are now reaching their second 
special dry dockings, starting with the Hafnia 
Pegasus – which was completed in Q4 2020. As 
there is still room to improve performance, we 
are making another concerted effort to ensure 
we’ve explored and implemented all possible 
adjustments. The adjustment we are most opti-
mistic about is the installation of a Mewis Duct. 

A Mewis Duct consists of two strong fixed ele-
ments mounted on the vessel: a duct positioned 
in front of the propeller along with an integrat-
ed fin system. The duct straightens and accel-

erates the hull wake into the propeller and also 
produces a net forward thrust. The fin system 
provides a pre-swirl to the ship wake which 
reduces losses in the propeller slipstream, 
resulting in an increase in propeller thrust at 
a given propulsive power.

Hafnia Pegasus’ performance has improved 
significantly since the recent dry docking. As 
it stands now, she is performing at 103% of 
the speed she had as a new building. Her fuel 
consumption at 12.5 knots is 2.4 MT and 1.8 
MT less than new building condition in laden 
and ballast, respectively. This results in annual 
CO2 savings of 739 MT.

Assuming these results prove to be significant 
over time, we plan to apply this to the other sev-
en older vessels, as well as any other vessels 
that face performance issues in the future. 
The environmental and economic benefits are 
clear.
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P. 55	 c. 	 Case study: Investing in modern tonnage 
		  - Hafnia orders two LNG-powered vessels 

A new measure in Hafnia’s efforts to com-
bat climate change is the order of two Afra-
max-type LR2 vessels equipped with Liquified 
Natural Gas (LNG) propulsion in October 2020. 

The vessels are being built by Guangzhou Ship-
yard International (GSI) and will immediately 
be chartered by Total on long-term time char-
ters with fixed earnings upon delivery in 2023. 
These dual-fuel vessels were meticulously de-
signed to encapsulate the traits we believe are 
necessary for ships of the future. 

Each tanker will be 250 metres long with 12 
cargo tanks, enabling a carrying capacity of 

110,000 deadweight tons (dwt) or 133,500 
cubic metres (m3). Featuring LNG fuel capac-
ity of 3,600 m3, the vessels will have a range 
of 13,500 nautical miles when sailing on LNG 
at 14.5 knots. 

LNG is widely regarded as the most promis-
ing marine fuel currently available, in terms 
of helping the shipping industry meet its goal 
to reduce its greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
by at least 50% by 2050. Compared to ships 
currently powered by traditional fuel oil, LNG 
used as a marine fuel typically results in 99% 
lower sulphur oxide emissions, 99% lower par-
ticulate matter emissions, 85% lower nitrogen 
oxide emissions, and 20% lower overall GHG 
emissions. 

The vessels are designed with the most efficient 
LNG propulsion technologies available. Not only 
will their GHG emissions be 5,000 tonnes per 
year lower than conventional tankers, but also 
approximately 30% lower when compared to 
standard dual-fuel LNG vessels – making them 
more than ready for Phase 3 Energy Efficiency 
Design Index (EEDI) requirements. While the 
vessels’ LNG propulsion systems are certainly 
their calling card, the tankers will be unique in 
many other ways. The high-pressure dual-fuel 
LNG engines incorporate a flexible design that 
not only ensures close to zero methane slip but 
also makes them adaptable to the zero-emis-
sion fuels of the future. The vessels will also 
come with a state-of-the-art fuel gas supply 
system that has full redundancy on all supply 
systems so that they can handle boil-off gas 
from the LNG tanks under any condition. The 
auxiliary engines for gensets and boilers will 
also be able to run on multiple fuel types.

Hafnia has based its sustainability goals on the 
United Nation’s Sustainable Development Goals, 
but it is clear that there are certain goals which 
a shipping company like ours has a greater in-
fluence on, such as Climate Action (Goal 13) 
which we have worked on through decarbon-
isation efforts and Life below Water (Goal 14), 
which we have worked on through ballast water 
treatment and waste management. 

Nonetheless, our commitment to sustainability 
is broad and spans a plethora of social, eco-
nomic and environmental factors. 

99%
Lower Sulphur Oxide
Emissions and particulate 
matter emissions

85%
Lower Nitrogen Oxide
Emissions

20%
Lower Overall GHG
Emissions

The use of LNG as a marine fuel typically results in
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P. 56 7.4		 Hafnia’s sustainability goals 
Outside of our focus on decarbonisation,  
Hafnia has many other objectives and initia-
tives aimed at increasing our contributions to 
sustainable development. We shaped a sus-
tainability strategy that recognises that our 
growth must balance social, economic and en-
vironmental sustainability – not only because 
these considerations are intertwined with our 
bottom line but also because that is what is 
best for society.

The figure on the right describes how our 
operations and strategy aligns with the sus-
tainable development goals.
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Hafnia believes in …
Security at Sea

We believe in protecting our crew and assets 
from risks in troubled times and waters

How we strive to realise our belief:
Fleet-wide initiatives to ensure the security of  

all our people in the face of piracy, especially in 
High-Risk Areas (HRAs)

Installation of ARX barriers onboard our vessels,  
to prevent pirates from latching on

Zero fatalities due to security incidents

Zero casualties due to security incidents

Zero days lost due to security incidents

Zero Harm as a firm target across training

Regulatory Compliance

We believe in full compliance with international 
maritime regulations and sanctions

How we strive to realise our belief:
2020 US VGP year end report uploaded  

successfully

2020 EU MRV and IMO DCS reports uploaded and 
complied

IHM – All vessels certified HKC and EUSRR

IMO Chemical code - All vessels certified

Zero non-compliance with relevant international 
sanctions

Ship Recycling

We believe in ensuring that all ship recycling 
is conducted in compliance with the Hong 

Kong Convention

How we strive to realise our belief:
Zero non-compliance with Hong Kong Convention

All ships certified for Hong Kong Convention  
and EU Ship Recycling Regulations

Reducing Plastic Waste 
& Garbage

We believe in ensuring clean seas and 
reducing plastic waste on board

How we strive to realise our belief:
Zero non-compliance with MARPOL Annex V  

(garbage) regulations

Reduced plastic waste by 1.3% below 2019 levels

Avoiding Pollution to Sea

We believe in protecting our oceans and seas 
from pollution arising from our operations

How we strive to realise our belief:
Zero spills to sea

Zero non-compliance with IMO Ballast Water. 
Management Convention

Zero non-compliance with MARPOL Annex I (oil),  
II (noxious liquid substances), and IV (sewage) 

regulations

Reducing Emissions to Air

We believe in reducing our environmental 
impact and complying with all global emissions 

regulations

How we strive to realise our belief:
In addition to our vessel optimisation measures

we’re actively participating in the Getting to Zero 

Coalition and Rainmaking’s innovation program

7.5
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P. 597.6		 Innovation
		  We believe in fostering a culture of innovation and creativity at Hafnia

A culture of innovation and creativity is crucial to fulfilling our environmental, 
social and economic sustainability goals, especially given our ambition and 
commitment to acting towards these goals.

We kicked off the Women in Maritime Lab innovation program and invited 
applications from all around the world to solve challenges faced by women 
in maritime. We received 56 ideas from teams comprising of an average of 
three participants. There were 18 global companies and schools represented 
in the program.

Hafnia has also partnered with Arq to accredit and introduce Arq Fuel as a 
key blend component for marine fuels, as part of their shared and ongoing 

commitment to decarbonisation. Arq has developed a novel and patented 
technology that transforms environmentally damaging coal waste into a 
micro-fine hydrocarbon powder (Arq Fuel). After securing the required ac-
creditations, trials scheduled for mid-2021 aim to confirm Arq Fuel’s com-
patibility for the approximately 450 vessels for which Hafnia procures fuels.

Hafnia has partnered with Wilhelmsen Ships Service (WSS) to develop 3D 
Printing capabilities. These capabilities will be used to produce spare parts 
and other essential shipboard items. With this partnership, we do not need 
to incur costs to store the spare onboard, nor wait for spares with extended 
lead time. The partnership offers a cost-effective platform with faster lead 
times for parts, zero inventory and reduced environmental footprint.
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Hafnia is fully focused and committed to upholding the highest corporate governance 
standards, professionalism and business integrity across all activities. To achieve 
that, the development, implementation and maintenance of well-functioning govern-
ance policies and practices are critical. 

Hafnia’s governance policies and practices are created to comply with applicable laws 
and ethical standards while being mindful to the Company’s long-term performance 
and financial soundness. 

The policies abide to the overall principles of uprightness and fairness in accordance 
with leading market practices, while aligning with the interests of the Board and 
management, and balancing the reasonable expectations of shareholders, employees, 
customers, suppliers, other contracting parties and the public.

Corporate 
governance
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P. 63Best in class governance

Staff

Management Team

Audit Committee

Regulators Shareholders

Board of Directors

Established Audit Committee 
currently comprising two 
members
Works with internal audit to 
align workflow procedures, 
standard operation procedures 
and internal controls

Remuneration Committee
currently comprising two 
members
Management remuneration 
aligned with shareholders

Remuneration Committee

Recently established Nomination 
Committee currently comprising 
three members
Plans for board succession by 
nominating directors and 
committee members

Nomination Committee
Hafnia is governed by 
board approval 
authorisation matrix

Authorisation matrix

Fully integrated business 
model
In-house commercial 
management
In-house technical 
management
No fee leakage
All stakeholders have 
aligned interests

Fully aligned incentives

Highly experienced and reputable Board of Directors
4 board members independent of major shareholders

8.1.1 	 Board and Management presentation 
Hafnia’s management team consists of seasoned executives who have ex-
tensive experience and vast networks of strong relationships with major 
oil and gas companies, shipyards, global financial institutions and other 
key shipping industry participants. They have demonstrated their ability 
to manage the commercial, technical and financial aspects of Hafnia’s 
business, backed by years of senior-level experience operating large and 
diverse fleets of energy transportation vessels, as well as other assets 
within the maritime sector. 

A Board of Directors complements Hafnia’s management with extensive col-
lective international experience in shipping, energy and capital markets – as 
well as a broad range of complementary functional competencies. This allows 
a good balance of knowledge, expertise and diversity appropriate to promote 
different perspectives and mitigate against groupthink.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall management of the 
Company and may exercise all of the powers of the Company not reserved 
to the Company’s shareholders by its bye-laws or under Bermuda law.
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Andreas Sohmen-Pao is Chairman of BW Group and 
listed affiliates BW LPG, Hafnia, BW Epic Kosan, BW 
Offshore and BW Energy. He is also Chairman of the 
Singapore Maritime Foundation. He has previously 
served as a non-executive director of The Hongkong 
and Shanghai Banking Corporation, the Maritime and 
Port Authority of Singapore, The London P&I Club, and 
Sport Singapore amongst others. Prior to joining BW, 
Mr. Sohmen-Pao worked at Goldman Sachs Interna-
tional in London. He is a graduate of Oxford University 
and Harvard Business School. He resides in Singapore.

Erik Bartnes was co-founder of Pareto AS and sen-
ior partner from 1988 to 2010, and Chairman of 
Pareto AS until April 2013. Mr. Bartnes is one of the 
co-founders of the original Hafnia Tankers in 2010 and 
served as Executive Chairman until 2018. Currently, 
Mr. Bartnes serves as Chairman in Eclipse Drilling AS, 
Revier Invest AS , Svele AS and Johan Vinje AS. Mr. 
Bartnes is a board member of Pareto Asset manage-
ment, Pareto Invest, Premium Maritime Fund AS, Thor 
Dahl Shipping AS and Ulstein Group AS. Previously, 
Mr. Bartnes served as a board member or Chairman 
of Christiania Shipping A/S, Eitzen Chemical ASA, Vi-
king Cruises Ltd, Nordic Tankers, Nordic Shipholding, 
Siva Shipping AS and Ugland Shipping AS. Mr Bartnes 
holds a LizRerPol degree from University of Fribourg in  
Switzerland. Mr. Bartnes resides in Oslo.

8.1.2	  The Board

Andreas Sohmen-Pao, 
Chairman 

Erik Bartnes,
Director

Donald John Ridgway was CEO of BP Shipping from 
2008 to 2015. Mr. Ridgway is a qualified Master Mar-
iner, and has a master degree from the Judge Insti-
tute, Cambridge University. He is a Chartered Marine 
Technologist and a Fellow of the Institute of Marine 
Engineering, Science and Technology, and is currently 
Chairman of Tindall Riley Ltd, a leading marine liability 
insurer. He was formerly Chairman of the Oil Companies 
International Marine Forum and the Marine Preser-
vation Association LLC, President of the API Marine 
Committee, Director of a number of businesses and 
organisations including Britannia P&I Insurance Ltd., 
Alaska Tanker Company, ITOPF, and UK Chamber of 
Shipping and a member of the Executive Advisory Board 
to the UN IMO World Maritime University. Mr. Ridgway 
resides in London.

Donald John Ridgway, 
Director
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Ouma Sananikone is currently a non-executive direc-
tor of Innergex (Canada), Ivanhoe Cambridge (Canada), 
and Macquarie Infrastructure Corporation (U.S.). Ms.  
Sananikone was also chairman of, among others, Smarte 
Carte (U.S.) and of EvolutionMedia (Australia) and re-
cently retired from a non-executive directorship of the 
Caisse de Depot et Placement de Quebec (Canada). She 
also acted as an honorary Australian Financial Services 
fellow for the U.S. on behalf of the Australian government. 
Additionally, Ms. Sananikone has held various other  
senior positions, including CEO of Aberdeen Asset 
Management (Australia), CEO of the EquitiLink Group 
(Australia, New Zealand, USA, Canada and UK) as well 

as founding managing director of BNP Investment 
Management (Australia). Ms. Sananikone has always 
been committed to the community, serving as a board 
director of a number of arts, education and charitable 
organisations, among them the United Nations High 
Commission for Refugees. Ms. Sananikone holds a BA 
(Economics and Political Sciences) from the Australian 
National University and a Master of Commerce (Eco-
nomics) from the University of New South Wales. She is 
a recipient of the Centenary Medal from the Australian 
Government for services to the Australian finance in-
dustry. Ms. Sananikone resides in New York.

Ouma Sananikone, 
Director

Peter Graham Read, 
Director

Peter Read is currently the Non-Executive Chairman of 
Welbeck Publishing Group Limited. He is also a Non-ex-
ecutive Director and Chairman of the Audit Committees 
of QMM Holdings Limited and the Professional Cricket-
ers Association. Mr. Read is also a Member of the Board 
and Chairman of the Audit and Motoring Committees 
of the Royal Automobile Club. In a career spanning 37 
years at KPMG, Mr. Read was a partner and sector 
chairman. Mr. Read graduated from Southampton Uni-
versity with a degree in Commerce and Accountancy. He 
is also a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Account-
ants in England and Wales. Mr. Read resides in London 
and Sussex, England.

Andreas Sohmen-Pao Erik Bartnes Donald John Ridgway Ouma Sananikone Peter Graham Read

Attendance 2020 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4

Gender Male Male Male Female Male

Residency Resides in Singapore Resides in Oslo Resides in England Resides in New York Resides in London

Independent No Yes Yes Yes Yes
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Mikael Øpstun Skov is Chief Executive Officer of Hafnia, 
a role he assumed in 2019 after the merger between 
Hafnia Tankers and BW Tankers. Mr. Skov was the 
co-founder and CEO of Hafnia Tankers and has more 
than 35 years in the shipping industry. Prior to estab-
lishing Hafnia Tankers, Mr. Skov held various positions 
over his 25-year career at Torm A/S, of which the last 
two years he served as CEO. Mr. Skov is a Board Mem-
ber of BLS Invest and Clipper Group Ltd. Mr. Skov re-
sides in Monaco.

Perry Wouter Van Echtelt is Chief Financial Officer of 
Hafnia, a role he assumed in November 2017. Mr. Van 
Echtelt has more than 20 years of experience in in-
vestment banking and ship finance. Prior to Hafnia, Mr. 
Van Echtelt was at ABN AMRO Bank as head of trans-
portation and logistics Asia Pacific & Middle East. For 
17 years, Mr. Van Echtelt held various positions in the 
corporate finance and capital markets group of ABN 
AMRO and its predecessors (MeesPierson and Fortis 
Bank), and at Gilde Investments from 1998 until 2000. 
Mr. Van Echtelt resides in Singapore since 2013.

8.1.3	 The Management

Mikael Skov, 
CEO 

Perry Wouter Van Echtelt,
CFO

8.1.4 	 Audit Committee
In line with the recommendations set out in 
the Corporate Governance Code, Hafnia has 
established an Audit Committee comprising 
two Members; Peter Graham Read (Chairman) 
and Erik Bartnes (Committee Member). Neither 
of them were previous partners or directors of 
the Company's external auditor, KPMG, within 
the last 12 months or hold any financial inter-
est in KPMG. 

The Members of the Audit Committee are inde-
pendent of the Company. The Board considers 
Peter Graham Read, who has extensive ac-
counting and auditing experience, well qual-
ified to chair the Audit Committee. Together, 
the Audit Committee collectively have strong 
accounting and related financial management 
expertise. They will keep informed of relevant 
changes to accounting standards and matters 
that may directly impact the financial state-
ments. The Members of the Audit Committee 
will serve while they remain members of the 
Board of Directors, or until the Board of Direc-
tors decide otherwise or wish to retire from 
their appointment as Members of the Audit 
Committee.

The Audit Committee's primary purpose is to 
act as a preparatory and advisory committee 
for the Board of Directors in discharging re-
sponsibilities relating to the integrity of finan-
cial statements, monitoring the Group's system 
of internal control of risk management and in-
dependence of the external auditor. 

This includes but is not limited to:
•	 All critical accounting policies and practices
•	� Quality, integrity and control of the Group’s 

financial statements and reports
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P. 67•	 Compliance with legal and regulatory re- 
	 quirements
•	 Qualifications and independence of the ex- 
	 ternal auditors
•	� Performance of the internal audit function 

and external auditors

The Audit Committee reports and makes rec-
ommendations to the Board of Directors, but 
the Board of Directors retains responsibility 
for implementing such recommendations.

8.1.5 	 Internal audit
The internal audit department prepares and 
implements a robust audit plan, to assess the 
adequacy and effectiveness of Hafnia's govern-
ance, risk management and internal controls. 
This includes the operational, financial, com-
pliance and information technology controls. 
Without assuming management responsibil-
ity, internal audit also provides independent, 
objective assurance and consulting services 
designed to add value and improve Hafnia's 
operations and ensure that the control envi-
ronment works effectively. 

This helps Hafnia accomplish its stated ob-
jectives and goals by bringing a systematic, 
disciplined approach to add value and improve 
governance, risk management and internal 
controls. The Audit Committee is responsible 
for approving the terms of reference of inter-
nal audit and reviews the internal audit func-
tion's adequacy and effectiveness. The Audit 
Committee also ensures that processes are in 
place for recommendations raised in internal 
audit reports and dealt within a timely manner. 

The internal audit department is staffed with 
individuals with the relevant qualifications and 

experience. However, where appropriate, in-
dependent internal or external technical spe-
cialists will be engaged to supplement the core 
team, and quality assurance and improvement 
practices. Internal auditors are expected to 
apply the care and skill expected of a prudent 
and competent auditor and consider using 
technology-based audit and other data anal-
ysis techniques in their work.

8.1.6 	 Authorisation manual
Hafnia has established a clear and concise au-
thorisation manual that sets out, describes and 
defines roles and responsibilities in all aspects 
of the Company's business financials, including:
•	� Governance & Senior Appointments
•	 Budgeting & Expenditure
•	� Financing & Financial Risk Management
•	� Public Relations, Media & Communication
•	 Legal & Liability Management
•	 HR
•	 Chartering
•	 Sales & Purchase Of Vessels
•	 Bunkers & Agents
•	 Fleet
•	 Insurance
•	 IT
•	 The Pools

8.1.7 	 Remuneration Committee
Hafnia's Remuneration Committee comprises 
of two Members; Andreas Sohmen-Pao (Chair-
man) and Erik Bartnes (Committee Member). The 
Board considers that Andreas Sohmen-Pao, who 
has many years of experience in senior manage-
ment positions and on various Boards, is well 
qualified to chair the Remuneration Committee. 
Together, the Remuneration Committee collec-
tively have strong management experience and 
expertise on remuneration issues.

The Members of the Remuneration Committee 
shall serve while they remain part of the Board 
of Directors, or until the Board of Directors 
decide otherwise or wish to retire from their 
appointment as Members of the Remuneration 
Committee. Any remuneration to be paid to the 
Remuneration Committee members is to be 
decided at the annual general meeting.

The Remuneration Committee's primary pur-
pose is to assist the Board of Directors in dis-
charging its duty relating to determining the 
management's compensation. 

This includes but is not limited to:
•	� Oversee the governance of Hafnia's remu-

neration policy
•	� Oversee the remuneration of the Board and 

Management 
•	� Reviews Management annual increments, 

variable bonuses and incentive awards
•	� Approves framework of remuneration for 

the entire organisation, including increment 
and incentives

The Remuneration Committee shall report 
and make recommendations to the Board of 
Directors, but the Board of Directors retains 
responsibility for implementing such recom-
mendations.

8.1.8 	 Nomination Committee
As provided for in its by-laws, Hafnia has es-
tablished a Nomination Committee in the 2020 
annual general meeting of the Company. The 
Nomination Committee comprises of three 
Members; Andreas Sohmen-Pao (Chairman), 
Bjarte Bøe (Committee Member) and Elaine Yew 
Wen Suen (Committee Member). The Members 
of the Nomination Committee shall serve until 
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P. 68 the Annual General Meeting (AGM) determines 
or they wish to retire from their appointment as 
Members of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee's primary purpose 
is to identify and nominate candidates for the 
appointment, re-appointment or termination 
of Members and Chairman of the Board of Di-
rectors, and make recommendations for these 
persons' remuneration. The Nomination Com-
mittee plays an essential role in emphasising 
transparency and meritocracy at Hafnia. It 
plans for board succession while ensuring 
only candidates with the suitable attributes 
and expertise capable of contributing to the 
Company's success are appointed. 

8.2		 Risk management
Risk is inherent in the business activities of 
Hafnia, and managing them is critical for en-
suring long-term success. Hafnia's overall risk 
management program focuses on the unpre-
dictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on Hafnia's 
financial performance, to create sustainable 
value for our customers, employees, share-
holders and the community. Hafnia's results 
are dependent on the market for worldwide 
transportation of refined oil products. With 
that, the Company is exposed to a variety of 
financial risks: market risk (including price risk 
and currency risk), interest rate risk, credit 
risk, liquidity risk and capital risk.	

The most significant risks are set out in the 
2020 prospectus issued in April 2020. That 
document and other information on risks 
are available on the Company's website at  
www.hafniabw.com.

Hafnia Limited and its activities are primarily 
governed by the Bermuda Companies Act, its 
Memorandum of Association, and its by-laws. 

Certain aspects of Hafnia's activities are gov-
erned by Norwegian law pursuant. In particu-
lar, the Norwegian Securities Trading Act and 
the Norwegian Stock Exchange Regulations 
will generally apply.

Principal risks faced by Hafnia  
and their definitions:

5. Capital risk

Risk of losing ability as 
a going concern and 

becoming overleveraged 
due to loss in capital 
arising from loss in 

investments

1. Market risk

Risk of losing income due 
to fluctuations in factors 

such as exchange rates and 
commodity prices, as a result 

of external forces such 
as global political and 
economic conditions

3. Interest rate risk

Risk of losing income due 
to exposure to adverse 
changes in the interest 

rate climate

2. Credit risk

Risk of losing income due 
to the failure of counter- 
party to meet its financial 
obligations or a change in 

counterparty’s credit  
profile

4. Liquidity risk

Risk of losing income due 
to incurring additional 

costs having to fundraise 
or liquidate assets as a 
result of being unable to 

meet short term financial 
obligations
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Type of risks How is it managed? 

Market risks
The shipping industry can be 
subject to significant fluctua-
tions. Being in the product tanker 
market, Hafnia is exposed to the 
risk of global weak oil consumption 
and demand, which are affected 
by global political and economic 
conditions. 

Under time charter or bareboat 
charter, the charterer is respon-
sible for bunker fuel costs, which 
historically has been the most 
significant expense. As a result, 
Hafnia is also exposed to price 
volatility of bunker fuel.

Hafnia’s chartering strategy is to 
secure fixed-income employment for a 
portion of its fleet, which is employed 
under various chartering arrange-
ments including time charters and spot 
voyage charters. With this strategy, 
Hafnia is also able to reduce exposure 
to fuel price fluctuations.

Credit risks
Hafnia’s credit risk arises from 
counterparty and issuer credit 
risks, primarily attributable to 
trade and other receivables and 
cash and cash equivalents. The 
carrying value represents the 
maximum exposure value of each 
financial asset on the balance 
sheet.

Hafnia performs a KYC check for all 
new customers and keep the knowl-
edge of our customers updated, in 
addition Hafnia performes creditwor-
thiness analysis of customers and has 
an authorisation matrix outlining the 
authority to enter in to contracts with 
customers.

Type of risks How is it managed? 

Interest rate risks
Hafnia is exposed to adverse 
changes in the interest rate envi-
ronment, primarily attributable to 
interest-bearing financial liabili-
ties in the form of bank borrowings 
at variable interest rates.

Hafnia uses financial instruments 
such as interest rate caps and interest 
rate swaps to hedge against adverse 
interest rate fluctuations.

Liquidity risks
Hafnia is exposed to the inability  
to meet short term liquidity 
requirements, due to unpredict-
able earnings to additional costs 
through fundraising or asset 
liquidation.

To meet operating, capital expendi-
ture and potential short-term liquidity 
needs, Hafnia maintains sufficient 
cash for its daily operations in short-
term cash deposits with banks and 
has access to unutilised portions of 
revolving facilities provided by finan-
cial institutions. 

Capital risks
Hafnia is exposed to potential loss 
in investments or capital, poten-
tially leading to Company becoming 
increasingly leveraged. 

To safeguard the ability to continue as a 
going concern and maintain an optimal 
capital structure to maximise value for 
shareholders, Hafnia may adjust the 
amount paid in dividends, obtain new 
loans or sell assets to reduce debt.
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P. 70 8.3 	 Corporate governance report
Hafnia is fully focused and committed to up-
holding the highest corporate governance 
standards, professionalism and business 
integrity across all activities. The following 
report provides an overview of Hafnia’s key 
corporate governance practices regarding the 
Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Gov-
ernance (the “Code”) dated 17 October 2018, is-
sued by the Norwegian Corporate Governance 
Board. The Code is available at www.nues.no.

For the year 2020, unless stated otherwise, 
Hafnia has complied in all material aspects laid 
out in the Code sections. Below is a summary 
disclosure on our compliance with the Code. 

8.3.1 	 Implementation and reporting on  
		  corporate governance

Hafnia Limited (“Hafnia” or the “Company”) is a 
Bermuda limited liability company listed in Oslo.

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) oversees 
the overall conduct of Hafnia, ensuring that the 
Company is accountable to its stakeholders by 
ensuring implementation of business policies 
and practices which comply with applicable leg-
islation, regulations, ethical and corporate gov-
ernance guidelines. These policies are also de-
signed to be fair and in accordance with leading 
market practices on stakeholder relations. The 
Company assumes all dealings with customers, 
potential customers, and other third parties are 
in full public view and accommodates all stake-
holders’ reasonable expectations.

Hafnia is primarily governed by the Bermuda 
Companies Act, its Memorandum of Associa-
tion and its bye-laws. Certain aspects of Hafnia’s 
activities are governed by Norwegian law pur-

Section of the Code Deviations

1 Implementation and reporting on cor-
porate governance

None

2 Business The Company’s objectives are broader and more exten-
sive than recommended in the Code

3 Equity and dividends The Board has wider powers to issue any authorised 
but unissued shares and preference shares than what 
is recommended in the Code

4 Equal treatment of shareholders and 
transactions with close associates

None

5 Shares and negotiability The Board may decline to register the transfer of any 
share in the Company if the transfer results in the 
Company being deemed a “Controlled Foreign Compa-
ny” in Norway

6 General meetings The chairman of the Board, or the president of the 
Company if there is one appointed, will chair the Com-
pany’s general meetings unless otherwise resolved by 
majority vote

7 Nomination Committee Any member of the Board who is also a member of the 
Nomination Committee may offer himself for re-election 
to the Board

8 Board of Directors: Composition and 
independence

None

9 The work of the Board of Directors None

10 Risk management and internal control None

11 Remuneration of the Board of Directors None

12 Remuneration of executive personnel Share-based remuneration of executive personnel 
does not require the approval of the annual general 
meeting

13 Information and communications None

14 Take-overs None

15 Auditor None
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P. 71suant. The Norwegian Securities Trading Act, 
related regulations and the Continued Obliga-
tions for listed companies will generally apply. 
Hafnia’s business activities are also subject 
to the laws of the countries in which it at any 
time operates, as well as international law and 
conventions.

Each individual section of the Code is discussed 
in the following, and any deviations from the 
Code are set out and explained.

The Company does not deviate from Section 
1 of the Code.

8.3.2 	 Business
The Company’s Business and objectives are 
described in the Company’s Memorandum 
of Association. In accordance with common 
practice for Bermuda incorporated companies 
(including those listed on the Oslo Stock Ex-
change), the Company’s objectives set out are 
wider and more extensive than recommended 
in the Code. 

This represents a deviation from Section 2 of 
the Code.

The Board sets the tone and direction for Hafnia, 
defining clear objectives, strategies and risk ap-
petite, ensuring consistency with the Company’s 
long-term strategic goals. The Board conducts 
an annual review of Hafnia’s objectives, strat-
egies and risk profile, evaluating present and 
future opportunities, threats and risks in the 
external environment. The Company’s executive 
management implements the Board’s decisions 
through managing and developing the business 
of Hafnia, ensuring that the policies and pro-
cesses that are in place are compliant with the 

Board’s instructions. The strategy, objectives 
and corporate governance regime developed 
act as a foundation in the Company’s policy to in-
tegrate considerations into its business execu-
tion to deliver long-term value to stakeholders.

Stakeholders may read more about Hafnia’s 
strategy, objectives and risk profile elsewhere 
in the annual report.

8.3.3 	 Equity and dividends
Given the Company’s business’s dynamic 
and cyclical nature, the Board regularly re-
views and monitors the Company’s capital 
structure to ensure it is in line with the Com-
pany’s objective, strategy, and risk profile. 
This ensures that the business’ activities and 
growth are funded sensibly and prudently by 
achieving a more efficient capital structure 
that seeks to reduce the Company’s overall 
cost of capital. 

The Board has established a clear and pre-
dictable dividend policy based on a targeted 
quarterly dividend with a pay-out ratio of 50% 
of annual net profit, adjusted for extraordinary 
items. In addition to cash dividends, the Com-
pany may also from time to time consider buy-
ing back shares as part of its total distribution 
to shareholders.

Pursuant to Bermuda law and in accordance 
with common practice for Bermuda incorpo-
rated companies, the Board has the authority 
to issue any authorised unissued shares in the 
Company on such terms and conditions as it 
may decide and may exercise all powers of 
the Company to purchase the Company’s own 
shares. The powers of the Board to issue and 
purchase shares are neither limited to specific 

purposes nor to a specified period as recom-
mended in the Code. 

This represents a deviation from Section 3 of 
the Code.

8.3.4 	 Equal treatment of shareholders and  
		  transactions with close associates

The Company has one class of shares, meaning 
all shares in the Company carry equal rights, 
including the right to participate and vote in 
general meetings. As such, all shareholders 
will be treated equally unless there is just 
cause for treating them differently.

As the Company is a Bermuda limited compa-
ny, shareholders do not have the same pref-
erential rights in a future offering of shares 
in Hafnia as shareholders in Norwegian lim-
ited liability companies normally have. This is 
common practice for Bermuda limited compa-
nies, including those listed on the Oslo Stock 
Exchange.

In cases of transactions between the Compa-
ny and a shareholder, a shareholder’s parent 
company, director, officer or executive person-
nel of the Company or persons closely related 
to any such parties, which are not immaterial 
for either the Company or the close associate 
involved, the Board will obtain a valuation from 
an independent third party.

The Company does not deviate from Section 
4 of the Code.

8.3.5 	 Shares and negotiability
The shares are generally freely negotiable. 
However, the Board may decline to register 
the transfer of any share, where such transfer 



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 72

H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 72



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 73would, in the opinion of the Board, likely result in 50% or more of the aggre-
gate issued and outstanding share capital of the Company being held or 
owned directly (or indirectly) by individuals or legal persons resident for tax 
purposes in Norway, or alternatively, such shares being effectively connected 
to a Norwegian business activity, or the Company otherwise being deemed a 
“Controlled Foreign Company” as such term is defined pursuant to Norwegian 
tax legislation. The purpose of this provision is to avoid the Company being 
deemed a Controlled Foreign Company pursuant to Norwegian tax rules.

The Company’s bye-laws also provide the Board the authority to decline the 
registration of the transfer of “Default Securities” (as defined in the Com-
pany’s bye-laws), i.e. shares belonging to unidentified shareholders or any 
other person who, upon due notice from the Company, have failed to disclose 
his, her or its interest in company securities.

Both of the above restrictions are common practice for Bermuda limited 
companies listed on the Oslo Stock Exchange, but represent deviations from 
Section 5 of the Code.

8.3.6 	 General meetings
The Company encourages all shareholders to participate in and to vote at 
general meetings. In order to facilitate shareholder participation, the Board 
will ensure that:
•	� The resolutions and supporting documentation, if any, will be suffi-

ciently detailed, comprehensive and specific to allow shareholders to 
understand and form a view on matters that are to be considered at the 
general meeting;

•	� The registration deadline, if any, for shareholders to participate at the 
general meeting will be set as closely to the date of the general meeting 
as practically possible and permissible under the provision in the Com-
pany’s bye-laws;

•	� The shareholders will have the opportunity to vote on each individual 
matter, including on each candidate nominated for election to the Com-
pany’s Board and committees (if applicable); and

•	� The board members, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and the 
auditor (where attendance is regarded as essential) will be present at 
the general meeting.

Shareholders who are not able to attend the general meeting will be given 
the opportunity to vote by proxy or to participate by using electronic means. 

The Company will in this respect:
•	� Provide information on the procedure for attending by proxy in the notice;
•	� Nominate a person who will be available to vote on behalf of shareholders 

as their proxy; and
•	� Prepare a proxy form which will, insofar as this is possible, be formulated 

in such a manner that the shareholder may vote on each item that is to 
be addressed and vote for each of the candidates that are nominated 
for election.

The Company secretaries will also prepare minutes from the general meet-
ings. These minutes aim to capture the essence of the meeting, its comments 
and results from the resolutions.
 
Pursuant to common practice for Bermuda incorporated companies, the 
chairman of the Board, or the president of the Company if there is one ap-
pointed, will chair the Company’s general meetings unless otherwise re-
solved by majority vote. 

This represents a deviation from Section 6 of the Code. However, there will 
be routines to ensure that an independent person is available to chair the 
general meeting or a particular agenda with regards to any matters related 
to the chairman.

8.3.7 	 Nomination Committee
As provided for in its bye-laws, Hafnia has established a Nomination Com-
mittee in the 2020 annual general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Committee’s duties include proposing candidates for election 
to the Board and the Nomination Committee itself. As part of its work in pro-
posing candidates for election to the Board, the Nomination Committee will 
provide reasoned recommendations for any candidate and seek to consult 
shareholders concerning proposals for candidates’ appointment.

Pursuant to the Nomination Committee guidelines, a member of the Board 
who is also a member of the Nomination Committee may offer him or herself 
for re-election to the Board. 

This deviation from Section 7 of the Code has been implemented to facilitate 
cooperation between the Nomination Committee and the Board and ensure 
continuity in the Board.
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P. 74 See Section 8.1.8 for further information regarding the Nomination Com-
mittee and its responsibilities.

8.3.8 	 Board of Directors: Composition and independence
The Company believes that the composition of the Board ensures that the 
Board has a good balance of knowledge, expertise and diversity appropriate 
to promote different perspectives and mitigate the risk of groupthink. This 
helps the Board to attend to duties towards the Company and its stakeholders 
effectively. An introduction to the members of the Board of Directors and 
their expertise is included in Section 8.1.2 of the Annual Report.

The Board currently consists of five board members but as recorded during 
the Company’s annual general meeting in 2020, the number of directors of 
the Company may be increased to eight. The board members work together 
to exercise proper supervision of the Company’s business, compliance, per-
formance and work done by the Company’s management. The chairperson 
of the Board is elected by the shareholders. 

Four out of five of the board members are independent of the Company, its main 
shareholders and material business contacts, and the Company’s executive 
management is not represented on the Board. The members of the Board 
serve for periods of two years at the time, after which they are re-evaluated 
for potential re-election. The benefit of continuity in the Board’s composition 
will be balanced against the potential benefits of renewal and independence. 
The members of the Board are encouraged to own shares in the Company. 

The Company does not deviate from Section 8 of the Code.

8.3.9 	 The work of the Board of Directors
The Board oversees the overall conduct of the Company’s affairs and the 
day-to-day management of the Company. 

The Board’s duties and responsibilities are set out in detail in the Company’s 
bye-laws. The Board emphasises clear allocation of responsibilities amongst 
members and between the Board and executive management for increased 
accountability. Various guidelines have been adopted for both the Board and 
executive management. 

To ensure independence, directors, officers and executive personnel of the 
Company are required to notify the Board if they directly or indirectly have a 

material interest in any transaction carried out by the Company. Members of 
the Board and executive personnel are to recuse themselves from decisions 
that they have a special interest in so that such items can be considered 
unbiased. Another director will chair discussions on significant matters if 
the chairman of the Board has been actively involved outside of his role as 
chairman of the Board. 

The Board has established an Audit Committee consisting of the board mem-
bers and has adopted guidelines for the Audit Committee’s work. See Section 
8.1.4 for further information regarding members of the Audit Committee 
and their responsibilities.

The Board has also established a Remuneration Committee to ensure due 
and independent preparation of matters relating to executive personnel com-
pensation. See Section 8.1.7 for further information regarding the members 
of the Remuneration Committee and their responsibilities.

The Board has also in the 2020 annual general meeting established a Nomina-
tion Committee to ensure Board succession through identifying and nominating 
candidates for the appointment of members of the Board. See Section 8.1.8 
for further information regarding the members of the Nomination Committee 
and their responsibilities. The Board’s internal assessment and performance 
evaluation was carried out in 2020, to the overall satisfaction of the directors.

The Board aims to annually assess the effectiveness and performance as 
a whole and of its committees. This ensures that it fulfils its duties and re-
sponsibilities satisfactorily and uncovers key areas for improvement and 
requisite follow-up actions. 

The Company does not deviate from Section 9 of the Code.

8.3.10 	 Risk management and internal control
The Board is responsible for overseeing risk management in the Compa-
ny, ensuring appropriate control procedures and systems are in place to 
manage its exposure to risks that are inherent to the Company’s business. 
The Company recognises the importance of balancing risks and rewards 
to pursue business opportunities within its risk appetite. Such procedures 
also support the quality of the Company’s financial reporting and compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations. These procedures also contribute to 
accommodate the interest of the Company’s stakeholders and assets.



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 75In Section 8.2, the Company provides an overview of Hafnia’s central risks 
and its business.

Management and internal reporting and control mechanisms are based on 
Company-wide policies and internal guidelines in areas such as Finance 
and Accounting, Health, Safety, Security, Environment & Quality (HSSEQ), 
Ship Operations and Project Management, in addition to implementation 
and the follow-up of a risk assessment process. The Company’s policies and 
guidelines is imperative to the Company’s internal control and risk limitations 
and are designed to ensure that the Company’s vision, policies, goals and 
procedures are known and adhered to. This also helps to instil discipline 
and reinforces the Company’s risk culture regarding the nature and extent 
of risks that the Company is willing to accept. 

The Company has implemented frequent management reporting sessions 
where both operational and financial matters are analysed and reported 
to relevant decision-makers, allowing them to respond quickly to changing 
conditions. This helps to provide reasonable assurance against foreseeable 
events that may adversely affect the Company’s business objectives. The 
Company has established clear and safe communication channels between 
the employees and management to ensure effective reporting of any illegal 
or unethical activities in the Company, as such activities may be detrimental 
to the Company’s reputation, financial well-being as well as to the Company’s 
various stakeholders.

The Board carries out annual reviews of the Company’s most important 
areas of exposure to risk and its internal control arrangements. These 
measures (and others) ensure that the Company’s various stakeholders’ 
considerations are integrated in the Company’s decision-making processes 
and value creation.

The Company does not deviate from Section 10 of the Code.

8.3.11 	 Remuneration of the Board of Directors
The Company seeks shareholders’ approval at the annual general meeting 
regarding the remuneration of the Board. No director decides his or her own 
fees. Rather, in determining the remuneration of the Board, the Board’s re-
sponsibility, expertise, time commitment and the complexity of the Company’s 
activities will be considered.

To maintain the Board’s independence, the Board’s remuneration will not be 
linked to the Company’s performance, nor does the Company intend to grant 
share options, similar instruments or retirement benefits to board members 
as consideration for their work.

As a rule, the directors do not undertake special tasks for the Company in 
addition to their directorship. Fees for any such services rendered should 
be approved by the Board.

The Company does not deviate from Section 11 of the Code.

8.3.12 	 Remuneration of executive personnel
The Board has adopted guidelines and principles for determining the remu-
neration of executive personnel, which have been presented to the share-
holders and will be communicated to the annual general meeting. Such 
guidelines are not a requirement under Bermuda law and will therefore 
not be subject to the annual general meeting’s approval. The deviation is in 
accordance with common practice for Bermuda incorporated companies 
and customary for Bermuda incorporated companies listed on the Oslo 
Stock Exchange. 

This represents a deviation from Section 12 of the Code.

The Remuneration Committee administers all the performance-related 
elements of remuneration of executive management. The remuneration 
annually prepares recommendations to the Board, considering inter alia 
responsibility, expertise, time commitment and the complexity of the Com-
pany’s activities. The remuneration paid to executive management will aim 
to ensure a convergence of the financial interests of the shareholders and 
executive management. The Company has inter alia adopted a long-term 
share incentive program for executive management, designed to align the 
interests of executive management with those of shareholders and link 
rewards to corporate and individual performance.

8.3.13 	 Information and communication
The Board has adopted guidelines for the Company’s communication with 
shareholders and how the Company will make information available to 
shareholders outside of general meetings. Hafnia values openness and 
transparency towards its shareholders and is committed to disclosing to 
shareholders as much relevant information as is possible in a timely and 
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P. 76 accurate manner. All communications and 
announcements of information will take into 
account the requirement for equal treatment 
of the Company’s shareholders.

The Company publishes an updated financial 
calendar with dates for important events such 
as the annual general meeting, publishing of 
interim reports, public presentations and pay-
ment of dividends (if applicable) on the Compa-
ny’s website and on Newsweb.

The Company does not deviate from Section 
13 of the Code.

8.3.14	  Take-overs
The Company has established key principles 
for how to act in the event of a take-over of-
fer. In the event of a take-over process, the 
Board has a duty to ensure that the Company’s 
shareholders are treated equally and that the 
Company’s activities are not unnecessarily in-
terrupted. The Board will also ensure that the 
shareholders have sufficient information and 
time to assess the offer.

In the event of a take-over process, the Board 
will abide by the principles of the Code and also 
ensure that the following take place:
•	� The Board will ensure that the offer is made 

to all shareholders, and on the same terms;
•	� The Board shall not undertake any actions 

intended to give shareholders or others an 
unreasonable advantage at the expense of 
other shareholders or the Company;

•	� The Board should not enter into an 
agreement with any offeror that limits 
the Company’s ability to entertain other 
offers for the Company’s shares, unless 
it is obvious that such an agreement is 

in the common interest of the Company 
and its shareholders;

•	� The Board shall strive to be complete-
ly open about the take-over situation. 
Agreements between the Company and 
the offeror which are of significance for 
the market’s assessment of the offer shall 
be made know to the market no later than 
the time when the market is notified of the 
offer;

•	� The Board shall not institute measures 
which have the intention of protecting the 
personal interests of its members at the 
expense of the interests of the sharehold-
ers; and 

•	� The Board acknowledges the particular 
duty the Board carries for ensuring that 
the interests of the shareholders are safe-
guarded.

The Board shall not attempt to prevent or im-
pede the take-over bid unless this has been 
decided by the shareholders in a general meet-
ing in accordance with applicable laws. The 
main underlying principles shall be that the 
Company’s common shares shall be kept freely 
transferable and that the Company shall not 
establish any mechanisms which can prevent 
or deter take-over offers unless this has been 
decided by the shareholders in a general meet-
ing in accordance with applicable law.

If an offer is made for a Company’s common 
shares, the Board shall issue a statement 
evaluating the offer and making a recommen-
dation as to whether shareholders should or 
should not accept the offer. If the Board finds 
itself unable to give a recommendation to the 
shareholders on whether or not to accept the 
offer, it should explain the reasons for this. The 

Board’s statement on a bid shall make it clear 
whether the views expressed are unanimous, 
and if this is not the case, it shall explain the 
reasons why specific members of the Board 
have excluded themselves from the statement.

The Board may also consider to arrange a 
valuation from an independent expert. An in-
dependent valuation will be arranged If any 
member of the Board, close associates of such 
member or anyone who has recently held a 
position but has ceased to hold such a posi-
tion as a member of the Board, is either the 
bidder or has a particular personal interest 
in the bid. This will also apply if the bidder is a 
major shareholder of the Company. Any such 
valuation should either be enclosed with the 
Board’s statement, or reproduced or referred 
to in the statement.

The Company does not deviate from Section 
14 of the Code.

8.3.15 	 Auditor
The Company’s auditor is appointed by the 
Company’s annual general meeting and is re-
sponsible for the audit of the Company’s con-
solidated financial statements.

The auditor participates in the Audit Commit-
tee’s review and discussion of the annual ac-
counts and quarterly interim accounts. Annu- 
ally, the auditor will submit an audit workplan 
to the Board or the Audit Committee.

The auditor normally participates in Board 
meetings that deal with annual accounts and 
accounting principles. The auditor will also 
assess any important accounting estimates 
and matters of importance on which there has 
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P. 77been disagreement between the auditor and 
the Company’s executive management and/
or the Audit Committee. At least once a year, 
the auditor shall present to the Board or the 
Audit Committee a review of the Company’s in-
ternal control procedures, including identified 
weaknesses and proposals for improvement. 
Further, the Board will normally hold a meeting 
with the auditor at least once a year at which 
no representative of the executive manage-
ment is present.

The Board is responsible for determining 
whether executive management may engage 
the auditor for other purposes than auditing. 
The auditor is required to annually confirm 
his or her independence in writing to the Audit 
Committee.

The Board will give the shareholders an ac-
count at the annual general meeting of the 
remuneration paid to the auditor, including 
details of the fee paid for audit work and any 
fees paid for other specific assignments.

The Company does not deviate from Section 
15 of the Code.
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Investor 
relations
9.1		 Communication

Hafnia is fully committed to building trust and awareness within the investor 
community, by ensuring that Investor Relations is conducted according to 
relevant rules, regulations and recommended practices. To enhance inves-
tors’ understanding of Hafnia’s performance, the Company strives to disclose 
to the investor community as much relevant information as is possible, in a 
timely, accurate, appropriate and transparent manner. 

Hafnia adopts the practice of regularly communicating any significant events 
or developments in its businesses and operations through the appropriate 
media. Such channels include news releases, annual reports and direct an-
nouncements. Hafnia’s website has a dedicated ‘Investor Relations’ section, 
which features past financial results, financial releases, investor tools, finan-
cial calendar and analyst coverage. The Investor Relations team’s contact 
details are available in the dedicated section, as well as in the annual report, 
to facilitate shareholders to contact Hafnia easily.

Hafnia recognises the importance of maintaining good stakeholder relation-
ships and adopts an inclusive active approach to engaging with the investor 
community. This helps fosters communication so that stakeholders can bet-
ter understand Hafnia’s operations, strategies and directions, which build 
trust and contribute to reduced costs of capital for the Company.

9.2 	 Dividend policy 
Hafnia targets a quarterly dividend based on a pay-out ratio of 50% of annual 
net profit, adjusted for extraordinary items. The final amount of dividend is 
to be decided by the Board of Directors. In addition to cash dividends, the 
Company may buy back shares as part of its total distribution.

In deciding whether to declare a dividend and determining the dividend amount, 
the Board of Directors will take into account the Group’s capital requirements, 
including capital expenditure commitments, financial condition, general busi-
ness conditions, legal restrictions, and any restrictions under borrowing 
arrangements or other contractual arrangements in place at the time. 

9.3 	 Composition of shareholders
As of 28 February 2021, Hafnia had 1,279 registered shareholders. Below 
is a list of the 20 largest shareholders as per 28 February 2021: 

# Shareholder Name No. of Shares Percentage (%)

1 BW GROUP LIMITED 246,106,112 66.47%

2 PAG Tankers Limited 20,411,403 5.51%

3 J. P. Morgan Securities LLC 12,201,707 3.30%

4 Hafnia Limited 7,179,946 1.94%

5 The Bank of New York Mellon 7,112,137 1.92%

6 Northwharf Nominees Limited 6,973,800 1.88%

7 Nordea Bank Abp 6,678,213 1.80%

8 PERSHING LLC 3,570,410 0.96%

9 Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB 3,141,447 0.85%

10 PERESTROIKA AS 3,000,000 0.81%

11 SKANDINAVISKA ENSKILDA BANKEN AB 2,707,056 0.73%

12 CASTEL AS 2,091,258 0.56%

13 SPESIALFONDET KLP ALFA GLOBAL ENER 1,916,898 0.52%

14 State Street Bank and Trust Comp 1,884,286 0.51%

15 Brown Brothers Harriman & Co 1,800,000 0.49%

16 STOREBRAND NORGE I VERDIPAPIRFOND 1,770,474 0.48%

17 Viking Investments (Cayman) Ltd 1,658,605 0.45%

18 SIX SIS AG 1,617,503 0.44%

19 Nordnet Bank AB 1,495,085 0.40%

20 DNB BANK ASA 1,368,465 0.37%

Other shareholders 35,559,520 9.60%

Total 370,244,325 100%
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9.5	 	 Financial calendar

Financial Year 2020

8 March 2021 Quarterly report – Q4

8 March 2021 Annual report 2020

25 May 2021 Annual general meeting

Financial Year 2021

25 May 2021 Quarterly report – Q1

8 August 2021 Half-yearly report

18 November 2021 Quarterly report – Q3

9.6		 Investor relations contacts
•	 Mikael Skov, CEO, ms@hafniabw.com
•	 Perry Van Echtelt, CFO, pve@hafniabw.com
•	� Thomas Andersen, EVP, IR, Research and 

Performance Management, tha@hafniabw.
com
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Board of 
Directors’ 
report
As a modern shipowner, Hafnia Limited (the 
“Company” or “Hafnia”, together with its 
subsidiaries, the “Group”) aims to maintain 
flexible management of its business through 
integrated business units, which provides 
an understanding of the market dynamics 
through experience-based knowledge and 
enhanced insights into relevant developments 
and trends in all aspects of the product tank-
er industry. For further details about Hafnia, 
please refer to Section 4 in the 2020 Annual 
Report available on the company’s website 
www.hafniabw.com.

2020 Highlights

Time Charter Equivalent (TCE) earnings for Hafnia were USD 623.2 million and EBITDA 
was USD 362.8 million in 2020. 

In Q4 2020, Hafnia had a net loss of USD 26.4 million (USD 0.07 per share) and the 
full year net profit ended at USD 148.8 million (USD 0.41 per share).

At the end of 2020, Hafnia had 821 owned vessels. The total fleet of the Group com-
prises of 95 vessels hereunder six LR2s, and 13 Handy vessels owned/operated. 29 
LR1s (including four bareboat chartered-in, three time chartered-in and two classified
as non-current assets held for sale), 47 MRs (including six time chartered-in).

Hafnia employs its vessels within the three Hafnia pools, except for the LR2 fleet. 
Handy TCE income/voyage day: USD 15,321, MR TCE income/voyage day: USD 17,089, 
LR1 TCE income/voyage day: USD 19,177, LR2 TCE income/voyage day: USD 26,514.

Hafnia’s balance sheet remained strong throughout 2020, with total assets of
USD 2,543.9 million, and equity of USD 1,148.0 million amounting to an equity
ratio of 45.1%, which in combination with capital discipline ensures sound 
financial flexibility for the future. In November 2020, Hafnia refinanced its USD 30 mil-
lion facility into a USD 39 million term loan and revolving credit facility. For a detailed 
review of the company’s result, development and activities in 2020, please refer to the
management report in the 2020 Annual Report.

1 Excluding five LR1s and one LR1 new build owned through 50% ownership in Vista Shipping Pte Ltd
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Hafnia’s results are dependent on the market for worldwide transportation of refined 
oil products. Hafnia’s activities expose the company to a variety of financial risks: 
market risk (including price risk and currency risk), interest rate risk, credit risk, 
liquidity risk and capital risk. Hafnia’s overall risk management strategy focuses on 
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on Hafnia’s financial performance. In addition, Hafnia is exposed to various 
market, operational, and financial risks. The most significant risks are set out in the 
original listing Oslo Axess prospectus issued in November 2019 and the uplisting for 
Oslo Børs prospectus issued in April 2020. These documents and other information 
on risks are available on the company’s website at www.hafniabw.com. 

The Group’s results are largely dependent on the worldwide market for transportation 
of refined oil products. Market conditions for shipping activities are typically volatile 
and, as a consequence, the results may vary considerably from year to year. The 
market in broad terms is dependent upon two factors: the supply of vessels and the 
demand for oil products. The supply of vessels depends on the number of newbuilds 
entering the market, the demolition of older tonnage and legislation that limits the use 
of older vessels or sets new standards for vessels used in specific trades. The demand 
side depends mainly on developments in global economic activity. The Group is also 
exposed to risk in respect of fuel oil costs. Fuel oil prices are affected by the global 
political and economic environment. For voyage contracts, the current fuel costs are 
priced into the contracts. Other risks that Management takes into account are interest 
rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and capital risk. The Covid-19 pandemic and the 
current downward pressure on global economic growth, and volatility in oil prices 
could have a significant adverse impact on the Group’s performance or operation.

Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG)
Environmental
The United Nations has called climate change the defining issue of our time and urged 
world leaders to recognise that humanity is at a critical moment. Without committed 
action today, adapting to these impacts in the future will be more difficult and costly. 
Against this backdrop, Hafnia takes a front row seat in global efforts to combat climate 
change as a leading shipping company firmly committed to providing safe, sustainable 
and efficient hydrocarbon transportation solutions. This is how we are contributing 
towards the shipping industry’s efforts to reduce our environmental impact and we 
are a member of the Getting to Zero Coalition. For further details on sustainability, 
please refer to page 48, the Sustainability section of the 2020 Annual Report.

Social
Hafnia is committed to cultivating and preserving a culture of diversity and inclusion. 
The collective sum of individual differences, life experiences, know-ledge, unique 
capabilities and talent that our employees invest in their work represents a signif-
icant part of our company culture and reputation. Hafnia embraces differences in 
age, ethnicity, family or marital status, and all other characteristics that make our 
employees unique. 

In 2019, Hafnia was proud to sign up to the Charter for More Women in Shipping, 
an initiative organised by Danish Shipping to encourage more women to join the 
shipping industry. A “Taskforce for More Women at Sea” has also put together ten 
recommendations that aim to help attract new women and to retain those who are 
already working in the industry. As a signee to the Charter, Hafnia has committed to 
establishing goals for the number of women in our employment and to drawing up 
concrete actions that they will undertake to reach these goals.

In the fall of 2020, Hafnia, BW Group, and Shell collaborated to run a first of- its-kind 
diversity innovation programme called ‘Women in Maritime Lab’. The programme 
aimed to scout innovative ideas from people of all genders on the challenges faced by 
women in the maritime industry – both at sea and ashore. A panel of judges selected 
the winning proposal. The winning team was “Seacode”, a team comprising seafarers 
from Turkey and onshore staff from Shell. Their idea, an anti-harassment app, will be 
further developed, tested and prototyped by Hafnia, BW LNG & Shell. 

Governance
This report provides an overview of how the Company has implemented sound corpo-
rate governance throughout its organisation. The Company’s corporate governance 
policies are based on the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance 
(the “Code”) dated 17 October 2018 issued by the Norwegian Corporate Governance 
Board. The Code is available at www.nues.no. For an overview of the Company’s com-
pliance with the Code, please refer to page 70 of the 2020 Annual Report.

Going Concern
In light of Hafnia’s liquidity position, balance sheet strength, assets, employment, and 
continuing cash flow from operations, the Board confirms that the going concern 
assumption, upon which Hafnia’s accounts are prepared, continues to apply.
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We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the financial statements 
for the year 1 January to 31 December 2020 have been prepared in  
accordance with current applicable accounting standards, and give a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit  
or loss of the Group and the Company taken as a whole. We also confirm 
that the Board of Directors’ Report includes a true and fair view of the 
development and performance of the business and the position of the 
Group and the Company, together with a description of the principal 
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and the Company.

Responsibility statement

Andreas Sohmen-Pao
Chairman

John Ridgway
Director

Peter Read
Director

Erik Bartnes
Director

Ouma Sananikone
Director
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Hafnia Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”). The financial statements comprise:

•	� The balance sheet of the Company as at 31 December 2020, the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the financial statements, comprising significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information; and

To the Board of Directors and 
Shareholders of Hafnia Limited

Independent 
auditors’ 
report

Report on the audit of the 
financial statements

•	� The consolidated balance sheet of the Group as at 31 December 2020, the con-
solidated statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements 
comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 
2020, and their financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ re-
sponsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants The International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), the Sin-
gapore Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority Code of Professional Conduct 
and Ethics for Public Accountants and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code), together with 
the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the IESBA Code and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Matter
The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2019 
were unaudited as the Company was exempted from an audit under Bermuda law. 
Following the listing of the Company’s equity shares on Oslo Børs on 30 April 2020, 
this is the first time the Company publishes its financial statements.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of 
most significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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P. 91Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

Impairment assessment of vessels and right-of-use assets

Refer to Notes 1.2, 2.4(b) and 8 of the consolidated financial 
statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying value of the Group’s 
vessels – owned and leased (including dry-docking) amounted 
to USD 2,206.4 million.

The Group has identified the relevant cash-generating units 
(“CGU”) for its fleet of vessels according to size, and mode of 
deployment in the generation of revenues; and performed its 
vessel impairment test according to its stated policy in 2.11. 
Vessels deployed in the three commercial pools – LR, MR and 
Handy constitute the Group’s most significant CGUs. Other 
CGUs refer to individual vessels under individual time-char-
ter contracts.

As described in Note 8(a), management has concluded pres-
ence of impairment indicators in the tankers market. 

The recoverable amounts of vessels by CGUs were assessed 
by management based on higher of fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. In determining the value in use, ex-
pected cash flows to be generated by the vessels’ CGUs were 
discounted to their present values, which requires significant 
judgement covering forecast freight rates, forecast operating 
costs and the discount rate(s) applied. 

We identified impairment of the vessels’ CGUs as a key audit 
matter because of its significance to the consolidated finan-
cial statements and because of the inherent uncertainty in-
volved in forecasting and discounting future cash flows.

We have performed the following audit procedures:

•	� We assessed the design and implementation of the Group’s key internal controls over the 
assessment of recoverable amounts of vessels’ CGUs;

•	� We assessed the Group’s process for identifying the relevant CGUs for its vessels for 
impairment testing;

•	� We challenged management’s assessment of indicators of impairment based on our own 
expectations developed from our knowledge of the Group and our experience of the tank-
er market;

•	� We evaluated the independence, competence and objectivity of the independent brokers 
engaged by the Group to appraise the market valuation of the vessels, including bench-
marking the valuations obtained with recent sale transactions of similar types of vessels;

•	� We assessed the Group’s forecasts of freight rates and related operating costs together 
with the principles applied in formulating the Group’s discounted cash flow models for 
the vessel CGUs;

•	� We challenged the key assumptions adopted by management with externally derived data 
as well as our own assessments in relation to the key inputs used in discounted cash flow 
(“DCF”) models; 

•	� We involved our corporate finance specialists to evaluate the discount rate(s) applied, 
with reference to the requirements of prevailing accounting standards;

•	� We assessed the sensitivity of the outcome of recoverable amounts of vessels CGUs to 
changes in key assumptions, including forecast freight rates and discount rate(s) applied 
and considered whether there were any indicators of management bias in the selection 
of the key assumptions.

We found the recoverable amounts of the vessels CGUs using the value-in-use calculations, 
as adopted by management to be aligned with general market expectations.
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P. 92 Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information com-
prises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other infor-
mation, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with  
Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Company’s and the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or the Group 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s and 
the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial  
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 

can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 �Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 �Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to de-
sign audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s or the 
Group’s internal controls.

•	 �Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•	 �Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
or the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the 
related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditors’ report.  However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company or the Group to cease to continue as a going concern. 

•	 �Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial state-
ments, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 �Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the con-
solidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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P. 93We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other mat-
ters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have com-
plied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine 
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these 
matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report 
is Kenny Tan Choon Wah.

KPMG LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants

Singapore
7 March 2021
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P. 94 Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the financial year ended  
31 December 2020 Note

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Revenue 3 874,099  827,855 

Voyage expenses 4 (250,885)  (313,425)

TCE income # 623,214 514,430

Other operating income 22,974 12,335

Vessel operating expenses 4 (200,666) (184,746)

Technical management expenses (16,686) (15,433)

Charter hire expenses (26,980) (16,867)

Other expenses 4 (39,007) (31,879)

Operating profit before  
depreciation and amortisation 
charges 362,849 277,840

Loss on disposal of vessel (1,447)   (732)

Depreciation charge of property, 
plant and equipment 8 (155,430) (131,145)

Amortisation charge of intangible 
assets 9 (1,014) (360)

Write-down on reclassification to 
assets held for sale (11,389) -

Operating profit 193,569 145,603

Interest income 2,014   3,689 

Interest expense (46,945)  (67,007)

Capitalised financing fees  
written off

- (9,314)

Other finance expense (2,238)   (1,078)

Finance expense – net (47,169) (73,710)

Share of profit of equity- 
accounted investees, net of tax 15 5,030 856 

Profit before income tax 151,430 72,749

Income tax expense 6 (2,654) (1,015)

Profit for the financial year 148,776 71,734

For the financial year ended  
31 December 2020 Note

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Other comprehensive loss:

Items that may be subsequently 
reclassified to profit or loss:

Fair value losses on cash flow 
hedges (22,103) (7,266)

Reclassification to profit or loss 12,644 410
Other comprehensive loss, net 
of tax (9,459) (6,856)

Total comprehensive income for 
the year 139,317 64,878

Earnings per share attributable to 
the equity holders of the Company

(expressed in USD per share)

Basic earnings per share 7 0.41 0.21

Diluted earnings per share 7 0.41 0.21

# “TCE income” denotes “time charter equivalent income” which represents revenue from time 
charters and voyage charters less voyage expenses comprising primarily brokers’ commission, 
fuel oil and port charges. TCE is a standard-measure used in the shipping industry for reporting of 
income, providing improved comparability across different types of charters.
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As at 31 December 2020 Note
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Vessels 8 2,029,138  2,123,179 

Dry docking and scrubbers 8 69,901 59,306

Right-of-use assets 8 107,376 129,366

Other property, plant and 
equipment 8 25   100 

Total property, plant and  
equipment 2,206,440 2,311,951

Intangible assets 9 4,424 3,159

Total intangible assets 4,424 3,159

Derivative financial instruments 21 26 -

Deferred tax assets 36 36
Loans receivable from joint ven-
ture 14 45,430 29,584
Associated companies and joint 
venture 15 6,773 1,718 

Total other non-current assets 52,265 31,338

Total non-current assets 2,263,129 2,346,448

Assets held for sale 11 11,000 -

Inventories 12 5,228 6,986

Trade and other receivables 13 163,639 233,489

Derivative financial instruments 21 245   2,737 

Cash and cash equivalents 16 100,671 91,612

Total current assets 280,783 334,824

Total assets 2,543,912 2,681,272

Consolidated balance sheet

As at 31 December 2020 Note
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Share capital 17 3,703 3,703

Share premium 17 704,834 704,834

Contributed surplus 17 537,112  537,112 

Other reserves 18 (14,148)   (5,725)

Treasury shares (13,001) (500)

Accumulated losses (70,462) (120,920)

Total shareholders’ equity 1,148,038 1,118,504

Borrowings 20 1,128,210 1,234,796

Other payables 22 - 1,238

Derivative financial instruments 21 15,973   6,514 

Total non-current liabilities 1,144,183 1,242,548

Borrowings 20 179,084   213,330

Derivative financial instruments 21 18 -

Current income tax liabilities 2,071   1,416 

Trade and other payables 22 70,518 105,474

Total current liabilities 251,691 320,220

Total liabilities 1,395,874 1,562,768

Total equity and liabilities 2,543,912 2,681,272
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Note

Share
capital

USD ’000

Share
premium
USD ’000

Con- 
tributed
surplus

USD ’000

Trans- 
lation

reserve
USD ’000

Hedging
reserve

USD ’000

Treasury
shares

USD ’000

Share-based
payment
reserve

USD ’000

Accumulated
losses 

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

Balance at 1 January 2020 3,703 704,834 537,112 (34) (6,514) (500) 823 (120,920) 1,118,504

Transactions with owners

Treasury shares acquired - - - - - (12,641) - - (12,641)

Equity-settled share-based payment - - - - - 140 1,036 - 1,176

Dividends paid 30 - - - - - - - (98,318) (98,318)

Total comprehensive income

Profit for the financial year - - - - - - - 148,776 148,776

Other comprehensive loss - - - - (9,459) - - - (9,459)

Balance at 31 December 2020 3,703 704,834 537,112 (34) (15,973) (13,001) 1,859 (70,462) 1,148,038

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Note

Share
capital

USD ’000

Share
premium
USD ’000

Con- 
tributed
surplus

USD ’000

Capital
reserve

USD ’000

Trans- 
lation

reserve
USD ’000

Hedging
reserve

USD ’000

Treasury
shares

USD ’000

Share-based
payment
reserve

USD ’000

Accumulated
losses 

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

Balance at 1 January 2019 1,962 221,220 537,112 50,011 - 3,158 - - (242,384) 571,079

Alignment of accounting policies on merger 2.2 - - - - - - - - 2,097 2,097

Transactions with owners

Issue of shares to former shareholders of Hafnia Tankers 2.2 1,470 411,872 - - - - - - - 413,342

Acquisition of Hafnia Tankers’ reserves 2.2 - - - - (34) (1,874) (14,038) - (75,892) (91,838)

Merger accounting adjustments 2.2

- Merger deficit on combination - - - - - - - - (72,571) (72,571)

- Acquisition of NCI of former Hafnia Tankers - - - - - (942) - - 146,085 145,143

- Cancellation of treasury shares of former Hafnia Tankers - - - - - - 14,038 - - 14,038

Treasury shares acquired - - - - - - (500) - - (500)

Equity-settled share-based payment - - - - - - - 823 - 823

Issue of common shares (net of capitalised listing fees) 17 271 71,742 - - - - - - - 72,013

Transfer of reserve

Transfer of reserve - - - (50,011) - - - - 50,011 -

Total comprehensive income

Profit for the financial year - - - - - - - - 71,734 71,734

Other comprehensive loss - - - - - (6,856) - - - (6,856)

Balance at 31 December 2019 3,703 704,834 537,112 - (34) (6,514) (500) 823 (120,920) 1,118,504
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For the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020 Note

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit for the financial year 148,776 71,734

Adjustments for:

- income tax expense 2,654 1,015

- depreciation and amortisation charges 156,444 131,505

- write-down on reclassification to assets held  
 for sale 11,389 -

- loss on disposal of vessel 1,447 732

- interest income (2,014) (3,689)

- interest expense 46,945 67,007

- capitalised financing fees written off - 9,314

- other finance expense 2,238 1,078

- share of profit of equity-accounted investees, 
 net of tax (5,030) (856)

- equity-settled share-based payment 
 transactions 1,176 823

Operating cash flow before working capital 
changes 364,025 278,663

Changes in working capital:

- inventories 1,758 21,108

- trade and other receivables 70,733 (82,901)

- trade and other payables (36,043) 26,288

Cash generated from operations 400,473 243,158

Income tax paid (1,999) (330)

Net cash provided by operating activities 398,474 242,828

Consolidated statement of cash flows

For the financial year
ended 31 December 2020 Note

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest income received 822 1,717

Loan to joint venture company 14 (14,680) (53,150)

Repayment of loan by joint venture company 14 - 39,900

Dividend received from equity-accounted inves-
tees - 1,748

Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired - (3,279)

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash  
acquired - (155)

Purchase of intangible assets 9 (1,019) (439)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
equipment 11,899 9,799

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 8 (47,578) (278,574)

Net cash used in investing activities (50,556) (282,433)

(continued on next page)
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For the financial year 
ended 31 December 2020 Note

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from borrowings from external 
financial institutions 118,939 718,300

Proceeds from borrowings from non-related 
parties - 3,117

Repayment of borrowings to external financial 
institutions (221,700) (598,293)

Repayment of borrowings to a related  
corporation (8,729) (44,525)

Repayment of borrowings to non-related  
parties (437) (375)

Repayment of lease liabilities (78,746) (39,010)

Payment of financing fees (196) (6,629)

Interest paid to external financial institutions (35,087) (55,208)

Interest paid to a related corporation - (1,901)

Repurchase of treasury shares (12,641) (500)

Dividends paid 30 (98,318) -

Proceeds from issuance of common shares 
(net of capitalised listing fees) 17 - 72,013

Other finance expense paid (1,944) (1,771)

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing 
activities (338,859) 45,218

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,059 5,613

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 
financial year 91,612 52,463

Acquisition of Hafnia Tankers’ cash and cash 
equivalents on merger - 33,536

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the
financial year 16 100,671 91,612

Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
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Non-cash changes - USD ’000

1 January 
2020

USD ’000

Financial
cash

flows (i)
USD ’000

Additional 
leases  

capitalised 
during the 

year
Interest
expense

Fair value 
changes on

 cash flow 
hedges

Other finance 
expense/

(income)

 
31 December

2020
USD ’000

Bank borrowings 1,211,048 (134,608) - 33,941 - 146 1,110,527 

Loan from a related corporation 8,500 (8,729) - 229 - - - 

Loan from non-related parties 5,172 (437) - 46 - - 4,781 

Lease liabilities 223,406 (78,746) 38,076 9,250 - - 191,986

Derivative financial instruments 6,514 (3,436) - 3,479 9,459 (25) 15,991 

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

Non-cash changes - USD ’000

1 January 
2019

USD ’000

Borrowings/
derivatives 

acquired on 
merger

USD ’000

Financial
cash

flows (i)
USD ’000

Additional 
leases  

capitalised 
during the 

year
Interest
expense

Fair value 
changes on

 cash flow 
hedges

Other finance 
expense/

(income)

 
31 December

2019
USD ’000

Bank borrowings 645,453 441,854 58,575 - 65,166 - - 1,211,048

Loan from a related corporation 44,531 8,530 (46,426) - 1,865 - - 8,500

Loan from non-related parties - 2,402 2,742 - 28 - - 5,172

Lease liabilities 25,019 137,223 (39,010) 90,921 8,852 - 401 223,406

Derivative financial instruments (3,128) 2,816 (405) - 410 6,856 (35) 6,514

(i) The cash flows make up the net amount of proceeds from borrowings, repayments of borrowings, interest expense and financing fees paid as reported in the statement of cash flows.
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1. 	 General information 
1.1		 General information

Hafnia Limited (the “Company”), is incorporated and domiciled in Bermuda. 
The address of its registered office is Washington Mall Phase 2, 4th Floor, 
Suite 400, 22 Church Street, HM 1189, Hamilton HM EX, Bermuda.

The principal activity of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) re-
lates to the provision of global maritime services in the product tankers 
market.

1.2		 Business impacts from Covid-19 pandemic 
The World Health Organization declared a global pandemic in March 2020 
as a result of Covid-19. The effects of this health crisis are continuing to 
unfold and the ultimate extent of the social, medical and economic impacts 
worldwide remains unknown as at the date of this report. The Group has con-
sidered the impact of Covid-19 in preparing its financial report for the year.

The product tanker market experienced a volatile market in 2020, with re-
cord highs and (near) record lows recorded due to disruptions from the 
Covid-19 pandemic. In 1H 2020, disruptions from the oil price war led to 
unprecedented demand for tanker floating storage, causing a market “su-
per-spike” in earnings. However, the second half of the year saw earnings 
declined as the second-wave of Covid-19 infections across many countries 
resulted in lockdown measures, which further impacted oil demand. 

The critical accounting estimates and key judgement areas of the Group 
have required additional consideration and analysis due to the impact of 
Covid-19. The impact of Covid-19 increases the level of judgement required 
across a number of key areas across the Group, in particular the impairment 
of non-financial assets. These assumptions and considerations are further 
outlined in Note 8 Property, plant and equipment.

Other Covid-19 assessments conducted by the Group were extended to 
liquidity risk management (refer to Note 26(c)), debt covenants test (refer to 

Note 26(d)), credit default on financial assets (refer to Note 26(b)) entered with 
counterparties. There were no negative or adverse impacts on the Group’s 
financial risk management. Neither did the Group find it necessary to record 
any impairment losses on the Group’s fleet of vessels, notwithstanding the 
risk of estimation uncertainties embedded in the assessment of the recov-
erable amounts of the Group’s vessels, as disclosed in Note 2.4(b).

2. 	 Significant accounting policies
2.1		 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the 
accounting policies below.

2.2		 Scheme of reorganisation and merger of entities  
		  (the “Merger”)

On 16 January 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hafnia Limited (former-
ly known as BW Tankers Limited), BW Tankers Corporation, merged with 
Hafnia Tankers Limited (“Hafnia Tankers”), another fellow subsidiary of BW 
Group Limited (“BW Group”). The merger was effected through a share swap 
arrangement, where newly issued shares of BW Tankers Limited were ex-
changed for all outstanding shares of Hafnia Tankers Limited. On 21 January 
2019, BW Tankers Corporation was merged with BW Tankers Limited without 
consideration in a simplified parent and subsidiary merger. BW Tankers 
Limited, the surviving entity, then changed its name to Hafnia Limited.

As both BW Tankers Limited and Hafnia Tankers Limited were under common 
control of BW Group before and after the merger, the Company applied the 
common control exemption and accounted for the opening balance of the 
merged group using the book value accounting method. Under the book 
value accounting method, the combined assets, liabilities and reserves of 
the merged companies were recorded at their existing carrying amounts at 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial statements
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BW Tankers 
Limited

at 1 January 
2019

USD ’000

Hafnia  
Tankers  
Limited

at 1 January 
2019

USD ’000

Merger
adjustments

USD ’000

Total 
opening 

balances
at 1 January 

2019
USD ’000

Property, plant and equipment 1,171,838 850,170 - 2,022,008

Other current and non-current assets 144,339 139,691 - 284,030

Total assets 1,316,177 989,861 - 2,306,038

Borrowings 689,984 450,595 - 1,140,579

Lease liabilities - 96,751 - 96,751

Other current and non-current liabilities 53,017 34,401 - 87,418

Total liabilities 743,001 581,747 - 1,324,748

Share capital1 1,962 339 1,131 3,432

Share premium1 221,220 354,470 57,402 633,092

Contributed surplus 537,112 – - 537,112

Treasury shares - (14,038) 14,038 -

Translation reserve - (34) - (34)

Hedging reserve 3,158 (1,874) (942) 342

Accumulated losses2 (190,276) (75,892) 73,514 (192,654)

Non-controlling interests3 - 145,143 (145,143) -

Total equity 573,176 408,114 – 981,290

Note 1 – USD 58.5 million represents the difference be-

tween the consideration paid of USD 413.3 million in the 

form of new issued shares of the Company and acquisi-

tion of Hafnia Tankers old shares of USD 354.8 million.

Note 2 – USD 73.5 million comprises the following ad-

justments:

(a)	� Book value accounting adjustment of USD 72.6 

million, i.e. a difference between the consideration 

paid of USD 413.3 million and the capital of Hafnia 

Tankers Limited of USD 340.7 million;

(b)	� Reallocation of USD 0.9 million from non-controlling 

interests to hedging reserve. 

Note 3 – USD 145.1 million of non-controlling interests 

of a subsidiary under Hafnia Tankers Limited who be-

came shareholders of Hafnia Limited on completion of 

the merger between BW Tankers and Hafnia Tankers. 

Uniformity of accounting policies
On merger of BW Tankers Limited and Hafnia 
Tankers Limited, all significant accounting 
policies have been uniformly applied in the 
preparation of the opening consolidated finan-
cial statements. As a consequence, there is an 
adjustment amounting to USD 2.1 million for 
the capitalisation of lubricating oils onboard 
vessels in the balance of accumulated losses 
as at 1 January 2019.

the date of merger. Any adjustments that may be re-
quired in equity to reflect the difference between the 
consideration paid and the capital of the acquiree was 
recognised directly in accumulated losses.
 
The merger of BW Tankers Limited and Hafnia Tankers 
Limited was performed on a relative net asset value 
(“NAV”) basis, where the NAV of both merging entities 
were evaluated, added together and shareholdings al-
located based on the proportionate contributions to 
the NAV of the merged entity. The NAV utilised in the 
exercise was performed based on the standalone fi-
nancial statements of the merging entities. As a result, 

by utilising the book values of the merging entities from 
the standalone financial statements’ perspective, man-
agement believed that such an approach better reflect-
ed the economics of the merger, and provided more 
relevant information to the shareholders. As a matter 
of practical expediency, management had effected the 
merger utilising the adjusted book values of both merg-
ing entities as at the beginning of the reporting period, 1 
January 2019 as the financial effect of 16 days was not 
material to the financial position of the Group. 

A summary of the combined assets, liabilities and re-
serves of the merged entities are presented below.
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P. 102 2.3		 Changes in accounting policies
		  Amendments to published standards effective in 2020

The Group has adopted the following relevant amendments to standards as 
of 1 January 2020:

•	 Amendments to Reference to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
•	 Definition of Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)
•	 Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)
•	 �Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and 

IFRS 7) (early adopted from 1 January 2019)
•	 �Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to 

IAS 1) (early adopted from 1 January 2020)

The adoption of these new standards and amendments to the published 
standards does not have a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS39 and IFRS 7)
Back during the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group early applied the 
interest rate benchmark reform amendments retrospectively to hedging 
relationships that existed at 1 January 2019 or were designated thereafter 
and that are directly affected by interest rate benchmark reform. Those 
amendments also applied to the gain or loss recognised in other comprehen-
sive income that existed at 1 January 2019. The related disclosures about 
risks and hedge accounting are disclosed in Note 26(a).

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)
The Group has early adopted “Classification of liabilities as Current or 
Non-current (Amendments to IAS 1)” during the current year. With this 
adoption, the Group continues to classify its revolving credit facilities which 
mature from 2022 to 2026 whose outstanding balances as at 31 December 
2020 amount to USD 152.0 million (2019:USD 120.0 million) as “non-current”.

Under existing IAS 1 requirements, the Group classifies a liability as current 
when they do not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the lia-
bility for at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period. As part 
of its amendments, International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) has 
removed the requirement for a right to be unconditional and instead, now 
requires that a right to defer settlement must have substance and exist at the 

end of the reporting period. IASB has now clarified that a right to defer exists 
only if the Group complies with conditions specified in the loan agreement at 
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does not test compliance 
until a later date. The existing requirement to ignore management’s intentions 
or expectations for settling a liability when determining its classification is 
unchanged. The Group classifies a liability as non-current if it has a right 
to defer settlement for at least twelve months after the reporting period.

New standard and amendments to published standards, effective in 2021 
and subsequent years

The following new standard and amendments, which are relevant to the 
Group’s operations but have not been early adopted, have been published 
and are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2021 (or otherwise stated) or later periods:

(a) 		  Amendments:
•	 �Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 

39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16) (effective 1 January 2021 or later)
•	 �Property, plant and equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use (Amend-

ments to IAS 16) (effective 1 January 2022 or later)
•	 �Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (Amendments to IAS 37) 

(effective 1 January 2022 or later)
•	 �Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to IFRS 3) (effec-

tive 1 January 2022 or later)

(b)		  New standard:
•	 �IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective 1 January 2023 or later) 

The adoption of these new standard and amendments in future periods is 
not expected to give rise to a material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.

2.4		 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions discussed below.
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P. 103Certain amounts included in or affecting the consolidated financial statements 
and related disclosures are estimated, requiring the Group to make assumptions 
with respect to values or conditions which cannot be known with certainty at the 
time the consolidated financial statements are prepared. A critical accounting 
estimate or assumption is one which is both important to the portrayal of the 
Group’s financial condition and results and requires management’s most dif-
ficult, subjective or complex judgements, often as a result of the need to make 
estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. Management 
evaluates such estimates on an ongoing basis, using historical results and ex-
perience, consideration of relevant trends, consultation with experts and other 
methods considered reasonable in the particular circumstances.

The following is a summary of estimates and assumptions which have a 
material effect on the accounts.

(a) 		  Useful life and residual value of assets
The Group reviews the useful lives and residual values of its vessels at least 
at each financial year-end and any adjustments are made on a prospective 
basis. Residual value is estimated as the lightweight tonnage of each vessel 
multiplied by the expected scrap value per ton. If estimates of the residual 
values are revised, the amounts of depreciation charges in the future pe-
riods will be changed.

There was no significant change to the estimated residual values of any ves-
sel for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

The useful lives of the vessels are assessed periodically based on the condi-
tion of the vessels, market conditions and other regulatory requirements. If 
the estimates of useful lives for the vessels are revised or there is a change 
in useful lives, the amounts of depreciation charges recorded in future 
periods will be changed. 

(b) 		  Impairment/Reversal of impairment of non-financial assets
Property, plant and equipment are tested for impairment whenever there is 
any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired or a 
reversal of previously recognised impairment charge may be required. The 
recoverable amount of an asset, and where applicable, a cash-generating 
unit (“CGU”), is determined based on the higher of fair value less costs to 
sell and value-in-use calculations prepared on the basis of management’s 
assumptions and estimates.

All impairment calculations demand a high degree of estimation, which in-
clude assessments of the expected cash flows arising from such assets 
under various modes of deployment, and the selection of discount rates. 
Changes to these estimates may significantly impact the impairment charges 
recognised, and future changes may lead to reversals of any previously 
recognised impairment charges. The Group views that the forecast of future 
freight rates, representing the main driver of recoverable amounts of the 
Group’s vessels to be inherently difficult to estimate. This is further compli-
cated by the volatility in oil prices cause by geopolitics and macroeconomic 
forces, together with the cyclical nature of freight rates prevailing in the 
tankers market.

See Note 8 for further disclosures on estimation of the recoverable amounts 
of vessels, together with related sensitivity analysis on assumptions used.
 

(c) 		  Revenue recognition
All freight voyage charter revenues and voyage expenses are recognised 
on a percentage of completion basis. Load-to-discharge basis is used in 
determining the percentage of completion for all spot voyages and voyages 
servicing contracts of affreightment. Under the load-to-discharge method, 
freight voyage charter revenue is recognised evenly over the period from 
the point of loading of the current voyage to the point of discharge of the 
current voyage. 

Management uses its judgement in estimating the total number of days of 
a voyage based on historical trends, the operating capability of the vessel 
(speed and fuel consumption), and the distance of the trade route. Actual 
results, however, may differ from estimates. 

Demurrage revenue is recognised as revenue from voyage charters in profit 
or loss, based on past experience of demurrages recovered over total esti-
mated claims issued to customers historically.

2.5		 Revenue and income recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of consideration received or receivable 
for the rendering of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities, 
net of rebates, discounts and off-hire charges, and after eliminating sales 
within the Group.



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 104 (a) 		  Rendering of services 
Revenue from rendering of services in the ordinary course of business is 
recognised when the Group satisfies a performance obligation (“PO”) by 
transferring control of a promised good or service to the customer. The 
amount of revenue recognised is the amount of the transaction price allo-
cated to the satisfied PO.

Revenue from time charters, accounted for as operating leases, is recognised 
rateably over the rental periods of such charters, as services are performed. 

Revenue from freight voyage charters is recognised rateably over the 
estimated length of the voyage within the respective reporting period, in 
the event the voyage commences in one reporting period and ends in the 
subsequent reporting period. The Group determines the percentage of 
completion of freight voyage charter using the load-to-discharge method. 
Under the load-to-discharge method, freight voyage charter revenue is 
recognised rateably over the period from the point of loading of the current 
voyage to the point of discharge of the current voyage. 

Losses arising from time or voyage charters are provided for in full as soon 
as they are anticipated.

The Group has vessels which participate in commercial pools in which other 
vessel owners with similar, high-quality, modern and well-maintained vessels 
also participate. These pools employ experienced commercial charterers and 
operators who have established relationships with customers and brokers, 
while technical management is arranged by each vessel owner. The man-
agers of the pools negotiate charters with customers primarily in the spot 
market. The earnings allocated to vessels are aggregated and divided on the 
basis of a weighted scale, or pool point system, which reflects comparative 
voyage results on hypothetical benchmark routes. The pool point system 
considers various factors such as size, fuel consumption, class notation 
and other capabilities. Pool revenues are recognised when the vessel has 
participated in a pool during the period and the amount of pool revenue for 
the period can be estimated reliably.

(b) 		  Management fees
Revenue from the provision of management support services is recognised 
over time based on the period of services provided.

(c) 		  Interest income
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest 
method.

2.6		 Group accounting
(a) 		  Subsidiaries

(1)	 Consolidation
Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the 
Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is ex-
posed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the 
date that control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, bal-
ances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are considered 
an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been aligned where necessary to ensure consistency 
with the policies adopted by the Group.

 
(2)	 Acquisitions 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business 
combinations by the Group.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or 
business comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration 
transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 
arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the 
subsidiary.
	
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date 
carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the ac-
quiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date, and any gains or 
losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss. 
	
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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P. 105Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities as-
sumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.
	
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.
	
The excess of (i) the consideration transferred, the amount of any 
non-controlling interest in the acquiree, and the acquisition-date fair 
value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the (ii) fair 
value of the net identifiable assets acquired, is recorded as goodwill.
	
The excess of (i) fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired over the 
(ii) consideration transferred; the amount of any non-controlling inter-
est in the acquiree; and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous 
equity interest in the acquiree; is recorded in profit or loss during the 
period when it occurs.

(3)	 Disposals
When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a 
loss of control over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary 
including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are also reclassified 
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings if required by 
a specific standard.

Any retained interest in the entity is re-measured at fair value. The dif-
ference between the carrying amount of the retained interest at the 
date when control is lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

(b)		  Associated companies and joint ventures
Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant in-
fluence, but not control or joint control. Significant influence is presumed to 
exist when the Group holds 20% or more of the voting rights of another entity.

Joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control as a result 
of contractual arrangements and rights to the net assets of the entities.

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures are accounted for in 
the consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting 
(net of accumulated impairment losses).

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for new and incre-
mental acquisitions in associated companies and joint ventures.

Investments in associated companies and joint ventures are initially recognised 
at cost. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets 
given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred or assumed at the date 
of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill on 
associated companies and joint ventures represents the excess of the cost of 
acquisition of the associated companies and joint ventures over the Group’s 
share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the associated companies 
or joint ventures and is included in the carrying amount of the investments. 

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the investee’s iden-
tifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the investment is recognised in 
profit or loss during the period when it occurs.

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associat-
ed companies’ and joint ventures’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recog-
nised in profit or loss and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive 
income is recognised in other comprehensive income. These post-acquisition 
movements and distributions received from associated companies and joint 
ventures are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investments. When 
the Group’s share of losses in an associated company or joint venture equals 
or exceeds its interest in the associated company or joint venture including 
any other unsecured non-current receivables, the Group does not recognise 
further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or has made payments on 
behalf of the associated company or joint venture.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated com-
panies and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the associated companies and joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the 
asset transferred. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 
statements of associated companies and joint ventures to ensure consistency 
of accounting policies with those of the Group.



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 106 Investments in associated companies and joint 
ventures are derecognised when the Group 
loses significant influence or joint control. Any 
retained interest in the equity is remeasured 
at its fair value. The difference between the 
carrying amount of the retained investment 
at the date when significant influence or joint 
control is lost and its fair value is recognised 
in profit or loss.

Gains and losses arising from partial disposals 
or dilutions in investments in associated com-
panies and joint ventures in which significant 
influence or joint control is retained are rec-
ognised in profit or loss.

2.7		 Property, plant and equipment

(a)		  Measurement	
(1) Property, plant and equipment are initially 
recognised at cost and subsequently carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and ac-
cumulated impairment losses.

(2) The cost of an item of property, plant and 
equipment initially recognised includes ex-
penditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the item. Dismantlement, remov-
al or restoration costs are included as part of 
the cost of property, plant and equipment if 
the obligation for dismantlement, removal or 
restoration is incurred as a consequence of 
acquiring the asset. 

(3) The acquisition cost capitalised to a vessel 
under construction is the sum of the instal-
ments paid plus other directly attributable 
costs incurred during the construction peri-
od including borrowing costs. Vessels under 

construction are reclassified as vessels upon 
delivery from the yard.

(4) If significant parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful lives, 
they are accounted for as separate compo-
nents of property, plant and equipment.

(b)		  Depreciation 
(1) Depreciation is calculated using a straight-
line method to allocate the depreciable 
amounts of property, plant and equipment, 
after taking into account the residual values 
over their estimated useful lives. The residual 
values, estimated useful lives and deprecia-
tion method of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at 
least annually. The effects of any revision are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes 
arise. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Vessels
- Tankers		 25 years
- Scrubbers	 5 years
- Dry-docking	 2.5 to 5 years

A proportion of the price paid for new ves-
sels is capitalised as dry docking. These costs 
are depreciated over the period to the next 
scheduled dry docking, which is generally 30 
to 60 months. At the commencement of new 
dry docking, the remaining carrying amount 
of the previous dry docking will be written off 
to profit or loss.

(2) Significant components of individual as-
sets are assessed and if a component has a 
useful life that is different from the remainder 
of that asset, that component is depreciated 
separately. The remaining carrying amount of 

the old component as a result of a replacement 
will be written off to profit or loss.

(c)		  Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, 
plant and equipment, including scrubbers and 
dry docking that has already been recognised, 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset 
only when it is probable that future econom-
ic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repair and main-
tenance expense is recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred.

(d)		  Disposal
On disposal of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is 
recognised in profit or loss.

2.8		 Intangible assets
The amortisation period and amortisation 
method of intangible assets other than good-
will are reviewed at least at each balance sheet 
date. The effects of any revision are recognised 
in profit or loss when the changes arise.

IT infrastructure and customer contracts
IT infrastructure and customer contracts 
acquired through business combinations are 
initially recognised at fair value. These intan-
gibles are subsequently carried at amortised 
cost less accumulated impairment losses us-
ing the straight-line method over their individ-
ual estimated useful lives of 5 years. 
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P. 1072.9		 Financial assets
(a)		  Recognition and initial measurement

Trade receivables are initially recognised when 
they are originated. Other financial assets are 
recognised when the Group becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair 
value plus transaction costs except for finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL), which are recognised at fair value. 
Transaction costs for financial assets at FVTPL 
are recognised immediately as expenses.

(b)		  Classification 
The Group classifies its financial assets at 
amortised cost and at FVTPL. The classifica-
tion depends on the business model in which 
a financial asset is managed and its contrac-
tual cash flows characteristics. Management 
determines the classification of its financial 
assets at initial recognition. Financial assets 
are not reclassified subsequent to their ini-
tial recognition unless the Group changes its 
business model for managing financial assets, 
in which case all affected financial assets are 
reclassified on the first day of the first report-
ing period following the change in the business 
model. The Group holds the following classes 
of financial assets: 

(1)	 Financial assets at amortised cost
A financial asset is classified as measured 
at amortised cost if it meets both of the 
following conditions and is not designated 
as at FVTPL: 

•	� it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

•	� its contractual terms give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount out-
standing.

They are presented as current assets, ex-
cept for those expected to be realised later 
than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date which are presented as non-current 
assets. They are presented as “trade and 
other receivables“ (Note 13), “loans re-
ceivable from joint venture (Note 14)” and 
“cash and cash equivalents” (Note 16) in 
the consolidated balance sheet.

(2)	 FVTPL financial assets
All financial assets not classified as meas-
ured at amortised cost as described above 
are measured at FVTPL.

(c)		  Business model assessment
The Group makes an assessment of the objec-
tive of the business model in which a financial 
asset is held at a portfolio level because this 
best reflects the way the business is managed 
and information is provided to management. 
The information considered includes:

•	� the stated policies and objectives for the 
portfolio and the operation of those poli-
cies in practice. These include whether 
management’s strategy focuses on earning 
contractual interest income, maintaining a 
particular interest rate profile, matching 
the duration of the financial assets to the 
duration of any related liabilities or expect-
ed cash outflows or realising cash flows 
through the sale of the assets;

•	�� the stated policies and objectives for the 
portfolio and the operation of those policies 
in practice;

•	�� how the performance of the portfolio is eval-
uated and reported to the Group’s manage-
ment;

•	�� the risks that affect the performance of the 
business model (and the financial assets 
held within that business model) and how 
those risks are managed;

•	� how managers of the business are compen-
sated – e.g. whether compensation is based 
on the fair value of the assets managed or 
the contractual cash flows collected; and

•	� the frequency, volume and timing of sales 
of financial assets in prior periods, the rea-
sons for such sales and expectations about 
future sales activity.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in 
transactions that do not qualify for derecogni-
tion are not considered sales for this purpose, 
consistent with the Group’s continuing recog-
nition of the assets.

(d)		  Subsequent measurement
Financial assets at FVTPL are subsequently 
carried at fair value. Financial assets at amor-
tised cost are subsequently carried at amor-
tised cost using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair values of financial assets at 
FVTPL including the effects of currency trans-
lation are recognised in profit or loss.
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P. 108 (e)		  Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cashflows in 
a transaction in which substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred or in which the Group 
neither retains substantially all of the risks and 
rewards of ownership and it does not retain 
control of the financial asset.

(f)		  Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the 
net amount reported in the consolidated balance 
sheet, when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset the recognised amounts and there is 
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(g)		  Impairment
For financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and contract assets, the Group assesses 
at each balance sheet date whether there is ob-
jective evidence that a financial asset or a group 
of financial assets is impaired and recognises 
an allowance for expected credit loss (ECL) at 
an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit 
loss if there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition. If the credit 
risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the Group recognises an allowance 
for ECL at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all 
possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument.

12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that 
results from default events that are possible 

within the 12 months after the reporting date 
(or a shorter period if the expected life of the 
instrument is less than 12 months).

The maximum period considered when esti-
mating ECLs is the maximum contractual period 
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.
For trade receivables and contract assets, the 
Group applied the simplified approach permitted 
by IFRS 9, which requires the loss allowance to 
be measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

The Group applies the general approach to 
provide for ECLs on all other financial instru-
ments. Under the general approach, the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
12-month ECLs at initial recognition.
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses 
whether the credit risk of a financial instru-
ment has increased significantly since initial 
recognition. When credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition, loss al-
lowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime ECLs. 

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of 
credit losses. Credit losses are measured at 
the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the 
difference between the cash flows due to the 
entity in accordance with the contract and the 
cash flows that the Group expects to receive). 
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest 
rate of the financial asset.

Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses 
whether financial assets carried at amortised 
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 

‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-im-
paired includes the following observable data:
•	 �significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
•	 �a breach of contract such as a default or 

being more than 90 days past due;
•	 �the restructuring of a loan or advance by 

the Group on terms that the Group would 
not consider otherwise;

•	 �it is probable that the debtor will enter bank-
ruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

•	 �the disappearance of an active market for 
a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the 
balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets meas-
ured at amortised cost and contract assets 
are deducted from the gross carrying amount 
of these assets.

When determining whether the credit risk of 
a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when estimating 
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative in-
formation and analysis, based on the Group’s 
historical experience, informed credit assess-
ment and other forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a fi-
nancial asset has increased significantly if the 
debtor is under significant financial difficulties, 
or when there is default or significant delay in 
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P. 109payments. The Group considers a financial as-
set to be in default when the debtor is unlikely 
to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, 
without recourse by the Group to actions such 
as realising security (if any is held). 

When the asset becomes uncollectible, it is 
written off against the allowance account. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previous-
ly written off are recognised against the same 
line item in profit or loss.

The allowance for impairment loss account is 
reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent 
period when the amount of ECL decreases 
and the related decrease can be objectively 
measured. The carrying amount of the asset 
previously impaired is increased to the extent 
that the new carrying amount does not exceed 
the amortised cost had no impairment been 
recognised in prior periods.

2.10	 Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified and meas-
ured at amortised cost. Directly attributable 
transaction costs are recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred.

The Group derecognises a financial liability 
when its contractual obligations are discharge 
or cancelled, or expire. The Group also derec-
ognises a financial liability when its terms are 
modified and the cash flows of the modified lia-
bility are substantially different, in which case 
a new financial liability based on the modified 
terms is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the dif-
ference between the carrying amount extin-

guished and the consideration paid (including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

2.11	 Impairment of non-financial 
		  assets

Property, plant and equipment are tested for 
impairment whenever there is objective evi-
dence or indication that these assets may be 
impaired. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, the re-
coverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair 
value less costs to sell and value-in-use) is 
determined on an individual asset basis un-
less the asset does not generate cash flows 
that are largely independent of those from oth-
er assets. If this is the case, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the CGU to which the 
asset belongs. 

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or 
CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
The impairment is then allocated to each sin-
gle vessel on a pro-rata basis, based on the 
carrying amount of each vessel in the CGU with 
the limit of the higher of fair value less cost 
of disposal and value in use. The difference 
between the carrying amount and recoverable 
amount is recognised as an impairment loss in 
profit or loss. 

An impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) other 
than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there 
has been a change in the estimate of the asset’s 
(or CGU’s) recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. The carrying 

amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to its 
revised recoverable amount, provided that this 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortisation and depreciation) 
had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal 
of impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) other 
than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss.

2.12 	 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, 
net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings 
are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of trans-
action costs) and the redemption value is rec-
ognised in profit or loss over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method. 

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities 
unless the Group has an unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after 
the balance sheet date, in which case they are 
presented as non-current liabilities.

The Group derecognises a borrowing when its 
contractual obligations are discharged, can-
celled, or expired. The Group also derecognis-
es a borrowing when its terms are modified 
and the cash flows of the modified liability are 
substantially different, in which case a new 
financial liability based on the modified terms 
is recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a borrowing, the difference 
between the carrying amount extinguished and 
the consideration paid (including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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P. 110 2.13	 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or 
loss using the effective interest method except 
for those costs that are directly attributable to 
the construction of vessels. This includes those 
costs on borrowings acquired specifically for 
the construction of vessels, as well as those in 
relation to general borrowings used to finance 
the construction of vessels.

Borrowing costs are capitalised in the cost 
of the vessel under construction. Borrowing 
costs on general borrowings are capitalised by 
applying a capitalisation rate to the construc-
tion expenditure that are financed by general 
borrowings.

2.14	 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for 
goods or services that have been acquired 
from suppliers in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. Trade and other payables are classified 
as current liabilities if payment is due within 
one year or less. If not, they are presented as 
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recog-
nised at fair value and subsequently carried 
at amortised cost using the effective inter-
est method, and are derecognised when the 
Group’s obligation has been discharged or 
cancelled or expired. 

2.15	 Derivative financial instruments 
		  and hedging activities 

A derivative financial instrument is initially 
recognised at its fair value on the date the 
contract is entered into and is subsequently 

carried at its fair value. The fair value of de-
rivative financial instruments represents the 
amount estimated by banks or brokers that 
the Group will receive or pay to terminate the 
derivatives at the balance sheet date.

For derivative financial instruments that are 
not designated or do not qualify for hedge ac-
counting, any fair value gains or losses are 
recognised in profit or loss as a finance item. 
In particular, gains and losses on currency 
derivatives are presented in profit or loss as 
‘foreign currency exchange gain/(loss) – net’, 
whilst gains and losses on other derivatives 
are presented in profit or loss as ’derivative 
gain/(loss) – net’, unless the gains and losses 
are material. 

The Group designates certain financial in-
struments in qualifying hedging relationships 
and documents at the inception of the trans-
action the relationship between the hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as well as its 
risk management objectives and strategies for 
undertaking various hedging transactions. The 
Group also documents its assessment, both 
at hedge inception and on a periodic basis, of 
whether the derivatives designated as hedg-
ing instruments are highly effective in offset-
ting changes in fair value or cash flows of the 
hedged items prospectively. For the purpose of 
evaluating whether the hedging relationship is 
expected to be highly effective (i.e. prospective 
effectiveness assessment), the Group assumes 
that the benchmark interest rate is not affected 
as a result of IBOR reform.

The Group enters into hedge relationships 
where the critical terms of the hedging in-
strument match exactly with the terms of the 

hedged item and no hedge ineffectiveness is 
deemed to exist. If changes in circumstances 
affect the terms of the hedged item such that 
the critical terms no longer match exactly with 
the critical terms of the hedging instrument, 
the Group uses the hypothetical derivative 
method to assess effectiveness.

Cash flow hedges – Interest rate derivatives
The Group has entered into interest rate swaps 
that are cash flow hedges for the Group’s ex-
posure to interest rate risk on its borrowings. 
These contracts entitle the Group to receive 
interest at floating rates on notional principal 
amounts and oblige the Group to pay interest 
at fixed rates on the same notional principal 
amounts, thus allowing the Group to raise bor-
rowings at floating rates and swap them into 
fixed rates.

The Group has also entered into several inter-
est rate caps that entitle the Group to receive 
interest payments when the floating interest 
rate goes above the strike rate. During the 
year ended 31 December 2020, these inter-
est rate caps were discontinued as hedging 
instruments and any fair value changes are 
recorded in profit or loss.

The fair value changes on the effective portion 
of these interest rate derivatives designated 
as cash flow hedges are recognised in other 
comprehensive income, accumulated in the 
hedging reserve and reclassified to profit or 
loss when the hedged interest expense on the 
borrowings is recognised in profit or loss. The 
fair value changes on the ineffective portion of 
these interest rate derivatives are recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.
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P. 111For a cash flow hedge of a forecast transac-
tion, the Group assumes that the benchmark 
interest rate will not be altered as a result of 
interbank offered rates (IBOR) reform for the 
purpose of asserting that the forecast trans-
action is highly probable and presents an ex-
posure to variations in cash flows that could 
ultimately affect profit or loss. The Group 
will no longer apply the amendments to its 
highly probable assessment of the hedged 
item when the uncertainty arising from in-
terest rate benchmark reform with respect 
to the timing and amount of the interest rate 
benchmark-based future cash flows of the 
hedged item is no longer present, or when 
the hedging relationship is discontinued. To 
determine whether the designated forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the Group assumes that the interest rate 
benchmark cash flows designated as a hedge 
will not be altered as a result of interest rate 
benchmark reform.

2.16	 Freight forward agreements and 
		  bunker swaps

The Group has entered into freight forward 
agreements and bunker collars to manage its 
exposure to freight rate and bunker prices 
respectively. Further details of derivative fi-
nancial instruments are disclosed in Note 21.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair 
value at the date the derivative contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeas-
ured to their fair value at the end of each 
reporting period. The resulting gain or loss 
is recognised in profit or loss immediately 
unless the derivative is designated and ef-
fective as a hedging instrument, in which 

event the timing of the recognition in profit 
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge 
relationship.

A derivative with a positive fair value is recog-
nised as a financial asset whereas a derivative 
with a negative fair value is recognised as a 
financial liability. Derivatives are not offset in 
the financial statements unless the Group has     
ative is presented as a non-current asset or a 
non-current liability if the remaining maturity 
of the instruments is more than 12 months and 
it is not expected to be realised or settled with-
in 12 months. Other derivatives are presented 
as current assets or current liabilities.

The Group does not apply hedge accounting 
and therefore all changes in fair values of for-
ward freight agreements and bunker swaps 
used for economic hedges are recognised in 
profit or loss.

2.17	� Fair value estimation of financial 
assets and liabilities 
The fair values of financial instruments traded 
in active markets (such as exchange-traded 
and over-the-counter securities and deriva-
tives) are based on quoted market prices at the 
balance sheet date. The quoted market prices 
used for financial assets are the current bid 
prices and the quoted market prices for finan-
cial liabilities are the current asking prices.

The fair values of financial instruments that 
are not traded in an active market are deter-
mined by using valuation techniques such as 
discounted cash flow analyses. The Group uses 
a variety of methods and makes assumptions 
that are based on market conditions existing 

at each balance sheet date. Where appropri-
ate, quoted market prices or dealer quotes for 
similar instruments are used.

The fair value of interest rate derivatives is 
calculated as the present value of the estimat-
ed future cash flows, discounted at actively 
quoted interest rates. The fair value of forward 
foreign exchange contracts is determined us-
ing forward exchange market rates at the bal-
ance sheet date.

The carrying amounts of current financial 
assets and liabilities, measured at amortised 
cost, approximate their fair values, due to the 
short term nature of the balances. The fair val-
ues of financial liabilities carried at amortised 
cost are estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at current market 
interest rates, determined as those that are 
available to the Group at balance sheet date 
for similar financial instruments.

2.18	 Leases
(a)		  When a group company is the lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses 
whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A 
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an iden-
tified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an iden-
tified asset, the Group uses the definition of a 
lease in IFRS 16.

For leases of vessels, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease and 
non-lease component on the basis of its rela-
tive stand-alone prices. However, for leases of 
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P. 112 property and other equipment, the Group has 
elected not to separate non-lease components 
and account for the lease and non-lease com-
ponents as a single lease component.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability at the lease commence-
ment date. The right-of-use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial 
amount of the lease liability adjusted for any 
lease payments made at or before the com-
mencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle 
and remove the underlying asset or to restore 
the underlying asset, less any lease incentives 
received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently carried 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and ac-
cumulated impairment losses. Depreciation is 
calculated using a straight-line method from 
the commencement date to the end of the lease 
term, unless the lease transfers ownership of 
the underlying asset to the Group by the end 
of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use 
asset reflects that the Group will exercise a 
purchase option. In that case, the right-of-use 
asset will be depreciated over the useful life 
of the underlying asset, which is determined 
on the same basis as those of property and 
equipment.

The lease liability is initially measured at the 
present value of the lease payments that are 
not paid at the commencement date, discount-
ed using the interest rate implicit in the lease 
or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the applicable incremental borrowing rate. 
Generally, the Group uses the incremental 
borrowing rates as the discount rates. The 

Group determines the incremental borrowing 
rates by obtaining interest rates from various 
external financing sources.

Lease payments included in the measurement 
of the lease liability comprise the following:

•	 �fixed payments, including in-substance fixed 
payments;

•	 �variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

•	 �amounts expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee;

•	 �exercise price under a purchase option that 
the Group is reasonably certain to exercise;

•	 �lease payments in an optional renewal pe-
riod if the Group is reasonably certain to 
exercise an extension option; and

•	 �payment of penalties for early termination 
of a lease unless the Group is reasonably 
certain that it will not terminate early.

The lease liability is subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. It is remeasured when:

•	 �there is a change in future lease payments 
arising from a change in an index or rate;

•	 �there is a change in the Group’s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee; or

•	 �there is a change in the Group’s assessment 
of whether it will exercise a purchase, ex-
tension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this 
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to 
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, 
or is recognised in profit or loss if the carry-

ing amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a 
part of total property, plant and equipment and 
lease liabilities in ‘borrowings’ in the consoli-
dated balance sheet.

Short-term and low value leases
The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases 
with lease terms that are less than 12 months 
and other low-value assets. Lease payments 
associated with these leases are recognised 
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

(b)		  When a group company is the lessor
The Group determines at lease inception 
whether each lease is a finance lease or an 
operating lease.

Finance leases
Leases of assets in which the Group transfers 
(leases out) substantially all risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of the leased asset to 
the lessees are classified as finance leases. 
The leased asset is derecognised and the pres-
ent value of the lease receivable (net of initial 
direct costs for negotiating and arranging 
the lease) is recognised on the consolidated 
balance sheet as finance lease receivables. 
The difference between the gross receivable 
and the present value of the receivable is rec-
ognised as unearned finance income. Lease 
income, included as part of revenue, is rec-
ognised over the lease term using the net in-
vestment method, which reflects a constant 
periodic rate of return.
The Group applies the derecognition and im-
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P. 113pairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net 
investment in the lease. The Group further 
regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed 
residual values used in calculating the gross 
investment in the lease.

Operating leases
Leases of assets in which the Group retains sub-
stantially all risks and rewards incidental to own-
ership are classified as operating leases. Assets 
leased out under operating leases are included 
in property, plant and equipment. Rental income 
(net of any incentives given to lessee) is recog-
nised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Intermediate leases
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it 
accounts for its interests in the head lease and 
the sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease 
classification of a sub-lease with reference to 
the right-of-use asset arising from the head 
lease, not with reference to the underlying as-
set. If a head lease is short-term lease to which 
the Group applies the exemption described 
above, the sub-lease is then classified as an 
operating lease.

(c)		  Sale and leaseback
A sale and leaseback transaction is where the 
Group transfers an asset to another entity (the 
buyer-lessor) and leases that asset back from 
the buyer-lessor.

Where the buyer-lessor obtains control of the 
transferred asset, the Group measures the 
right-of-use asset arising from the leaseback 
at the proportion of the previous carrying 
amount of the asset that relates to the right of 
use retained by the Group.
Where the buyer-lessor does not obtain con-

trol of the transferred asset, the Group con-
tinues to recognise the transferred asset and 
recognises a financial liability equal to the 
transfer proceeds.

2.19	 Inventories
Inventories comprise mainly fuel and lubricat-
ing oils which are used for operation of vessels. 

The cost of inventories includes purchase 
costs, as well as any other costs incurred in 
bringing inventory on board the vessel. Inven-
tories are accounted for on a first-in, first-out 
basis. Consumption of inventories is recog-
nised as an expense in profit or loss when the 
usage occurs.

2.20	 Income taxes
The tax expense for the period comprises cur-
rent and deferred taxes. Tax is recognised as 
income or expense in profit or loss, except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income in which case the 
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on 
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substan-
tively enacted at the balance sheet date in the 
countries where the Group operates and gen-
erates taxable income. Positions taken in tax 
returns are evaluated periodically, with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation, and provisions are 
established where appropriate, on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authori-
ties. In relation to accounting for tax uncertain-
ties, where it is more likely than not that the final 

tax outcome would be favourable to the Group, 
no tax provision is recognised until payment to 
the tax authorities is required, and upon which 
a tax asset, measured at the expected recover-
able amount, is recognised.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using 
the liability method, on temporary differenc-
es arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the consolidated financial statements. How-
ever, if the deferred income tax arises from 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a 
transaction other than a business combina-
tion that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss, 
it is not accounted for. Deferred income tax 
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date and are expected to 
apply when the related deferred income tax 
asset is realised or the deferred income tax 
liability is settled. 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable 
profit will be available against which the tem-
porary differences can be utilised. 

Deferred income tax is recognised on tem-
porary differences arising on income earned 
from investments in subsidiaries, except where 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary dif-
ference can be controlled by the Group and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when there is a legally enforceable right 
to offset current tax assets against current 
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P. 114 tax liabilities and when the deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either 
the taxable entity or different taxable entities 
where there is an intention to settle the bal-
ances on a net basis.

2.21 	 Employee benefits
Employee benefits are recognised as an ex-
pense, unless the cost qualifies to be classified 
as an asset.

(a)		  Defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans are post-employ-
ment benefit plans under which the Group pays 
fixed contributions into separate entities on a 
mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The 
Group has no further payment obligations once 
the contributions have been paid.

(b)		  Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are rec-
ognised when they accrue to employees. An 
accrual is made for the estimated liability for 
annual leave as a result of services rendered 
by employees up to the balance sheet date.

(c)		  Share-based payment
During the financial years ended 31 December 
2019 and 2020, the Group introduced Long 
Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) 2019 and LTIP 2020 
respectively. Under this scheme, the grant-
date fair value of equity-settled share-based 
payment arrangements granted to employees 
is generally recognised as an expense, with 
a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
vesting period of the awards. The amount rec-
ognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the 
number of awards for which the related ser-

vice and non-market performance conditions 
are expected to be met, such that the amount 
ultimately recognised is based on the number 
of awards that meet the related service and 
non-market performance conditions at the 
vesting date.

2.22	 Foreign currency translation
(a)		  Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of 
each entity in the Group are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environ-
ment in which the entity operates (the “func-
tional currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in United States 
Dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. All financial information presented 
in US dollars has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, unless otherwise stated.

(b)		  Transactions and balances
Transactions in a currency other than the 
functional currency (“foreign currency”) are 
translated into the functional currency using 
the exchange rates prevailing at the date of 
the transactions. Foreign currency exchange 
gains and losses resulting from the settlement 
of such transactions, and from the translation 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies at the closing rates at the 
balance sheet date, are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

2.23	 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the consol-
idated statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents include cash on hand and deposits 
held at call with financial institutions, which 

are subject to an insignificant risk of change 
in value. 

2.24	 Share capital 
Common shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the 
issuance of new equity instruments are taken 
to equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 
proceeds.

2.25	 Dividends
Interim dividends are recognised in the finan-
cial year in which they are declared payable 
and final dividends are recognised when the 
dividends are approved for payment by the di-
rectors and shareholders respectively.

2.26	 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation 
whereby as a result of past events, it is more 
likely than not that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation and a 
reliable estimate of the settlement amount can 
be made. When the Group expects a provision 
to be reimbursed, the reimbursement is rec-
ognised as a separate asset but only when the 
reimbursement is virtually certain. Provisions 
are not recognised for future operating losses.

For leased-in assets, the Group recognises a 
provision for the estimated costs of reinstate-
ment arising from the use of these assets. This 
provision is estimated based on the best esti-
mate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation, taking into consideration time value.
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P. 1152.27	 Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are accounted for as insurance contracts 
and treated as contingent liabilities until such time as they become probable 
that the Group will be required to make a payment under the guarantee. A 
provision is recognised based on the Group’s estimate of the ultimate cost 
of settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the balance sheet date. The pro-
vision is assessed by reviewing individual claims and tested for adequacy by 
comparing the amount recognised and the amount that would be required 
to settle the guarantee contract.

2.28	 Assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as assets held-for-sale when their carry-
ing amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a 
sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. The assets are not depreciated or 
amortised while they are classified as held for sale. Any impairment loss 
on initial classification and subsequent measurement is recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss. Any subsequent increase in fair value less costs to 
sell (not exceeding the accumulated impairment loss that has been previously 
recognised) is recognised in profit or loss.

2.29 	 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal 
reporting provided to management who are responsible for allocating re-
sources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

2.30	 Earnings per share
The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its ordi-
nary shares. Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or 
loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weight-
ed-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year, adjusted 
for own shares held. Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting 
the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted-av-
erage number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, 
for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share 
options granted to employees.

3. 	 Revenue 
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Revenue from time charter 79,819 40,498

Revenue from voyage charter 794,280 787,357

Total revenue 874,099 827,855

The Group’s revenue is generated from four main business segments: LR2 
Product Tankers, LR1 Product Tankers, MR Product Tankers and Handy 
Product Tankers. The table below presents disaggregation of revenue by 
business segments. 

Time charter hire income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the time charter period. Voyage charter revenue is recognised on a 
load-to-discharge basis, evenly over the period from the point of loading of 
the current voyage to the point of discharge of the current voyage.

Contract costs to obtain the contract, including voyage costs to arrive to the 
point of loading (‘ballast leg’ costs) are expensed in profit or loss as incurred. 

Payments for trade receivables generally are due immediately or within 7 
days from the invoice date. Information about trade receivables from con-
tracts with customers and contract assets is presented in Note 13.

LR2 
USD ’000

LR1 
USD ’000

MR 
USD ’000

Handy
USD '000

Total
USD ’000

2020

Revenue 58,644 276,827 427,557 111,071 874,099

2019

Revenue 25,452 299,831 389,777 112,795 827,855
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P. 116 4. 	 Expenses by nature 

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Fuel oil consumed (Note 12) 156,864 194,527

Port costs 78,817 98,466

Broker’s commission expenses 8,413 12,786

Other voyage expenses 6,791 7,646

Voyage expenses 250,885 313,425

Employee benefits (Note 5) 126,716 113,752

Maintenance and repair expenses 53,114 55,360

Insurance expenses 9,332 6,257

Other vessel operating expenses 11,504 9,377

Vessel operating expenses 200,666 184,746

Support service fee 1,561 4,601

Employee benefits (Note 5) 24,609 14,927

Other operating expenses 12,837 12,351

Other expenses 39,007 31,879

5. 	 Employee benefits

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Wages and salaries (Note 4) 151,325 128,679

6. 	 Income taxes
Based on the tax laws in the jurisdictions in which the Group and its subsidi-
aries operate, shipping profits are exempted from income tax. Non-shipping 
profits are taxed at the prevailing tax rate of each tax jurisdiction where 
the profit is earned.

Certain of the Group’s vessels are subject to the tonnage tax regime in 
Denmark, whose effect is not significant.

There is no income, withholding, capital gain or capital transfer taxes payable 
in Bermuda. The income tax expense reconciliation of the Group is as follows:

The Group’s shipping profits are essentially exempted from income tax, as 
granted by various ship registrars across the world. Tax losses incurred 
in the generation of exempted shipping profits are therefore not deductible 
against future taxable income.

Income tax expense
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Tax expense attributable to profit is made 
up of:

Current income tax 2,000 1,015

Changes in estimates related to prior 
years 654 -

2,654 1,015

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Profit before income tax 151,430 72,749

Tax calculated at a tax rate of 0% (2019: 
0%) - -

Effect of:

- Tax on non-shipping income 2,000 1,015

- Changes in estimates related to prior    
   years 654 -

Income tax expense 2,654 1,015
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P. 1177. 	 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable 
to equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of com-
mon shares outstanding during the financial year.

 
 
 

(b) Diluted earnings per share
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Weighted-average number of ordinary 
shares (basic) 364,363,154 347,048,727

Effect of share options on issue - -

Weighted-average number of ordinary 
shares at 31 December 364,363,154 347,048,727

Diluted earnings per share  
(USD per share) 0.41 0.21

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Net profit attributable to equity  
holders of the Company 148,776 71,734

(a) Basic earnings per share
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Issued common shares at 1 January 370,244,325 196,241,352

Effect of shares issued in relation to the 
Merger - 146,916,627

Effect of shares issued during Pre-listing 
Private Placement - 4,007,295

Effect of treasury shares held (5,881,171) (116,547)

Weighted-average number of ordinary 
shares at 31 December 364,363,154 347,048,727

Basic earnings per share  
(USD per share) 0.41 0.21

Diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting profit or loss at-
tributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for own shares held, for the effects of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which comprise share options granted 
to employees.

As at the balance sheet dates, the diluted weighted-average earnings per 
share is equivalent to the basic earnings per share, as 6,863,154 share 
options (2019: 3,431,577) have been excluded from the calculations as their 
effect would have been anti-dilutive.

The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calcu-
lating the dilutive effect of share options was based on quoted market prices 
for the period during which the options were outstanding.
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P. 118 8.	 Property, plant and equipment

Vessels
USD ’000

Dry docking 
and 

scrubbers
USD ’000

Vessels
under

construction
USD ’000

Right-of-use 
assets

USD ’000
Others

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

Cost

At 1 January 2020 2,950,070 88,979 - 152,889 155 3,192,093

Additions 14,722 32,848 - 38,076 8 85,654

Exercise of purchase options 22,389 - - (38,208) - (15,819)

Reclassification to assets held for sale (22,389) - - - - (22,389)

Disposal of vessel (14,438) (561) - - - (14,999)

Disposal of other property, plant and equipment - - - - (60) (60)

Write off on completion of dry docking cycle - (11,259) - - - (11,259)

At 31 December 2020 2,950,354 110,007 - 152,757 103 3,213,221

Accumulated depreciation and impairment charge

At 1 January 2020 826,891 29,673 - 23,523 55 880,142

Depreciation charge 95,679 22,015 - 37,677 59 155,430

Disposal of vessel (1,354) (323) - - - (1,677)

Disposal of other property, plant and equipment - - - - (36) (36)

Exercise of purchase options - - - (15,819) - (15,819)

Write off on completion of dry docking cycle - (11,259) - - - (11,259)

At 31 December 2020 921,216 40,106 - 45,381 78 1,006,781

Net book value 
31 December 2020 2,029,138 69,901 - 107,376 25 2,206,440
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Vessels
USD ’000

Dry docking 
and 

scrubbers
USD ’000

Vessels
under

construction
USD ’000

Right-of-use 
assets

USD ’000
Others

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

Cost

At 1 January 2019 1,766,605 48,866 117,495 21,170 - 1,954,136

Acquisition of vessels on merger with Hafnia Tankers 830,083 20,089 - 40,798 - 890,970

Additions 69,224 23,537 185,901 90,921 155 369,738

Cost adjustments - (88) - - - (88)

Transfer on delivery of vessel 295,131 8,265 (303,396) - - -

Disposal of vessel (10,973) (190) - - - (11,163)

Write off on completion of dry docking cycle - (11,500) - - (11,500)

At 31 December 2019 2,950,070 88,979 - 152,889 155 3,192,093

-

Accumulated depreciation and impairment charge

At 1 January 2019 738,728 22,401 - - - 761,129

Depreciation charge 88,644 18,923 - 23,523 55 131,145

Disposal of vessel (481) (151) - - - (632)

Write off on completion of dry docking cycle - (11,500) - - - (11,500)

At 31 December 2019 826,891 29,673 - 23,523 55 880,142

Net book value  
31 December 2019 2,123,179 59,306 - 129,366 100 2,311,951

(a)		  As described in Note 2.2, post-merger, the 
Group re-organised the commercial man-
agement of the combined fleet of vessels 
into 3 individual commercial pools: LR, MR 
and Handy. Each individual commercial pool 
constitutes a separate cash-generating unit 
(“CGU”). For vessels deployed on a time-char-
ter basis outside the commercial pools, each 
of these vessels constitutes a separate CGU. 
Any time-chartered in vessels which are rec-
ognised as ROU assets by the Group and sub-
sequently deployed in the commercial pools 
have been included as part of the pool CGUs. 

As at 31 December 2020, the Group assessed 
whether these CGUs had indicators of impair-
ment by reference to internal and external fac-
tors according to its stated policy set out in Note 
2.4(b). With a decline observed in the market 
valuation of the fleet of vessels, together with 
oil demand remaining under pressure and com-
bined with the on-going oil supply cuts during 
the COVID-19 pandemic, the tanker market con-
tinues to face challenges since the second half 
of 2020. Accordingly, the Group concluded that 
there are indicators that the Group’s vessels 
under the respective CGUs may be impaired. 

Impairment of vessels was assessed by man-
agement based on the higher of fair value less 
costs of disposal and value in use. In deter-
mining the value in use, expected cash flows 
were discounted to their present value. This 
requires significant management judgement 
relating to forecast spot freight rates, forecast 
operating costs and the discount rate applied. 

Pool CGUs
The value in use calculation for vessels de-
ployed in commercial pools was based on the 
following key assumptions:
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P. 120 i.	� Owned vessels’ cash flows were projected 
based on the average remaining useful lives 
of vessels ranging from 10 – 23 years given 
the current age profile of the tanker fleet;

ii.	� Chartered-in vessels’ (ROU assets) cash 
flows were projected based on the re-
maining charter period of each vessel;

iii.	� Spot freight rates estimated in the peri-
od from 2021 to 2025 were estimated 
by the in-house commercial team and 
benchmarked against rates provided by 
research houses and industry analysts. 
Beyond 2025, the spot freight rate was 
projected based on 10-year historical av-
erage rates, adjusted for expected infla-
tion of 2.5%;

iv	� A pre-tax discount rate of 6.9% was applied;
v.	� Average earning days were estimated at 

360 days per vessel;
vi.	� Vessel operating expenses were projected 

at an annual increase of 2.5% per annum;

Under the stated assumptions above, the re-
coverable amount of each Pool CGU contin-
ues to be in excess of the carrying amounts 
of vessels and ROU assets deployed in each 
Pool CGU.

Individual vessel CGUs
The value in use calculation for vessels de-
ployed on a time-charter basis outside the 
commercial pools was based on the following 
key assumptions:

i.	� Cash flows were projected based on the 
remaining useful life of each vessel;

ii.	� Contractual freight rates till the end of the 
charter period of each vessel;

iii.	� Spot freight rates as estimated by in-
house commercial team and benchmarked 

against rates provided by research houses 
and industry analysts for the period from 
the end of the charter period to 2025. Be-
yond 2025, the freight rate was projected 
based on 10-year historical average rates, 
adjusted for expected inflation of 2.5%;

iv.	� A pre-tax discount rate of 6.9% was applied;
v.	� Average earning days were estimated at 

360 days per vessel;
vi.	� Vessel operating expenses were projected 

at an annual increase of 2.5% per annum;

Under the stated assumptions above, the re-
coverable amounts of the vessels deployed in 
the individual CGUs continues to be in excess of 
the individual carrying amounts of these CGUs. 

The calculation of the value in use is sensitive 
to changes in the key assumptions which are 
related to future fluctuations in freight rates 
and the WACC applied as discounting factor in 
the calculations. All other things being equal, 
the sensitivities to the value in use have been 
assessed for both pool and individual vessel 
CGUs and are as follows:

Pool CGUs
i.	� A decrease in the near-term forecasted 

freight rates for Y1 (2021) and Y2 (2022) 
in a range from 5% to 10% across all pool 
CGUs, assuming other variables remain 
constant, will result in a decrease in value-
in-use of the CGUs in the range of USD 40.8 
million to USD 81.5 million respectively, 
without any need for impairment;

ii.	� A decrease in the long-range forecast-
ed freight rates from 2025 onwards in 
a range from 5% to 10% across all pool 
CGUs, assuming other variables remain 
constant, will result in a decrease in val-

ue-in-use of the CGUs in the range from 
USD 133.6 million to USD 267.2 million re-
spectively. With a 5% decrease, there are 
no impairment losses for the CGUs. Only 
the effect of a 10% decrease in long-range 
forecasted freight rates shall result in an 
impairment loss of USD 45.5 million;

iii.	� An increase in WACC of 1.0% would result 
in a decrease in the value in use of USD 
131.6 million, without any need for impair-
ment. 

Individual vessel CGUs
i.	� A decrease in the forecasted freight rates 

upon expiry of existing charter contracts 
in a range from 5% to 10% across all in-
dividual vessel CGUs, assuming other 
variables remain constant, will result in 
a decrease in value-in-use of the CGUs in 
the range of USD 27.8 million to USD 55.6 
million, respectively, without any need for 
impairment.

ii.	� An increase in WACC of 1.0% would result 
in a decrease in the value in use of USD 
35.2 million, without any need for impair-
ment.

(b)		  �The Group exercised the purchase options 
on two bare-boat chartered in LR1 vessels; 
Compass and Compassion, and immediately 
put them on sale and classified both vessels 
as assets held for sale.

(c)		  The Group has mortgaged vessels with a
 total carrying amount of USD 2,099.1 million 
(2019: USD 2,120.2 million) as security over 
the Group’s bank borrowings. 
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P. 1219.	 Intangible assets
Intangible assets are the fair values of IT infrastructure and customer con-
tracts acquired in the course of an acquisition of businesses from Hafnia 
Management A/S and subsidiaries and ongoing IT projects.

Customer
contracts
USD ’000

IT infra- 
structure
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

Cost

At 1 January 2019 - - -

Additions - 439 439

Business combination  
(note 10(a)) 2,468 612 3,080

At 31 December 2019 2,468 1,051 3,519

Additions - 1,019 1,019

Adjustment to provisional fair 
value at initial recognition 
(note 10(a)) 1,260 - 1,260

At 31 December 2020 3,728 2,070 5,798

Accumulated amortisation 
charge

At 1 January 2019 - - -

Amortisation charge (288) (72) (360)

At 31 December 2019 (288) (72) (360)

Amortisation charge (871) (143) (1,014)

At 31 December 2020 (1,159) (215) (1,374)

Net book value

31 December 2019 2,180 979 3,159

31 December 2020 2,569 1,855 4,424

10. 	Business combination
	 (a)	 Acquisition of the business of Hafnia Management A/S and  
		  subsidiaries

In May 2019, the Group acquired the businesses of its associated compa-
nies which comprised commercial contracts, employees and assets except 
cash and certain liabilities, of Hafnia Management A/S, Hafnia Handy Pool 
Management ApS, Hafnia MR Pool Management ApS and Hafnia Bunkers 
ApS. The acquired net identifiable assets were transferred to an existing 
subsidiary within the Group.

Fair value measurement
The Group has deemed the excess of purchase consideration over the net 
assets acquired to be ascribed to the recorded intangible assets – IT infra-
structure and customer contracts.

The following table summarises the consideration transferred and the rec-
ognised amounts of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of 
acquisition:

2020
Finalised
USD ’000

2019
Provisional

USD ’000

Fair value of identifiable net assets  
acquired

Plant and equipment 92 95

Trade and other receivables 278 1,687

Trade and other payables (1,431) (1,313)

Loans - (270)

Intangible assets  
(IT infrastructure & Customer contracts) 4,340 3,080

Total identifiable net assets acquired 3,279 3,279

Total purchase consideration 3,279 3,279

During the year, the Group finalised the purchase price allocation within 
the allowed 12-months window period after business acquisition. This fi-
nalisation has resulted in reallocation of purchase consideration between 
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13. 	Trade and other receivables

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables, principally denomi-
nated in United States Dollars, approximate their fair values due to the short 
period to maturity. 

Included within trade and other receivables as at 31 December 2020 are 
contract assets of USD 19.6 million (2019: USD 40.4 million). These contract 

Note
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Trade receivables

- non-related parties 67,759 108,539

Less: Allowance made for trade 
receivables

- non-related parties 26(b) (1,594) (1,594)

Trade receivables – net 66,165 106,945

Prepayments 4,721 10,424

Pool working capital 60,660 70,200

Other receivables

- non-related parties 32,093 45,920

163,639 233,489

certain items of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with no 
consequential change in goodwill or negative goodwill previously reported.

(b)		  Acquisition of K/S Straits Tankers and Straits Tankers Pte. Ltd.
The purchase consideration for K/S Straits Tankers and Straits Tankers 
Pte. Ltd. was USD 0.4 million (USD 0.2 million net of acquired cash balances) 
bringing equity interest in K/S Straits Tankers from 44% to 100% and equity 
interest in Straits Tankers Pte. Ltd. from 22% to 100%. The effect on deemed 
disposal of these associates is not material to financial statements. The fair 
value of the identifiable net assets acquired is also not material.

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Fuel oil - 1,889

Lubricating oils 5,228 5,097

5,228 6,986

12. 	Inventories

The cost of inventories recognised as expenses and included in “voyage 
expenses” amounted to USD 156.9 million (2019: USD 194.5 million).

11. 	Assets held for sale
On 3 December 2020, the Board of Directors of the Group approved and 
committed to a plan to exercise the purchase options on two leased-in ves-
sels and subsequent sale of these vessels. The purchase of the vessels and 
identification of buyers were finalised in December 2020. 

As at 31 December 2020, the vessels were reclassified from property, plant 
and equipment to assets held for sale pending delivery to the buyers and 
re-measured at lower of fair value less costs to sell which is represented 
by the indicative sale price of USD 11.0 million.

In January 2021, both vessels were delivered to the buyers.

Write-down relating to the vessels
A write-down of USD 11.4 million of the carrying amount of vessels to the 
lower of their carrying amount and their fair value less costs to sell has 
been included in “write-down on reclassification to assets held for sale” in 
the statement of profit or loss.
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P. 123assets relate to the Group’s rights to consideration for proportional perfor-
mance from voyage charters in progress at the balance sheet date. These 
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights to such 
consideration become unconditional, typically when the Group has satisfied 
its performance obligations upon completion of the voyage. As voyage char-
ters in progress have an expected duration of less than one year, the Group 
applies the practical expedient available under IFRS 15 and does not disclose 
information about remaining performance obligations as at balance sheet 
date. No impairment loss is recognised on contract assets (2019: USD Nil).

14. 	Loans receivable from joint  
			  venture

Prior to the Merger, Hafnia Tankers and CSSC (Hong Kong) Shipping Com-
pany Limited (“CSSC Shipping”) formed a joint venture, Vista Shipping Pte. 
Ltd. (formerly known as Vista Shipping Limited), to build and operate six LR1 
product tanker vessels.

As part of financing for the newbuilds under the joint venture, each joint 
venture partner provides to the joint venture a shareholder’s loan to finance 
50% of the first and second payment instalments for the six LR1 product 
tanker vessels.

In 2020, two additional orders for LR2 vessels were made through the joint 
venture. As part of financing for the LR2 newbuilds under the joint venture, 
each joint venture partner will provide to the joint venture a shareholder’s 
loan to finance 50% of the pre-delivery instalments.

The loans receivable from the joint venture are unsecured, bear interest 
at three-month USD LIBOR plus 3% margin per annum and have no fixed 
terms of repayment. As the Group does not expect the joint venture to settle 
the loans within the next 12 months, the loan receivables are classified as 
“non-current” receivables. The carrying amounts of the loans receivable 
approximate their fair values since the interest rates are re-priceable at 
three-month intervals.

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Loans receivable from joint venture 45,430 29,584

15.	Associated companies and 
		  joint venture

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Interest in associates 1,798 1,486

Interest in joint venture 4,975 232

6,773 1,718

(a)		  Interest in associates
The Group, through its wholly owned subsidiary Hafnia Tankers ApS, has 
a 40% interest in Hafnia Management A/S and its subsidiaries (“Hafnia  
Management”). Hafnia Management A/S is incorporated in Denmark.

The following table summarises the profit for the year and other financial 
information according to Hafnia Management’s own financial statements. The 
table also reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying 
amount of the Group’s interest in Hafnia Management. 
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2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Percentage ownership interest 50% 50%

Non-current assets 193,257 154,350

Current assets 23,150 11,928

Non-current liabilities (115,718) (97,896)

Current liabilities (90,739) (67,918)

Net assets (100%) 9,950 464

Group’s share of net assets (50%) 4,975 232

Revenue 31,986 18,339

Other income 74 497

Expenses (23,135) (17,574)

Profit and total comprehensive income 
(100%) 8,925 1,262

Profit and total comprehensive income (50%) 4,463 631

Prior year share of profits/(losses) not 
recognised* 255 (399)

Group’s share of total comprehensive 
income (50%) 4,718 232

* Those share of losses had occurred prior to 2019 but were not recognised as the share 
of losses had exceeded the interest in the joint venture then. In 2019, those losses were 
subsequently recognised in profit or loss.

Hafnia Management
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Percentage ownership interest 40% 40%

Current assets 4,509 14,422

Current liabilities (15) (10,707)

Net assets (100%) 4,494 3,715

Group’s share of net assets (40%) 1,798 1,486

Revenue - 10,298

Other income - 3,962

Expenses (286) (10,176)

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive  
income (100%) (286) 4,084

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive  
income (40%) (114) 1,634

Other adjustments 426 (1,054)

Group’s share of total comprehensive  
income (40%) 312 580

In addition to the associates disclosed above, the Group also had interests 
in individually immaterial associates that are accounted for using the equity 
method. This includes K/S Straits Tankers and Straits Tankers Pte. Ltd which 
were accounted for using the equity method up to May 2019.

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Aggregate carrying amount of individually 
immaterial associates - -

Share of total comprehensive income - 44

(b)		  Interest in joint venture
Vista Shipping Pte. Ltd. and its subsidiaries (formerly known as Vista Shipping 
Limited and its subsidiaries) (“Vista Shipping”) is a joint venture in which 
the Group has joint control and 50% ownership interest. Vista Shipping is 
domiciled in Singapore and structured as a separate vehicle in shipowning, 
and the Group has residual interest in its net assets. Accordingly, the Group 
has classified its interest in Vista Shipping as a joint venture. In accordance 
with the agreement under which Vista Shipping is established, the Group and 

the other investor in the joint venture have agreed to provide shareholders’ 
loans in proportion to their interests to finance the newbuild programme as 
described in Note 14.

On 7 August 2020, Vista Shipping Limited and its subsidiaries (incorporated 
in the Marshall Islands) were redomiciled to Singapore.

The following table summarises the financial information of Vista Shipping 
as included in its own consolidated financial statements. The table also 
reconciles the summarised financial information to the carrying amount of 
the Group’s interest in Vista Shipping. 
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P. 12516.	Cash and cash equivalents  
			  including restricted cash

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Cash at bank and on hand 100,567 91,612

Restricted cash 104 -

100,671 91,612

Less: Restricted cash 104 -

Cash and cash equivalents in the  
statements of cash flows 100,567 91,612

The restricted cash represents amounts placed in margin accounts for the 
trading of forward freight agreements. This restricted cash is not available 
to finance the Group’s day to day operations.

17.	Share capital and contributed 
			  surplus

Number of
shares

Share
capital

USD ’000

Share
premium
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

At 1 January 
2020 and 31 
December 2020 370,244,325 3,703 704,834 708,537

At 1 January 
2019 196,241,352 1,962 221,220 223,182

Shares issued 
for merger 146,916,627 1,470 411,872 413,342

New shares 
issued 27,086,346 271 71,742 72,013

At 31 December 
2019 370,244,325 3,703 704,834 708,537

(a)		  Authorised share capital
The total authorised number of shares is 600,000,000 (2019: 600,000,000) 
common shares at par value of USD 0.01 per share.

In October 2019, the total authorised number of shares was increased by 
200,000,000 shares with a par value of USD 0.01 per share.

(b)		  Issued and fully paid share capital
On 16 January 2019, the Company issued 146,916,627 shares in a share 
swap arrangement, where newly issued shares of the Company were ex-
changed for all outstanding shares of Hafnia Tankers during the Merger.

On 8 November 2019, the Company completed a pre-listing private placement 
(the “Pre-listing Private Placement”) and subsequent listing (the “Listing”) 
on Oslo Axess, which is a fully regulated marketplace operated by the Oslo 
Stock Exchange. 27,086,346 new shares were issued, raising net proceeds 
of USD 72.0 million.

On 25 February 2020, the Company announced its share buy-back program 
under which the Company may repurchase up to 7,193,407 common shares 
representing up to 1.9% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares 
in the Company for a total consideration of up to USD 20 million. The Company 
subsequently repurchased a total of 7,037,407 of its own common shares at 
an average price of NOK 17.08 per share, amounting to a total consideration 
of approximately USD 12.6 million. 

Following an up-listing application to the Oslo Stock Exchange on 23 April 
2020, the Company was subsequently listed on the Oslo Børs and commenced 
trading of its shares on 30 April 2020.

All issued common shares are fully paid. The newly issued shares rank pari 
passu with the existing shares.

(c)		  Share premium
The difference between the consideration for common shares issued and 
their par value is recognised as share premium. 

USD 3.0 million of listing fees and expenses were capitalised against share 
premium upon the Listing during 2019.
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18.	Other reserves

(a)		  Composition:		

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Share-based payment reserve 1,859 823

Hedging reserve (15,973) (6,514)

Translation reserve (34) (34)

(14,148) (5,725)

(b)		  Movements of the reserves

Hedging reserve
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

At beginning of the financial year (6,514) 3,158

Adjustment of reserve on Merger - (2,816)

Fair value losses on cash flow 
hedges (22,103) (7,266)

Reclassification to profit or loss 12,644 410

At end of the financial year (15,973) (6,514)

More information about hedging derivatives is disclosed in Note 21.

19. Share-based payment 
		  arrangements

(a)			  Description of share option programme �(equity-settled)
The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, 
under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration 
for equity instruments (share options) in the group. On 16 January 2019, 1 
March 2019, 1 June 2019, 1 August 2019 and 25 February 2020, the Group 
granted share options to key management and senior employees. All options 
are to be settled by physical delivery of shares. The terms and conditions of 
the share options granted are as follows.

Grant date

Number of 
instruments 

in thousands
Vesting  
conditions

Expiry of  
options

Option grant to key  
management personnel  
on 16 January 2019 
(“Tranche 1”) 1,834

3 years’ service 
condition from 
grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025

Option Grant to key  
management personnel  
on 1 March 2019
(“Tranche 2”) 207

3 years’ service 
condition from 
grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025

Option Grant to key  
management personnel  
on 1 June 2019
(“Tranche 3”) 1,183

3 years’ service 
condition from 
grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025

Option grant to key  
management personnel  
on 1 August 2019
(“Tranche 4”) 207

3 years’ service 
condition from 
grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025

Option Grant to key  
management personnel  
on 25 February 2020
(“LTIP 2020”) 3,432

3 years’ service 
condition from 
grant date

25 February 
2026

(d)		  Contributed surplus
Contributed surplus relates to the amount transferred from share capital 
account when the par value of each common share was reduced from USD 5 
to USD 0.01 per share in 2015. Contributed surplus is distributable, subject 
to the fulfilment of the conditions as stipulated under the Bermudian Law.

(e)		  Treasury shares
The reserve for the Company’s treasury shares comprises the cost of the 
Company’s shares held by the Group. At 31 December 2020, the Group held 
7,179,946 of the Company’s shares (2019: 211,479).
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P. 127The share options become void if the employee rescinds their position before 
the vesting date.

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is 
based on the fair value of the share options granted, measured using the 
Black-Scholes model.

(b)		  Measurement of grant date fair values
The following inputs were used in the measurement of the fair values at 
respective grant dates of the share options.

Volatility has been estimated as a benchmark volatility by considering the 
historical average share price volatility of a comparable peer group of com-
panies.

Share option programme

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3 Tranche 4 LTIP 2020

Grant date 16 January 2019 1 March 2019 1 June 2019 1 August 2019 25 February 2020

Share price (NOK) 24.03 24.17 24.47 24.67 20.57

Exercise price (NOK) 27.81 27.81 27.81 27.81 23.81

Time to maturity (years) 4.5 4.4 4.1 4.0 4.5

Risk free rate 2.54% 2.54% 1.93% 1.78% 1.24%

Volatility 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

Dividends - - - - -

Annual tenure risk 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%

Share options granted 1,833,958 207,278 1,183,063 207,278 3,431,577

Fair value at grant date 
(USD) 1,610,382 182,009 976,425 169,317 1,974,539
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P. 128 20. 	Borrowings
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Current

Loan from a related corporation - 8,500

Loan from non-related parties 390 106

Bank borrowings 142,548 167,659

Finance lease liabilities 7,376 7,244

Other lease liabilities 28,770 29,821

179,084 213,330

Non-current

Loan from non-related parties 4,391 5,066

Bank borrowings 967,979 1,043,389

Finance lease liabilities 74,767 82,128

Other lease liabilities 81,073 104,213

1,128,210 1,234,796

Total borrowings 1,307,294 1,448,126

As at 31 December 2020, bank borrowings consist of six credit facilities 
from external financial institutions, amounting to USD 676 million, USD 473 
million, USD 266 million, USD 216 million, USD 128 million and USD 39 million 
respectively (2019: USD 676 million, USD 266 million, USD 216 million, USD 
128 million, USD 30 million and USD 473 million respectively). These facilities 
are secured by the Group’s fleet of vessels. The table below summarises key 
information of the bank borrowings: 

Facility amount Maturity date

USD 676 million facility

- Tranche A USD 576 million 2022

- Tranche A USD 100 million revolving credit facility 2022

USD 473 million facility 2026

USD 266 million facility 2028

USD 128 million facility 2023

USD 216 million facility 2027

USD 39 million facility

- USD 30 million term loan 2025

- USD 9 million revolving credit facility 2025

On 15 January 2020, the Group extended the USD 30 million facility by 15 
months, with the revised maturity date being in April 2021. Two vessels have 
been mortgaged as security to this facility. On 17 November 2020, this facility 
was re-financed to a USD 39 million facility, with the revised maturity date 
extended to November 2025.

		  Interest rates
The weighted average effective interest rate per annum of total borrowings 
at the balance sheet date is as follows:

2020 2019

Bank borrowings 1.8% 3.6%

The exposure of borrowings to interest rate risk is disclosed in Note 26.

		  Maturity of borrowings
The non-current borrowings have the following maturity:

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Later than one year and not later than five 
years 770,480 809,872

Later than five years 357,730 424,924

1,128,210 1,234,796
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2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Cash flow hedges 

- Interest rate swaps and  
   caps - 15,991 - 6,514

Non-hedging instruments

- Interest rate caps 26 - - -

- Forward freight  
   agreements 205 - 2,620 -

- Forward foreign exchange      
   contracts 40 - 117 -

271 15,991 2,737 6,514

Analysed as:

Non-current 26 15,973 - 6,514

Current 245 18 2,737 -

271 15,991 2,737 6,514

		  Cash flow hedges
		  Interest rate derivatives

The Group has entered into interest rate swap contracts that qualify for hedge 
accounting. The Group will pay interest at fixed rates varying from 0.46% to 
2.26% (2019: 1.66% to 2.26%) per annum and receive interest at a floating rate 
based on three-month USD LIBOR. 

21. 	Derivative financial  
			  instruments 

The notional principal amount of these outstanding interest rate swaps as at 
31 December 2020 amounted to USD 716.0 million (2019: USD 391.6 million) 
and the amounts mature in more than one year from the balance sheet date. 

		
		  Non-hedging instruments
		  Interest rate derivatives

At 31 December 2020, the Group has entered into interest rate caps with a 
strike of 3.00% against the three-month USD LIBOR. The interest rate caps 
have a notional amount of USD 300.0 million with the last cap expiring in 
2023.

Starting from 2020, hedge accounting for interest rate caps previously used 
as hedging instruments have been discontinued, with the cumulative fair 
value change previously recognised in “Hedging reserve” in other compre-
hensive income released to the current year profit or loss. 

		  Forward foreign exchange contracts
The Group has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to swap 
United States Dollars for Singapore Dollars with an external financial insti-
tution. The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign 
exchange contracts as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 com-
prise the following:

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Currency

Notional
amounts in 

local currency
USD 

equivalent

Notional
amounts in 

local currency
USD 

equivalent

Singapore
Dollars 13,258 9,988 6,400 4,649

As at 31 December 2020, these forward foreign exchange contracts will 
mature within four (2019: eight) months from the balance sheet date. No 
hedge accounting is adopted and the fair value changes of these forward 
exchange contracts are recorded in profit or loss.

		  Carrying amounts and fair values
The carrying values of bank borrowings approximate their fair values as the 
bank borrowings are re-priceable at three month intervals. 
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22. 	Trade and other payables

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Trade payables 

- related corporations - 144 

- non-related parties 23,793 21,728

Provision for reinstatement costs of 
leased vessels - 1,238

Accrued operating expenses 38,772 72,156

Other payables

- related corporations 5,186 4,532 

- non-related parties 2,767 6,914 

70,518 106,712

Analysed as:

Non-current - 1,238

Current 70,518 105,474

70,518 106,712

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables, principally denominat-
ed in United States Dollars, approximate their fair values due to the short 
period to maturity. 

23. Leases – as Lessee
		  Leases as lessee under IFRS 16

The Group leases vessels, office spaces, and other equipment from external 
parties under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have 
varying terms including options to extend and options to purchase.

Starting from 1 January 2019, the leased-in vessels are recognised as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet under IFRS 16, except 
for leases of low value items relating to IT equipment and leases with lease 
terms of less than 12 months.

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is presented below.

(1)		  Right-of-use assets
Right-of-use assets related to leased-in vessels are presented as part of 
total property, plant and equipment (Note 8).

USD ’000

Cost

At 1 January 2019 61,968

Additions 90,921

At 31 December 2019 152,889

Additions 38,076

Reclassification to property, plant and equipment  
– vessels upon exercising of purchase options1 (38,208)

At 31 December 2020 152,757

		  Freight forward agreements
The Group has entered into a number of forward freight agreements in order 
to hedge its spot voyage exposure for its vessels trading in the pools. As at 
31 December 2020, the Group has outstanding positions with a notional 
amount of USD 0.9 million, which will mature in the next one year. No hedge 
accounting is adopted and the fair value changes of these freight forward 
agreements are recorded in profit or loss.

The other payables due to the holding corporation and related corporations 
are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

Information about the Group’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks is 
included in Note 26.



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 131USD ’000

Accumulated depreciation

Depreciation charge 23,523

At 31 December 2019 23,523

Depreciation charge 37,677

Reclassification to property, plant and equipment  
– vessels upon exercising of purchase options1 (15,819)

At 31 December 2020 45,381

Net book value

At 31 December 2019 129,366

At 31 December 2020 107,376

1 The Group exercised the purchase options on two bareboat chartered in LR1 vessels: 
Compass and Compassion. Upon exercise of the options, those vessels were put on sale, 
which has resulted in both vessels being classified as assets held for sale (Note 11) as at 
31 December 2020. 

(2)		  Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Interest expense on lease liabilities 9,250 4,579

Expenses relating to short-term leas-
es for vessels, included in charter hire 
expenses 6,104 4,303

Expenses relating to short-term leases 
for offices, included in rental expenses 961 1,138

(3)		  Amounts recognised in statement of cash flows

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Total cash outflow for leases 78,754 27,283

(4)		  Extension options
Some leases contain extension options exercisable by the Group up to one year 
before the end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where practicable, the 
Group seeks to include extension options in new leases to provide operational 
flexibility. The extension options held are exercisable only by the Group and not 
by the lessors. The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it is 
reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The Group reassesses 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a significant 
event or significant changes in circumstances within its control.

The Group has estimated that the potential future lease payments, should it 
exercise the extension options, would result in an increase in lease liability 
of USD 111.0 million (2019: USD 105.9 million).

(5)		  Operating lease commitments under IFRS 16
The Group leases vessels and office space from non-related parties under 
non-cancellable operating lease agreements. These leases have varying 
terms including options to extend and options to purchase.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
committed at the reporting date have been recognised as lease liabilities 
under IFRS 16.

24. 	Commitments 
		  Operating lease commitments - where the Group is a lessor

The Group leases vessels to non-related parties under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements. The Group classifies these leases as operating 
leases as the Group retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased assets.

In 2020, the Group recognised revenue from time charters of USD 79.8 million 
(2019: USD 40.4 million) as part of revenue (Note 3).

The undiscounted lease payments under operating leases to be received 
after 31 December are analysed as follows:
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25. 	Financial guaran-
		  tee contracts

The Company’s policy is to provide financial 
guarantees only to the wholly owned subsidi-
aries or joint ventures. At 31 December 2020, 
the Company has issued financial guarantees 
to certain banks in respect of credit facilities 
granted to subsidiaries (see Note 20). These 
bank borrowings amount to USD 1,110.5 mil-
lion (2019: USD 1,211.0 million) at the balance 
sheet date.

The Company and CSSC Shipping have issued 
a joint financial guarantee to certain banks in 
respect of credit facilities granted to the joint 
venture. Bank borrowings provided to the joint 
venture amounts to USD 152.5 million (2019: 
USD 105.0 million) at the balance sheet date. 
Corporate guarantees given will become due and 
payable on demand if an event of default occurs.

26. 	Financial risk 
			  management 
		  Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of 
financial risks: market risk (including price 
risk, currency risk, interest rate risk and cash 
flow fair value and interest rate risk); credit 
risk; liquidity risk and capital risk. The Group’s 
overall risk management programme focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance.

Financial risk management is handled by the 
Group as part of its operations. The manage-
ment team identifies, evaluates and manages 
financial risks in close co-operation with all 
operating units. The Board provides written 
principles for overall risk management, as 
well as written policies covering specific ar-
eas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest 
rate risk, credit risk and use of derivative and 
non-derivative financial instruments.

(a)		  Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in mar-
ket prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 
interest rates and equity prices will affect the 
Group’s income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control 

market risk exposures within acceptable pa-
rameters, while optimising the return.

The Group buys and sells derivatives, and also 
incurs financial liabilities, in order to manage 
market risks. All such transactions are car-
ried out within the guidelines set by the Group. 
Generally, the Group seeks to apply hedge ac-
counting in order to manage volatility in profit 
or loss.

A fundamental reform of major interest rate 
benchmarks is being undertaken globally 
to replace or reform IBOR with alternative 
nearly risk-free rates (referred to as ‘IBOR 
reform’). The Group has significant exposure 
to IBORs on its financial instruments that 
will be replaced or reformed as part of this 
market-wide initiative. There is significant 
uncertainty over the timing and the methods 
of transition across the jurisdictions that the 
Group operates in. The Group anticipates that 
IBOR reform will have significant operation-
al, risk management and accounting impacts. 
The Group evaluated the extent to which its 
cash flow hedging relationships are subject 
to uncertainty driven by IBOR reform as at the 
reporting date. The Group’s hedged items and 
hedging instruments continue to be indexed to 
IBOR benchmark rates. IBOR benchmark rates 
are quoted each day and IBOR cash flows are 
exchanged with its counterparties as usual. 
However, the Group’s cash flow hedging rela-
tionships extend beyond the anticipated ces-
sation dates for US Dollar LIBOR. The Group 
expects that US dollar LIBOR will be replaced 
by SOFR, but there is uncertainty over the 
timing and amount of the replacement rate 
cash flows. Such uncertainty may impact the 
hedging relationship, for example its effective-

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Less than one year  54,266 50,724

One to two years  27,421 36,425

Two to three years - 23,536

81,687 110,685

		  Capital commitments 
The Group’s joint venture is committed to 
incurring capital expenditure of USD 100.8 
million (2019: USD 111.0 million), of which the 
Group’s share is USD 50.4 million (2019: USD 
55.5 million).

In addition, the Company issued a limited fi-
nancial guarantee to a bank in respect of the 
USD 50.0 million (2019: USD Nil) receivables 
purchase agreement facility granted to the 
commercial pools.
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P. 134 ness assessment and highly probable forecast 
transaction assessment. 

The Group applies the amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39 and IFRS 7 Interest rate benchmark re-
form issued in September 2019 to these hedging 
relationships directly affected by IBOR reform.

The Group is in the process of establishing 
policies for amending the interbank offered 
rates on its existing floating-rate loan port-
folio indexed to IBORs that will be replaced 
as part of IBOR reform. The Group expects to 
participate in bilateral negotiations with the 
counterparties to begin amending the contrac-
tual terms of its existing floating-rate financial 
instruments in the second half of 2020. Howev-
er, the exact timing will vary depending on the 
extent to which standardised language can be 
applied and the extent of bilateral negotiations 
between the Group and its counterparties. The 
Group expects that these contractual changes 
will be amended in a uniform way.

The Group holds derivatives for risk manage-
ment purposes, some of which are designat-
ed in hedging relationships. These derivatives 
have floating legs that are indexed to various 
IBORs. The Group’s derivative instruments are 
governed by ISDA’s 2006 definitions. ISDA is 
currently reviewing its definitions in light of 
IBOR reform and the Group expects it to issue 
standardised amendments to all impacted de-
rivative contracts at a future date. No deriva-
tive instruments have been modified as at the 
reporting date.

Price risk
The shipping market can be subject to signif-
icant fluctuations. The Group’s vessels are 

employed under a variety of chartering ar-
rangements including time charters and voy-
age charters. 

In 2020, approximately 9% (2019: 5%) of the 
Group’s shipping revenue was derived from 
vessels under fixed income charters (compris-
ing time charters).

The Group is exposed to the risk of variations in 
fuel oil costs, which are affected by the global 
political and economic environment. Historical-
ly, fuel expenses have been the most significant 
expense. Under a time charter, the charterer 
is responsible for fuel costs, therefore, fixed 
income charters also reduce exposure to fuel 
price fluctuations. 

In 2020, fuel oil costs comprised 35% (2019: 
35%) of the Group’s operating expenses (ex-
cluding depreciation). If price of fuel oil has 
increased/decreased by USD 1 (2019: USD 1) 
per metric ton with all other variables includ-
ing tax rate being held constant, the net results 
will be lower/higher by USD 404,079 (2019: 
USD 391,402) as a result of higher/lower fuel 
oil consumption expense. 

In addition to securing cash flows through time 
charter contracts, the Group has entered into 
forward freight agreements to limit the risk 
involved in trading in the spot market. Details 
of the Group’s outstanding forward freight 
agreements are disclosed in Note 21.

Currency risk
The functional currency of most of the entities 
in the Group is United States Dollars (“USD”). 
The Group’s operating revenue, and the major-
ity of its interest-bearing debts and contractual 

obligations for vessels under construction are 
denominated in USD. The Group’s vessels are 
also valued in USD when trading in the sec-
ond-hand market.

The Group is exposed to foreign currency 
exchange risks for administrative expenses 
incurred by offices or agents globally, predom-
inantly in Denmark and Singapore. Further, 
the Group is required to pay port charges in 
currencies other than USD. However, foreign 
currency exposure in port charges is minimal 
as any increase is usually compensated by a 
corresponding increase in freight, particular-
ly in the tanker sector through industry-wide 
increases in Worldscale flat rates.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has cash 
and cash equivalents denominated in DKK.

Details of the Group’s outstanding forward 
exchange contracts are disclosed in Note 21.

At 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, 
the Group has assessed that it has insignificant 
exposure to foreign currency risks. 

Interest rate risk
The Group adopts a policy of ensuring that 
between 40% and 75% of its interest rate risk 
exposure is at a fixed-rate or limited to a cer-
tain threshold. This is achieved partly by enter-
ing into fixed-rate instruments and partly by 
borrowing at a floating rate and using interest 
rate swaps as hedges of the variability in cash 
flows attributable to interest rate risk, and also 
by entering into interest rate caps to receive 
payments when the agreed floating interest 
rate goes above the strike price. The Group 
applies a hedge ratio of 1:1.
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P. 135The Group determines the existence of an economic relationship between 
the hedging instrument and hedged item based on the reference interest 
rates, tenors, repricing dates and maturities and the notional or par amounts.

The Group assesses whether the derivative designated in each hedging 
relationship is expected to be effective in offsetting changes in cash flows 
of the hedged item using the hypothetical derivative method.

In these hedge relationships, the main sources of ineffectiveness are:

(1)	� the effect of the counterparty and the Group’s own credit risk on the fair 
value of the swaps, which is not reflected in the change in the fair value 
of the hedged cash flows attributable to the change in interest rates; and

(2)	� differences in repricing dates between the swaps and the borrowings.

The Group has interest-bearing financial liabilities in the form of borrowings 
from external financial institutions at variable rates.

The Group manages its cashflow interest rate risks by swapping a portion 
of its floating rate interest payments to fixed rate payments using interest 
rate swaps and also by ensuring that the floating interest rate on a portion 
of its floating rate interest payments is limited to 3% (Note 21).

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments
If the interest rates have increased/decreased by 50 basis points, with all other 
variables including tax rate being held constant, the net results will be lower/
higher by approximately USD 2,580,000 (2019: USD 3,230,000) as a result of 
higher/lower interest expense on the portion of the borrowings that is not cov-
ered by the interest rate swap instruments. Total equity would have been higher/
lower by USD 10,131,000 (2019: USD 6,428,000) mainly as a result of fair value 
gain/loss from the interest rate swaps assuming these swaps remain effective.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks 
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that future cash flows of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Fair 
value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 

The Group entered into interest rate agreements to limit exposure to interest 
rate fluctuations. The details of these exposures are disclosed in Note 21. As 
at 31 December 2020, the notional principal amount of these interest rate 
swaps and caps represents approximately 61% (2019: 57%) of the Group’s 
borrowings on floating interest rates.

As at the reporting date, the interest rate profile of interest-bearing financial 
instruments, as reported to the management, was as follows:

                 Nominal amount

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Variable rate instruments

Financial assets  45,430  29,584 

Financial liabilities  1,120,657  1,223,417 

Effect of interest rate swaps  683,407  391,604 

Effect of interest rate caps -  300,000 

1,849,494  1,944,605 

(b)		  Credit risk 
The Group‘s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade and other receiva-
bles, cash and cash equivalents and loans receivable from joint venture. The 
maximum exposure is represented by the carrying value of each financial 
asset on the balance sheet.

Financial assets that are neither past due or impaired
The Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its charterers. The Group 
has implemented policies to ensure cash funds are deposited and deriva-
tives are entered into with banks and internationally recognised financial 
institutions with a good credit rating and the vessels are fixed to charterers 
with an appropriate credit rating who can provide sufficient guarantees.

There is no class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired except 
for trade and other receivables (Note 13).
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The Group applies the simplified lifetime approach and uses a provision 
matrix to determine the ECLs of trade receivables and contract assets. It is 
based on the Group’s historical observed default rates and is adjusted by a 
current and forward-looking estimate based on current economic conditions.

Credit risk is concentrated on several charterers. The Group adopts the 
policy of dealing only with customers with appropriate credit history. Deriv-
ative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality 
financial institutions. The Group has policies that limit the amount of credit 
exposure to any financial institution.

The allowance made arose mainly from the provision of charter services to 
a customer which had met with significant financial difficulties during the 
financial year ended 31 December 2018. Except for this credit-impaired re-
ceivable, the Group has determined that the ECL provision estimated based 
on an allowance matrix of 0.3% to 1% for trade receivables aged “Past due 
up to three months” and “Past due for more than six months”, respectively, 
as at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 to be insignificant.

The age analysis of trade receivables and contract assets is as follows:

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Current (not past due) 940 -

Past due 0 to 3 months 44,798 77,833 

Past due 3 to 6 months 20,427 19,243 

Past due for more than 6 months 1,594 11,463 

Less: Allowance for impairment (1,594) (1,594)

66,165 106,945

There was no movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade 
receivables and contract assets during the year.

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Allowance for impairment as at 1 
January 2019, 31 December 2019 
and 31 December 2020 1,594 1,594

Loans receivable from joint venture/other receivables due from  
non-related parties
The Group has used a general 12-month approach in assessing the credit 
risk associated with other receivables and loans issued to the joint venture. 
As the loans extended to the joint venture forms an extension of the Group’s 
investment in product tankers via co-ownership with another strategic in-
vestor, and the vessels owned by the joint venture generate positive cash 
flows, management considers the credit risk of loans issued to the joint 
venture as low. As a result of the assessment performed, no ECL provision 
has been recognised.

(c)		  Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and 
the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit 
facilities to meet operating and capital expenditure needs. To address the 
inherent unpredictability of short-term liquidity requirements, the Group 
maintains sufficient cash for its daily operations in short-term cash deposits 
with banks, has access to the unutilised portions of revolving credit facil-
ities and entered into trade receivables factoring agreement (with limited 
recourse to the Company) with financial institutions. 

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted cash flows is as follows:
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P. 137Less than 1 
year

USD ’000

Between 1
and 2 years 

USD ’000

Between 2 
and 5 years

USD ’000

Over
5 years

USD ’000

At 31 December 2020

Trade and other payables 70,518 - - -

Derivative financial instruments 6,749 4,337 4,753 143

Interest payments 35,885 30,592 49,582 7,586

Borrowings 144,834 315,910 350,077 309,836

Lease liabilities 36,246 36,813 80,217 19,082

294,232 387,652 484,629 336,647

(d)		  Capital risk
The Group’s objectives when managing capital 
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure so as to maximise sharehold-
ers’ value. In order to maintain or achieve an 
optimal capital structure, the Group may ad-
just the amount of dividends paid, return capi-
tal to shareholders, obtain new borrowings or 
sell assets to reduce borrowings.

The Group is in compliance with all externally 
imposed capital requirements.

(e)		  Accounting classifications and fair 
		  values

The following tables present assets and liabil-
ities measured at fair value and classified by 
level of the following fair value measurement 
hierarchy:
(1)	� quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets 

for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(2)	� inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly (that is, as 
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from 
prices) (Level 2); and

(3)	� inputs for the asset or liability that are not 
based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs) (Level 3).

Less than 1 
year

USD ’000

Between 1
and 2 years 

USD ’000

Between 2 
and 5 years

USD ’000

Over
5 years

USD ’000

At 31 December 2019

Trade and other payables1   105,474 - - -

Derivative financial instruments 881 983 495 181

Interest payments    50,130    43,379    79,560    25,179 

Borrowings   169,996   139,996   571,640   341,785 

Lease liabilities    46,482    50,394   107,762    33,608 

  372,963   234,752   759,457   400,753 

1 Excludes provision for reinstatement costs of leased vessels.
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P. 138 Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Mandatorily
at FVTPL 

- others
USD ’000

Financial  
assets at  

amortised 
cost

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000
Level 1

USD ’000
Level 2

USD ’000
Level 3

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

At 31 December 2020
Financial assets measured at fair value

Forward foreign exchange contracts 21 40 - 40 - 40 - 40

Forward freight agreements 21 205 - 205 - 205 - 205

Interest rate caps 21 26 - 26 - 26 - 26

271 - 271

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Loans receivable from joint venture 14 - 45,430 45,430

Trade and other receivables1 13 - 158,918 158,918 

Cash and cash equivalents 16 - 100,671 100,671

- 305,019 305,019 
1 Excluding prepayments

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Fair value-
hedging

instruments
USD ’000

Other 
financial 
liabilities
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

Level 1
USD ’000

Level 2
USD ’000

Level 3
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

At 31 December 2020
Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Interest rate swaps used for hedging 21 (15,991) - (15,991) - (15,991) - (15,991)

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Bank borrowings 20 - (1,110,527) (1,110,527) - (1,110,527) - (1,110,527)

Loan from non-related parties 20 - (4,781) (4,781) - (4,781) - (4,781)

Trade payables 22 - (70,518) (70,518)

- (1,185,826) (1,185,826) 
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P. 139Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Mandatorily
at FVTPL 

- others
USD ’000

Financial  
assets at  

amortised 
cost

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000
Level 1

USD ’000
Level 2

USD ’000
Level 3

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets measured at fair value

Forward freight agreements 21 2,620 - 2,620 - 2,620 - 2,620

Forward foreign exchange contracts 21 117 - 117 - 117 - 117

2,737 - 2,737

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Loans receivable from joint venture 14 - 29,584 29,584

Trade and other receivables1 13 - 223,065 223,065

Cash and cash equivalents 16 - 91,612 91,612

- 344,261 344,261

1 Excluding prepayments

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Fair value –
hedging

instruments
USD ’000

Other  
financial
liabilities
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

Level 1
USD ’000

Level 2
USD ’000

Level 3
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

At 31 December 2019
Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Interest rate swaps and caps used for hedging 21 (6,514) - (6,514) - (6,514) - (6,514)

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Bank borrowings 20 - (1,211,048) (1,211,048) - (1,211,048) - (1,211,048)

Loan from a related corporation 20 - (8,500) (8,500) - (8,500) - (8,500)

Loan from non-related parties 20 - (5,172) (5,172) - (5,172) - (5,172)

Trade payables1 22 - (105,474) (105,474)

- (1,330,194) (1,330,194)

1 Excluding provision for reinstatement costs of leased vessels
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P. 141The Group has no Level 1 and Level 3 financial assets or liabilities as at 31 
December 2020 and 2019.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active mar-
ket is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety 
of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each balance sheet date. The fair value of interest rate swaps is 
calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based 
on observable yield curves. These valuation techniques maximise the use of 
observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on 
entity specific estimates. These financial instruments are included in Level 2, 
as all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable.

(f)		  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not subjected to enforceable 
master netting arrangements or similar arrangements. Financial derivatives, 
financial assets and financial liabilities are presented separately on the 
consolidated balance sheet, without netting off of balances.

27. 	Holding corporations
The Company’s ultimate and immediate holding corporation is BW Group 
Limited, incorporated in Bermuda, which is wholly owned by Sohmen family 
interests.

28. Related party transactions
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the con-
solidated financial statements, the following transactions took place between 
the Group and related parties during the financial year on commercial terms 
agreed by the parties:

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Sale and purchase of services

Support service fees paid/payable to  
a related corporation 4,746 7,705

Interest paid/payable to a related  
corporation - 1,894

Rental paid/payable to a related  
corporation 700 634

Share capital contribution

Subscription of shares by the immediate 
and ultimate holding corporation - 50,000

Key management remuneration for the financial year ended 31 December 
2020 amounted to USD 2,865,872 (2019: USD 2,187,826).

Related corporations refer to corporations controlled by Sohmen family 
interests.

29.	Segment information

Operating segments are determined based on the reports submitted to man-
agement to make strategic decisions.

The management considers the business to be organised into four main 
operating segments:

(a)	 Long Range II (‘LR2’)
(b)	 Long Range I (‘LR1’)
(c)	 Medium Range (‘MR’)
(d)	 Handy size (‘Handy’)

The operating segments are organised and managed according to the size 
of the product tanker vessels.

The LR2 segment consists of vessels between 85,000 DWT and 124,999 
DWT in size and provides transportation of clean petroleum oil products.
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P. 142 The LR1 segment consists of vessels between 
55,000 DWT and 84,999 DWT in size and pro-
vides transportation of clean and dirty petro-
leum products.

The MR segment consists of vessels between 
40,000 DWT and 54,999 DWT in size and pro-
vides transportation of clean and dirty oil prod-
ucts, vegetable oil and easy chemicals.

The Handy segment consists of vessels be-
tween 25,000 DWT and 39,999 DWT in size and 
provides transportation of clean and dirty oil 
products, vegetable oil and easy chemicals.

Management assesses the performance of the 
operating segments based on operating profit 
before depreciation, impairment and gain on 
disposal of vessels (“Operating EBITDA”). This 
measurement basis excludes the effects of 
impairment charges and gain on disposal of 
vessels that are not expected to recur regu-
larly in every financial period. Interest income 
and finance expenses, which result from the 
Group’s capital and liquidity position that is 
centrally managed for the benefit of various 
activities, are not allocated to segments.

LR2 
USD ’000

LR1 
USD ’000

MR 
USD ’000

Handy
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

2020

Revenue 58,644 276,827 427,557 111,071 874,099

Voyage expenses (437) (72,187) (140,780) (37,481) (250,885)

TCE Income 58,207 204,640 286,777 73,590 623,214

Other operating income (114) 11,794 3,375 2,534 17,589

Vessel operating expenses (13,305) (64,895) (94,396) (28,070) (200,666)

Technical management expenses (1,342) (5,311) (7,936) (2,097) (16,686)

Charter hire expenses - (7,997) (16,590) (2,393) (26,980)

Operating EBITDA 43,446 138,231 171,230 43,564 396,471

Depreciation charge (13,848) (48,278) (78,200) (15,045) (155,371)

241,100

Unallocated (89,670)

Profit before income tax 151,430

Segment assets 287,838 551,899 1,286,581 249,246 2,375,564 

Segment assets include:

Additions/adjustments to:

- vessels 116 (9,479) 9,397 250 284

- dry docking 150 4,787 13,326 2,765 21,028

- right-of-use assets - (17,177) 17,045 - (132)

Segment liabillities 1,715 18,441 25,806 5,921 51,883 



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 143LR2 
USD ’000

LR1 
USD ’000

MR 
USD ’000

Handy 
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

2019

Revenue 25,452 299,831 389,777 112,795 827,855

Voyage expenses (719) (123,424) (140,606) (48,676) (313,425)

TCE Income 24,733 176,407 249,171 64,119 514,430

Other operating income - 6,128 2,412 1,822 10,362

Vessel operating expenses (6,643) (63,906) (88,023) (26,174) (184,746)

Technical management expenses (727) (5,132) (7,477) (2,097) (15,433)

Charter hire expenses - (4,846) (12,021) - (16,867)

Operating EBITDA 17,363 108,651 144,062 37,670 307,746

Depreciation charge (6,902) (42,901) (66,382) (14,905) (131,090)

10,461 65,750 77,680 22,765 176,656

Unallocated (103,907)

Profit before income tax 72,749

Segment assets 305,122 623,205 1,334,235 272,231 2,534,793

Segments assets include:

Additions/adjustments to:

- vessels/vessels under construction 177,635 2,056 54,308 1,888 235,887

- dry docking 16,496 (350) 751 3,127 20,024

- right-of-use assets - 39,576 51,345 - 90,921

Segment liabilities 5,084 35,830 33,539 7,847 82,300

		  Reportable segments’ assets 
The amounts provided to management with 
respect to total assets are measured in a man-
ner consistent with that of the consolidated 
financial statements. For the purposes of mon-
itoring segment performance and allocating 
resources between segments, management 
monitors vessels, vessels under construction, 
dry docking, inventories, and trade and other 
receivables that can be directly attributable 
to each segment.

2020
USD ’000

2019 
USD ’000

Segment assets 2,375,564 2,534,793

Unallocated items:

Cash and cash  
equivalents 100,671 91,612

Trade and other  
receivables 56,184 46,161

Derivative financial 
instruments 271 2,737

Inventories - 992

Property, plant  
and equipment 25 100

Intangible assets 4,424 3,159

Associated  
companies and 
joint venture 6,773 1,718

Total assets 2,543,912 2,681,272



H
af

n
ia

 a
n

n
u

al
 r

ep
or

t 
2

0
2

0

P. 144 		  Reportable segments’ liabilities
The amounts provided to management with respect to total liabilities are 
measured in a manner consistent with that of the consolidated financial 
statements. These liabilities are allocated based on the operations of the 
segments. Certain trade and other payables are allocated to the reportable 
segments. All other liabilities are reported as unallocated items.

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Segment liabilities 51,883 82,300

Unallocated items:

Borrowings 1,307,294 1,448,126

Current income tax liabilities 2,071 1,416

Trade and other payables 18,635 24,412

Derivative financial instruments 15,991 6,514

Total liabilities 1,395,874 1,562,768

		  Geographical segments’ revenue
The Group’s vessels operate on an international platform with individual 
vessels calling at various ports across the globe. The Group does not con-
sider the domicile of its customers as a relevant decision making guideline 
and hence does not consider it meaningful to allocate vessels and revenue 
to specific geographical locations.

		  Major customers
Revenues from the top five major customers of the Group across all operat-
ing segments represents approximately USD 195.5 million (2019: USD 284.4 
million) of the Group’s total revenues.  

30. Dividends paid
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Final dividend paid in respect of  
Q4 2019 of USD 0.0573 per share 21,204 -

Interim dividend paid in respect of  
Q1 2020 of USD 0.1062 per share 38,557 -

Interim dividend paid in respect of  
Q2 2020 of USD 0.1062 per share 38,557 -

98,318 -

The directors declared a dividend of USD 21.2 million for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019. Together with the interim dividends paid for Q1 
2020 and Q2 2020 of USD 0.1062 per share in both quarters, the total divi-
dend paid in FY 2020 amounted to USD 0.2708 per share or USD 98.3 million.

Under the Bermuda Companies Act, dividends cannot be paid if there are 
reasonable grounds for believing that (a) the Company is, or would after the 
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b) the realis-
able value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.
 
The Company has acted in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda 
Companies Act when declaring dividends.

31. Events occurring after  
		  balance sheet date

On 5 January 2021, the Vista Joint Venture took delivery of the LR1 vessel, 
Hafnia Nanjing. 

On 18 January 2021, the sale of Compass and Compassion (classified as 
assets held for sale) to external parties was completed.

On 25 January 2021, the Certificate of Cancellation of Hafnia Tankers LLC was 
filed with the Registrar of Corporations in the Republic of the Marshall Islands.
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32. Authorisation of financial  
		  statements 

These financial statements were authorised to be issued by a resolution of 
the Board of Directors of Hafnia Limited passed on 7 March 2021.
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Name of companies Principal activities
Country of 
incorporation

Equity holding
2020

%

Equity holding
2019

%

BW Aldrich Pte. Ltd. Shipowning Singapore 100 100

BW Clearwater Pte. Ltd. Shipowning Singapore 100 100

BW Causeway Pte. Ltd Dormant Singapore 100 100

BW Fleet Management Pte. Ltd. Ship-management Singapore 100 100

BW Stanley Pte. Ltd. Shipowning Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Pools Pte. Ltd. Chartering Singapore 100 100

Komplementaranpartsselskabet Straits Tankers a Investment Denmark 100 100

K/S Straits Tankers c Investment Denmark 100 100

Straits Tankers Pte. Ltd. c Dormant Singapore 100 100

BW Silvermine Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 100

BW Magellan Limited f Dormant Bermuda - 100

BW Pacific Management Pte. Ltd. Agency office Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Pte. Ltd. Chartering Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers LLC a Investment Marshall Islands 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Marshall Islands LLC a Investment Marshall Islands 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Singapore Holding Pte Ltd a Investment Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Singapore Sub-Holding Pte Ltd a Shipowning Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers ApS a Shipowning Denmark 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Shipholding Beta Pte. Ltd. a Dormant Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Shipholding Alpha Pte Ltd a Shipowning Singapore 100 100

Hafnia One Pte. Ltd. b Shipowning Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Malta Limited (under liquidation) a Dormant Malta - 100

Hafnia Tankers Shipholding Malta Ltd. (under liquidation) a Dormant Malta - 100

Hafnia Tankers Singapore Pte Ltd a Investment Singapore 100 100

33. Listing of companies in the Group
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P. 147Name of companies Principal activities
Country of 
incorporation

Equity holding
2020

%

Equity holding
2019

%

Hafnia Tankers Shipholding Singapore Pte. Ltd. a Shipowning Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Shipholding 2 Singapore Pte. Ltd. a Shipowning Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Chartering Singapore Pte. Ltd. a Chartering Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Tankers International Chartering Inc. a Chartering Marshall Islands 100 100

Hafnia Tankers Services Singapore Pte Ltd a Ship-management Singapore 100 100

Hafnia Management A/S d Ship-management Denmark 40 40

Hafnia Bunkers ApS d Ship-management Denmark 40 40

Hafnia Handy Pool Management ApS d Ship-management Denmark 40 40

Hafnia MR Pool Management ApS d Ship-management Denmark 40 40

Hafnia SARL e Corporate support Monaco 100 -

Vista Shipping Pte. Ltd. d Investment Singapore 50 50

Vista Shipholding I Pte. Ltd. d Shipowning Singapore 50 50

Vista Shipholding II Pte. Ltd. d Shipowning Singapore 50 50

Vista Shipholding III Pte. Ltd. d Shipowning Singapore 50 50

Vista Shipholding IV Pte. Ltd. d Shipowning Singapore 50 50

Vista Shipholding V Pte. Ltd. d Shipowning Singapore 50 50

Vista Shipholding VI Pte. Ltd. d Shipowning Singapore 50 50

Vista Shipholding VII Pte. Ltd. e Shipowning Singapore 50 -

Vista Shipholding VIII Pte. Ltd. e Shipowning Singapore 50 -

(a) This company became a subsidiary following the merger with Hafnia Tankers.
(b)	 This company was incorporated in 2019.
(c)	 This company was 100% acquired in May 2019 (Note 15).
(d)	 This company became an associated company/joint venture following the merger with Hafnia Tankers. 
(e) 	This company was registered in 2020.
(f) 	This company was disposed in 2020.
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HAFNIA LIMITED 

(Incorporated in Bermuda)

COMPANY FINANCIAL  
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For the financial year 
ended 31 December
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For the financial year ended  
31 December 2020 Note

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Dividend from a subsidiary 91,319 -

Other operating expenses 3 (1,826) (457)

Operating profit/(loss) 89,493 (457)

Interest income 333 980

Interest expense (30) (30)

Other finance expense (38) (1)

Finance income – net 265 949

Profit before income tax 89,758 492

Income tax expense 4 - -

Profit after tax, representing total compre-
hensive income for the financial year 89,758 492

Statement of comprehensive  
income

Balance sheet 

As at 31 December 2020 Note
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Subsidiaries 7 1,582,912 1,188,120

Loans receivable from subsidiary 6 4,900 4,900

Total non-current assets 1,587,812 1,193,020

Other receivables 5 70,124 -

Loans receivable from subsidiary 6 3,163 2,830

Cash and cash equivalents 8 1 2

Total current assets 73,288 2,832

Total assets 1,661,100 1,195,852

Share capital 9 3,703 3,703

Share premium 9 704,834 704,834

Contributed surplus 537,112 537,112

Merger reserve (76,657) (76,657)

Share-based payment reserve 1,859 823

Treasury shares (13,001) (500)

Retained earnings 5,853 14,413

Total shareholders’ equity 1,163,703 1,183,728

Other payables 11 497,397 12,124

Total liabilities 497,397 12,124

Total equity and liabilities 1,661,100 1,195,852
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For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 Note

Share
capital

USD ’000

Share
premium
USD ’000

Con- 
tributed
surplus

USD ’000

Merger
reserve

USD ’000

Treasury
shares

USD ’000

Share-based
payment
reserve

USD ’000

Retained 
earnings 

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

Balance at 1 January 2020 3,703 704,834 537,112 (76,657) (500) 823 14,413 1,183,728

Transactions with owners

Treasury shares acquired - - - - (12,641) - - (12,641)

Equity-settled share-based payment - - - - 140 1,036 - 1,176

Dividends paid 16 - - - - - - (98,318) (98,318)

Total comprehensive income

Profit after tax, representing total comprehensive income for the 
financial year - - - - - - 89,758 89,758

Balance at 31 December 2020 3,703 704,834 537,112 (76,657) (13,001) 1,859 5,853 1,163,703

Note

Share
capital

USD ’000

Share
premium
USD ’000

Con- 
tributed
surplus

USD ’000

Merger
reserve

USD ’000

Treasury
shares

USD ’000

Share-based
payment
reserve

USD ’000

Retained  
earnings 

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

Balance at 1 January 2019 1,962 221,220 537,112 - - - 13,624 773,918

Transactions with owners

Issue of shares to former shareholders of Hafnia Tankers 2.2 1,470 411,872 - - - - - 413,342

Acquisition of Hafnia Tankers’ reserves 2.2 - - - - - - 297 297

Merger accounting adjustments 2.2

- Merger deficit on combination - - - (76,657) - - - (76,657)

Treasury shares acquired - - - - (500) - - (500)

Equity-settled share-based payment - - - - - 823 - 823

Issue of common shares (net of capitalised listing fees) 9 271 71,742 - - - - - 72,013

Total comprehensive income
Profit after tax, representing total comprehensive income for the 
financial year - - - - - - 492 492

Balance at 31 December 2019 3,703 704,834 537,112 (76,657) (500) 823 14,413 1,183,728

Statement of changes in equity
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P. 152 Statement of cash flows 

For the financial year ended  
31 December 2020

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Cash flows from operating activities 

Profit for the financial year 89,758 492

Adjustments for:

- interest income (333) (980)

- dividend income (91,319) -

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (1,894) (488)

Changes in working capital:

- other receivables (406,265) (11,523)

- other payables 408,158 11,956

Net cash used in operating activities (1) (55)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1) (55)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the 
financial year 2 36

Acquisition of Hafnia Tankers’ cash and cash 
equivalents on merger - 21

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the financial 
year 1 2
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Significant non-cash transactions
During the year USD 98.3 million of dividends payment to shareholder were settled 
by subsidiaries for and on behalf of the Company (2019: USD Nil).

USD 12.6 million of treasury shares acquired during the year were paid by a subsid-
iary for and on behalf of the Company (2019: USD 0.5 million).

Proceeds from issuance of common shares of USD 72.0 million during the listing of 
the Company’s shares on Oslo Axess in 2019 were received by a subsidiary for and 
on behalf of the Company.
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1. General information 

Hafnia Limited (the “Company”), is incorporated and domiciled in Bermuda. 
The address of its registered office is Washington Mall Phase 2, 4th Floor, 
Suite 400, 22 Church Street, HM 1189, Hamilton HM EX, Bermuda.
	
The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.

These financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Direc-
tors of Hafnia Limited on 7 March 2021.

2. Significant accounting policies
2.1		 Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and have been prepared under the his-
torical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

2.2		 Scheme of reorganisation and merger of entities (the “Merger”)
On 16 January 2019, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hafnia Limited (formerly 
known as BW Tankers Limited), BW Tankers Corporation, merged with Hafnia 
Tankers Limited (“Hafnia Tankers”), a fellow subsidiary of BW Group Limited 
(“BW Group”). The merger was effected through a share swap arrangement, 
where newly issued shares of BW Tankers Limited were exchanged for all 

outstanding shares of Hafnia Tankers Limited. On 21 January 2019, BW 
Tankers Corporation was merged with BW Tankers Limited without consid-
eration in a simplified parent and subsidiary merger. BW Tankers Limited, 
the surviving entity, then changed its name to Hafnia Limited.

As both BW Tankers Limited and Hafnia Tankers Limited were under the 
common control of the BW Group before and after the merger, the Compa-
ny applied the common control exemption and accounted for the opening 
balance of the merged Company using the book value accounting method. 
Under the book value accounting method, the combined assets, liabilities 
and reserves of the merged companies are recorded at their existing car-
rying amounts at the date of merger. Any adjustments that may be required 
in equity to reflect the difference between the consideration paid and the 
capital of the acquiree is recognised directly in reserves.
 
The merger of BW Tankers Limited and Hafnia Tankers Limited was per-
formed on a relative net asset value (“NAV”) basis, where the NAV of both 
merging entities were evaluated, added together and shareholdings allocated 
based on the proportionate contributions to the NAV of the merged entity. The 
NAV utilised in the exercise was performed based on the standalone financial 
statements of the merging entities. As a result, by utilising the book values of 
the merging entities from the standalone financial statements’ perspective, 
management believes that such an approach better reflects the economics 
of the merger, and provides more relevant information to the shareholders. 
As a matter of practical expediency, management had effected the merger 
utilising the adjusted book values of both merging entities as at the beginning 
of the reporting period, 1 January 2019 as the financial effect of 16 days 
was not material to the financial position of the Company. 

Notes to the financial statements 
These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements
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P. 154 A summary of the combined assets, liabilities and reserves of the merged 
companies are presented below.

2.3		 Changes in accounting policies
Amendments to published standards effective in 2020
The Company has adopted the new standards and amendments to published 
standards as of 1 January 2020. Changes in the Company’s accounting 
policies have been made as required, in accordance with the transitional 
provisions in the respective standards and amendments.

BW 
Tankers 
Limited

at 1 January 
2019

USD ’000

Hafnia 
Tankers 

Limited at 
1 January 

2019
USD ’000

Merger
adjustments

USD ’000

Total 
opening 

balances at 
1 January 

2019
USD ’000

Subsidiaries 320,010 348,470 - 668,480 

Other receivables 454,039 15 - 454,054 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 36 21 - 57 

Total assets 774,085 348,506  - 1,122,591 

Trade and other 
payables 167 11,525  - 11,692 

Total liabilities 167 11,525  - 11,692 

Share capital1 1,962 336,684 (335,215) 3,431

Share premium1 221,220 - 411,872 633,092

Contributed  
surplus 537,112 - - 537,112

Merger reserve - - (76,657) (76,657)

Accumulated 
losses 13,624 297 - 13,921

Total equity 773,918 336,981 - 1,110,899

Note 1 – USD 76.7 million represents the difference between the consideration paid of USD 
413.3 million in the form of new issued shares of the Company and acquisition of Hafnia 
Tankers old shares of USD 336.7 million.

The adoption of these new or amended standards did not result in substantial 
changes in the Company’s accounting policies and had no material effect on 
the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years.

2.4		� Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Compa-
ny’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and assumptions. Estimates, assumptions and judgements are 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, includ-
ing expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. There are no estimates and assumptions which have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

2.5		 Revenue and income recognition
Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is estab-
lished.

	
2.6		 Investments in subsidiaries

Subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company.  The Company controls 
an entity when it is exposed to, or has right to, variable returns from its in-
volvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power over the entity.

Investment in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses in the Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of such investments, 
the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the 
investments are recognised in profit or loss.

2.7		 Financial assets
		  (a) Recognition and initial measurement

Other receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. Other 
financial assets are recognised when the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 
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P. 155Financial assets are initially recognised at fair 
value plus transaction costs except for finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL), which are recognised at fair value. 
Transaction costs for financial assets at FVTPL 
are recognised immediately as expenses.

		  (b) Classification 
The Company classifies its financial assets in 
the following categories: at amortised cost.

A financial asset is measured at amortised 
cost if it meets both of the following conditions 
and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

•	 �it is held within a business model whose ob-
jective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and

•	 �its contractual terms give rise on specified 
dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal 
amount outstanding.

They are presented as “Other receivables“ 
and “Cash and cash equivalents” in the bal-
ance sheet.

Financial assets at amortised cost are sub-
sequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method.

(c) Derecognition of financial assets 
Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the financial asset expire, or it transfers the 
rights to receive the contractual cashflows in 
a transaction in which substantially all of the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred or in which the Company 
neither retains substantially all of the risks and 

rewards of ownership and it does not retain 
control of the financial asset.

(d) Offsetting financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and 
the net amount reported in the balance sheet, 
when there is a legally enforceable right to off-
set the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(e) Impairment 
For financial assets measured at amortised 
cost and contract assets, the Company assess-
es at each balance sheet date whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or a 
group of financial assets is impaired and rec-
ognises an allowance for expected credit loss 
(ECL) at an amount equal to the lifetime expect-
ed credit loss if there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. 
If the credit risk has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Company recog-
nises an allowance for ECL at an amount equal 
to 12-month ECL. 

Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all 
possible default events over the expected life 
of a financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are 
the portion of ECLs that results from default 
events that are possible within the 12 months 
after the reporting date (or a shorter period if 
the expected life of the instrument is less than 
12 months).

The maximum period considered when esti-
mating ECLs is the maximum contractual pe-
riod over which the Company is exposed to 
credit risk.

For trade receivables and contract assets, 
the Company applied the simplified approach 
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires the loss 
allowance to be measured at an amount equal 
to lifetime ECLs.

The Company applies the general approach to 
provide for ECLs on all other financial instru-
ments. Under the general approach, the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
12-month ECLs at initial recognition.
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses 
whether the credit risk of a financial instrument 
has increased significantly since initial recog-
nition. When credit risk has increased signifi-
cantly since initial recognition, loss allowance is 
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

Measurement of ECLs
ECLs are probability-weighted estimates of 
credit losses. Credit losses are measured at 
the present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. 
the difference between the cash flows due to 
the entity in accordance with the contract and 
the cash flows that the Company expects to 
receive). ECLs are discounted at the effective 
interest rate of the financial asset.
 
Credit-impaired financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company assesses 
whether financial assets carried at amortised 
cost are credit-impaired. A financial asset is 
‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that 
have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of the financial asset have 
occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-im-
paired includes the following observable data:
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P. 156 •	 significant financial difficulty of the debtor;
•	 �a breach of contract such as a default or 

being more than 90 days past due;
•	 �the restructuring of a loan or advance by 

the Company on terms that the Company 
would not consider otherwise;

•	 �it is probable that the debtor will enter bank-
ruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

•	 �the disappearance of an active market for 
a security because of financial difficulties.

Presentation of allowance for ECLs in the  
balance sheet
Loss allowances for financial assets meas-
ured at amortised cost and contract assets 
are deducted from the gross carrying amount 
of these assets.

When determining whether the credit risk of 
a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when estimating 
ECLs, the Company considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This in-
cludes both quantitative and qualitative infor-
mation and analysis, based on the Company’s 
historical experience, informed credit assess-
ment and other forward-looking information.

The Company assumes that the credit risk on 
a financial asset has increased significantly if 
the debtor is under significant financial diffi-
culties, or when there is default or significant 
delay in payments. The Company considers a 
financial asset to be in default when the debtor 
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the 
Company in full, without recourse by the Com-
pany to actions such as realising security (if 
any is held).
 

2.8		 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for 
goods or services that have been acquired 
from suppliers in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. Trade and other payables are classified 
as current liabilities if payment is due within 
one year or less. If not, they are presented as 
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recog-
nised at fair value and subsequently carried 
at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method, and are derecognised when the Com-
pany’s obligation has been discharged or can-
celled or expired. 

2.9		 Impairment of non-financial assets
For the purpose of impairment testing, the re-
coverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair 
value less costs to sell and value-in-use) is 
determined on an individual asset basis un-
less the asset does not generate cash flows 
that are largely independent of those from oth-
er assets. If this is the case, the recoverable 
amount is determined for the CGU to which the 
asset belongs. 

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or 
CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or 
CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
The difference between the carrying amount 
and recoverable amount is recognised as an 
impairment loss in profit or loss. 

An impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) other 
than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there 
has been a change in the estimate of the asset’s 
(or CGU’s) recoverable amount since the last 

impairment loss was recognised. The carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to its 
revised recoverable amount, provided that this 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined (net of any 
accumulated amortisation and depreciation) 
had no impairment loss been recognised for 
the asset (or CGU) in prior years. A reversal 
of impairment loss for an asset (or CGU) other 
than goodwill is recognised in profit or loss.

2.10 	 Fair value estimation of financial assets  
		  and liabilities 

The carrying amounts of current financial 
assets and liabilities measured at amortised 
costs approximate their fair values due to the 
short term nature of the balances. 

2.11	 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in 
United States Dollars, which is the Company’s 
functional currency. All financial information 
presented in US dollars has been rounded to 
the nearest thousand, unless otherwise stated.

(b) Transactions and balances
Transactions in a currency other than the 
functional currency (“foreign currency”) are 
translated into the functional currency using 
the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 
transactions. Foreign currency exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions, and from the translation of mone-
tary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at the closing rates at the balance 
sheet date, are recognised in profit or loss. 
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P. 1572.12	 Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and 
cash equivalents include cash on hand short-term bank deposits, which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 

2.13	 Share capital 
Common shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity in-
struments are taken to equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.14	 Dividend to Company’s shareholders
Interim dividends are recognised in the financial year in which they are 
declared payable and final dividends are recognised when the dividends 
are approved for payment by the directors and shareholders respectively.

2.15	 Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are accounted for as insurance contracts 
and treated as contingent liabilities until such time as they become probable 
that the Company will be required to make a payment under the guarantee. 
A provision is recognised based on the Company’s estimate of the ultimate 
cost of settling all claims incurred but unpaid at the balance sheet date. The 
provision is assessed by reviewing individual claims and tested for adequacy 
by comparing the amount recognised and the amount that would be required 
to settle the guarantee contract.

3.		 Expenses by nature

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Administrative expenses 91 113

Other expenses 1,735 344

Total other operating expenses 1,826 457

4.	 Income taxes
No provision for tax has been made for the year ended 31 December 2020 
and 2019 as the Company does not have any income that is subject to income 
tax based on the tax legislation applicable to the Company.

There is no income, withholding, capital gains or capital transfer taxes pay-
able in Bermuda.

5.		 Other receivables

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Other receivables

- subsidiary	 70,116 -

- non-related parties 8 -

70,124 -

Other receivables due from subsidiary represent dividends receivable.

The carrying amounts of other receivables approximate their fair values. 

Information about the Company’s exposure to credit risk is disclosed in 
Note 13. 
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7.		 Subsidiaries

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Equity investments at cost 668,470 668,470

Receivables from subsidiaries 914,442 519,650

1,582,912 1,188,120

6.	 Loans receivable from  
		  subsidiary

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Loans receivable from subsidiary 8,063 7,730

Analysed as:

- Non-current 4,900 4,900

- Current 3,163 2,830

8,063 7,730

The loans receivable from subsidiary pertains to amounts provided to Hafnia 
Tankers Marshall Islands LLC (“HTMI LLC”) for on-lending to a joint venture 
company, Vista Shipping Pte. Ltd., for making payments for newbuild instal-
ments and other vessel related expenses. 

The non-current loan relates to a loan agreement offered to HTMI LLC and 
matures on 31 December 2025. It is unsecured, bears interest at 6% per 
annum and repayable on the earlier of (i) the maturity date or (ii) repayment 
from Vista Shipping Pte. Ltd. to HTMI LLC.

The current loan relates to a loan agreement offered to HTMI LLC. It is 
unsecured, bears interest at 6% per annum and is repayable on demand.

The receivables from subsidiaries originated from re-organisation of entities 
in prior years. Accordingly, these receivables are classified within “Subsid-
iaries” and are stated at amortised cost. These receivables are unsecured, 
interest-free, and settlement is at the absolute discretion of the subsidiaries. 
As the Company does not expect these receivables to be settled within the 
next 12 months, they have been classified as “non-current”.

Name of  
companies

Principal
activities

Country of
 incorpora-

tion

Equity 
holding

2020

Equity 
holding 

2019

Hafnia Pte. Ltd. Chartering Singapore 100% 100%

Hafnia Tankers 
LLC Investment

Marshall 
Islands 100% 100%

Hafnia Tankers 
Marshall Islands 
LLC Investment

Marshall 
Islands 100% -

		  Impairment assessment
The Company assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment of 
investments in subsidiaries at each reporting date. 

Management has used the fair value less cost to sell approach to determine 
the recoverable amounts for its investment in subsidiaries. For this purpose, 
the net assets of the subsidiaries were used and where needed, adjusted 
to reflect their fair values, and this involves restating the carrying values of 
the vessels held by subsidiaries to their recoverable amounts based on the 
value in use approach as described below. Other items within the net assets 
computation are primarily current monetary items, whose carrying values 
already approximate their fair values. 

Value in use was determined with reference to the future cash flows projec-
tions of vessels held by Hafnia Pte. Ltd., discounted at 6.9% and the operating 
cash flows available for immediate distribution. The discount rate takes 
into account the time value of money and the risks specific to the vessels’ 
estimated cash flows. Cash flows were projected based on past experiences 
and actual operating results. Charter rates were included based on actual 
contractual charter rates and last estimates of contractual rates for the 
remaining useful lives of the vessels. 
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9 .		 Share capital and other 
		  reserves

Number of
Shares

Share
capital

USD ’000

Share
premium
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

At 1 January 2020 
and 31 December 
2020 370,244,325 3,703 704,834 708,537

At 1 January 2019 196,241,352 1,962 221,220 223,182

Shares issued for 
merger 146,916,627 1,470 411,872 413,342

New shares issued 27,086,346 271 71,742 72,013

At 31 December 
2019 370,244,325 3,703 704,834 708,537

8.	 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and short-term bank 
deposits.

Cash and cash equivalents are principally denominated in USD.

(a)		  Authorised share capital
The total authorised number of shares is 600,000,000 (2019: 600,000,000) 
common shares at par value of USD 0.01 per share.

In October 2019, the total authorised number of shares was increased by 
200,000,000 shares with a par value of USD 0.01 per share.

(b)		  Issued and fully paid share capital
On 16 January 2019, the Company issued 146,916,627 shares in a share 
swap arrangement, where newly issued shares of the Company were ex-
changed for all outstanding shares of Hafnia Tankers during the Merger.

On 8 November 2019, the Company completed a pre-listing private placement 
(the “Pre-listing Private Placement”) and subsequent listing (the “Listing”) 
on Oslo Axess, which is a fully regulated marketplace operated by the Oslo 
Stock Exchange. 27,086,346 new shares were issued, raising net proceeds 
of USD 72.0 million.

On 25 February 2020, the Company announced its share buy-back program 
under which the Company may repurchase up to 7,193,407 common shares 
representing up to 1.9% of the total number of issued and outstanding shares 
in the Company for a total consideration of up to USD 20.0 million. The Com-
pany subsequently repurchased a total of 7,037,407 of its own common 
shares at an average price of NOK17.08 per share, amounting to a total 
consideration of approximately USD 12.6 million. 

Following an up-listing application to the Oslo Stock Exchange on 23 April 
2020, the Company was subsequently listed on the Oslo Børs and commenced 
trading of its shares on 30 April 2020.

All issued common shares are fully paid. The newly issued shares rank pari 
passu with the existing shares.

(c)		  Share premium
The difference between the consideration for common shares issued and 
their par value is recognised as share premium. 

USD 3.0 million of listing fees and expenses were capitalised against share 
premium after the Listing.

The projected cash outflows take into account existing and projected vessels’ 
voyage and operating expenses.

Based on the assessment, no impairment loss (2019: USD Nil) was recognised 
in the statement of profit or loss by the Company.
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10.	Share-based payment 
		  arrangements
(a)		  Description of share option programme (equity-settled)

The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, 
under which the entity receives services from employees as consideration 
for equity instruments (share options) in the Company. On 16 January 2019, 
1 March 2019, 1 June 2019, 1 August 2019 and 25 February 2020, the 
Company granted share options to key management and senior employees. 
All options are to be settled by physical delivery of shares. The terms and 
conditions of the share options granted are as follows. 

(d)		  Contributed surplus
Contributed surplus relates to the amount transferred from share capital 
account when the par value of each common share was reduced from USD 5 
to USD 0.01 per share in 2015. Contributed surplus is distributable, subject 
to the fulfilment of the conditions as stipulated under the Bermudian Law. 

(e)		  Treasury shares
The reserve for the Company’s treasury shares comprises the cost of the 
Company’s shares held. At 31 December 2020, the Company held 7,179,946 
of its own shares (2019: 211,479).

Grant date

Number of 
instruments 

in thousands Vesting conditions
Expiry of 
options

Option grant to  
key management 
personnel on  
16 January 2019
(“Tranche 1”) 1,834

3 years’ service condi-
tion from grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025 

Option Grant to  
key management 
personnel on  
1 March 2019
(“Tranche 2”) 207

3 years’ service condi-
tion from grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025

Option Grant to  
key management 
personnel on  
1 June 2019
(“Tranche 3”) 1,183

3 years’ service condi-
tion from grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025 

Option grant to  
key management 
personnel on  
1 August 2019
(“Tranche 4”) 207

3 years’ service condi-
tion from grant date of 
Tranche 1

16 January 
2025 

Option Grant to 
key management 
personnel on 25 
February 2020
(“LTIP 2020”) 3,432

3 years’ service condi-
tion from grant date

25 February 
2026

The share options become void if the employee rescinds their position before 
the vesting date.

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is 
based on the fair value of the share options granted, measured using the 
Black-Scholes model.

(b)		  Measurement of grant date fair values
The following inputs were used in the measurement of the fair values at 
grant date of the share options.
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P. 161Share option programme

Tranche 1 Tranche 2 Tranche 3 Tranche 4 LTIP 2020

Grant date 16 January 2019 1 March 2019 1 June 2019 1 August 2019 25 February 2020

Share price (NOK) 24.03 24.17 24.47 24.67 20.57

Exercise price (NOK) 27.81 27.81 27.81 27.81 23.81

Time to maturity (years) 4.5 4.4 4.1 4.0 4.5

Risk free rate 2.54% 2.54% 1.93% 1.78% 1.24%

Volatility 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00% 50.00%

Dividends - - - - -

Annual tenure risk 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50% 7.50%

Share options granted 1,833,958 207,278 1,183,063 207,278 3,431,577

Fair value at grant date (USD) 1,610,382 182,009 976,425 169,317 1,974,539

Volatility has been estimated as a benchmark volatility by considering the his-
torical average share price volatility of a comparable peer group of companies.
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P. 162 12.	Financial guarantee 
		  contracts

The Company’s policy is to provide financial guarantees only to the whol-
ly-owned subsidiaries or joint ventures. At 31 December 2020, the Company 
has issued financial guarantees to certain banks in respect of credit facilities 
granted to subsidiaries. These bank borrowings amount to USD 1,110.5 
million (2019: USD 1,211.0 million) at the balance sheet date.

In addition, the Company and the joint venture partner, CSSC (Hong Kong) 
Shipping Company Limited, have issued a joint financial guarantee to certain 
banks in respect of credit facilities granted to the joint venture. Bank bor-
rowings provided to the joint venture amounts to USD 152.5 million (2019: 
USD 105.0 million) at the balance sheet date. Corporate guarantee given will 
become due and payable on demand if an event of default occurs.

In addition, the Company issued a limited financial guarantee to a bank in 
respect of the USD 50.0 million (2019: USD Nil) receivables purchase agree-
ment facility granted to the commercial pools.

11.		Other payables
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Other payables

- related corporations 496,239 10,683

Loan payable to related corporation 1,045 1,015

Accrued operating expenses 113 426

497,397 12,124

The carrying amounts of other payables, principally denominated in Unit-
ed States Dollars, approximate their fair values due to the short period to 
maturity. 

The other payables to related corporations are unsecured, interest-free 
and are repayable on demand.

The loan payable to a related corporation is unsecured, interest-free and 
has no fixed terms of repayment.

Information about the Company’s exposure to currency and liquidity risks 
is included in Note 13.
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P. 163(b)		  Credit risk 
The Company‘s credit risk is primarily attributable to other receivables, loans 
receivable from subsidiary and cash and cash equivalents. Other receivables 
are neither past due nor impaired. The maximum exposure is represented 
by the carrying value of each financial asset on the balance sheet.

The Company has used a general 12-month approach in assessing the credit 
risk associated with loans receivable from subsidiary. 

The Company performs ongoing credit risk assessment of subsidiary to 
make sure they have sufficient resources to make settlement of its liability 
to the Company. In this regard, the Company is of the opinion that the credit 
risk of default is low.

(c)		  Liquidity risk 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit fa-
cilities and the ability to close out market positions. The Company maintains 
sufficient cash for its daily operations via short-term cash deposits at banks 
and funding from a subsidiary. Unless there is a liquidity need, the Company 
allows the vessel owning and operating subsidiaries to retain their surplus 
cash from operations.

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Company 
into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the bal-
ance sheet date to the contractual maturity date on an undiscounted basis.

Less than 1 
year

USD ’000

At 31 December 2020

Other payables 497,397

At 31 December 2019

Other payables 12,124

(d)		  Capital risk
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Com-
pany’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure so as to maximise shareholders’ value. In order to maintain 
or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount 
of dividends paid, return capital to shareholders, obtain new borrowings or 
sell assets to reduce borrowings.

The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements 
for the financial years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

(e)		  Accounting classifications and fair values
The following tables present assets and liabilities measured at fair value 
and classified by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
(1)	� quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities (Level 1);

(2)	� inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are ob-
servable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or 
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(3)	� inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3).
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Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Financial 
assets at 

amortised
cost

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000
Level 1 

USD ’000
Level 2 

USD ’000
Level 3 

USD ’000
Total 

USD ’000

At 31 December 2020

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Other receivables 5 8 8

Loans receivable from subsidiary 6 8,063 8,063 - 8,063 - 8,063

Cash and cash equivalents 8 1 1

8,072 8,072

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Other 
financial 
liabilities
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

Level 1 
USD ’000

Level 2 
USD ’000

Level 3 
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

At 31 December 2020

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Other payables 11 497,397 497,397

497,397 497,397
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Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Financial 
assets at 

amortised
cost

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000
Level 1 

USD ’000
Level 2 

USD ’000
Level 3 

USD ’000
Total

USD ’000

At 31 December 2019

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Loans receivable from subsidiary 6 7,730 7,730 - 7,730 - 7,730

Cash and cash equivalents 8 2 2

7,732 7,732

Carrying amount Fair value

Note

Other  
financial 
liabilities
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

Level 1 
USD ’000

Level 2 
USD ’000

Level 3 
USD ’000

Total
USD ’000

At 31 December 2019

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Other payables 11 12,124 12,124

12,124 12,124
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14.	Holding corporations
The Company’s ultimate and immediate holding corporation is BW Group 
Limited, incorporated in Bermuda, which is wholly owned by Sohmen family 
interests.

15.	Related party transactions
In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the finan-
cial statements, the following transactions took place between the Company 
and related parties during the financial year on commercial terms agreed 
by the parties:

2020
USD ’000

2019
USD ’000

Share capital contribution

Subscription of shares by the 
immediate and ultimate holding 
corporation - 50,000

16.	Dividends paid
2020

USD ’000
2019

USD ’000

Final dividend paid in respect of Q4 
2019 of USD 0.0573 per share 21,204 -

Interim dividend paid in respect of 
Q1 2020 of USD 0.1062 per share 38,557 -

Interim dividend paid in respect of 
Q2 2020 of USD 0.1062 per share 38,557 -

98,318 -

The directors declared a dividend of USD 21.2 million for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019. Together with the interim dividends paid for Q1 
2020 and Q2 2020 of USD 0.1062 per share in both quarters, the total divi-
dend paid in FY 2020 amounted to USD 0.2708 per share or USD 98.3 million.

Under the Bermuda Companies Act, dividends cannot be paid if there are 
reasonable grounds for believing that (a) the Company is, or would after the 
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or (b) the realis-
able value of the Company’s assets would thereby be less than its liabilities.
 
The Company has acted in accordance with the provisions of the Bermuda 
Companies Act when declaring dividends.

(f)		  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are not subjected to enforce-
able master netting arrangements or similar arrangements. 
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		  accounting standards 
		  and interpretations

A number of new standards and interpretations are effective for annual peri-
ods beginning after 1 January 2021, and have not been applied in preparing 
these financial statements. None of these are expected to have a significant 
effect on the financial statements of the Company.

There are no other IFRS or IFRIC interpretations that are not yet effective 
that would be expected to have a material impact on the Company.
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18.	Events occurring after 
		  balance sheet date

On 25 January 2021, the Certificate of Cancellation of Hafnia Tankers LLC 
was filed with the Registrar of Corporations in the Republic of the Marshall 
Islands.

19.	Comparative 
		  information

Following the Company’s listing of its equity shares on Oslo Børs on 30 April 
2020, this is the first time the Company publishes its financial statements. 
Accordingly, the comparative information has been produced to aid com-
parability.
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Handy

Name
Mth-Year 

built Shipyard
Capacity 

(dwt) Flag
Owner-
ship (%)

Hafnia Adamello Aug-04 Saiki 40,002 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Bering Apr-15 Hyundai 
Mipo

39,067 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Green Aug-07 Saiki 39,808 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Hope Jan-07 Saiki 40,009 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Karava Mar-07 Saiki 40,020 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Magellan May-15 Hyundai 
Mipo

39,067 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Malacca Jul-15 Hyundai 
Mipo

39,067 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Rainier Mar-04 Saiki 39,817 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Robson May-04 Saiki 39,819 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Soya Nov-15 Hyundai 
Mipo

39,067 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Sunda Sep-15 Hyundai 
Mipo

39,067 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Torres May-16 Hyundai 
Mipo

39,067 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Victoria Jun-07 Saiki 39,821 Singapore 100%

TOTAL (13 VESSELS)

Fleet list
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Name
Mth-Year 

built Shipyard
Capacity 

(dwt) Flag
Owner-
ship (%)

Hafnia Androm-
eda

May-11 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Crux Feb-12 GSI 49,999 Denmark 100%

Hafnia Daisy Aug-16 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Henriette Jun-16 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Kristen Jan-17 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Lene Jul-15 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Leo Nov-13 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Lise Sep-16 GSI 49,875 Malta 100%

Hafnia Libra May-13 GSI 49,999 Denmark 100%

Hafnia Lotte Jan-17 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Lupus Apr-12 GSI 49,999 Denmark 100%

Hafnia Mikala May-17 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%

Hafnia Nordica Mar-10
Shin Ku-
rushima

49,994 Malta 100%

Hafnia Pegasus Oct-10 GSI 49,994 Denmark 100%

Hafnia Phoenix Jul-13 GSI 49,999 Denmark 100%

Hafnia Taurus Jun-11 GSI 50,385 Malta 100%

Hafnia Andrea Jun-15 Hyundai 
Mipo

49,999 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Caterina Aug-15 Hyundai 
Mipo

49,999 Singapore 100%

Orient Challenge Jun-17 Hyundai 
Vinashin

49,972 Singapore TC-in2

Orient Innova-
tion

Jul-17 Hyundai 
Vinashin

44,994 Singapore TC-in2

Bulldog Feb-20 JMU 49,856 Singapore TC-in2

Basset Nov-19 JMU 49,875 Singapore TC-in2

TOTAL (47 VESSELS)

MR (continued)MR

Name
Mth-Year 

built Shipyard
Capacity 

(dwt) Flag
Owner-
ship (%)

Beagle Mar-19 JMU 44,995 Panama TC-in2

Boxer Jun-19 JMU 49,552 Singapore TC-in2

BW Bobcat Aug-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Cheetah Feb-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Cougar Jan-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Eagle Jul-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Egret Nov-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Falcon Feb-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Hawk Jun-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Jaguar Mar-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Kestrel Aug-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Leopard Jan-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Lioness Jan-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Lynx Nov-13 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Merlin Sep-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Myna Oct-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Osprey Oct-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Panther Jun-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Petrel Jan-16 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Puma Nov-13 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Raven Nov-15 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Swift Jan-16 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Tiger Mar-14 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

BW Wren Mar-16 SPP 49,999 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Ane Nov-15 GSI 49,999 Malta 100%
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Name
Mth-Year 

built Shipyard
Capacity 

(dwt) Flag
Owner-
ship (%)

BW Yarra Jul-17
STX 

Shipbuilding
74,000 Singapore 100%

BW Zambesi Jan-10
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,995 Singapore 100%

Compass* Feb-06
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
72,736 Singapore 100%

Compassion* Jun-06
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
72,782 Singapore 100%

Hafnia Africa May-10 STX 69,999 Singapore BB-in1

Hafnia Arctic Jan-10 Brodosplit 74,910 Malta BB-in1

Hafnia Asia Jun-10 STX 74,490 Malta BB-in1

Hafnia 
Australia

May-10 STX 74,539 Singapore BB-in1

Hafnia  
Guangzhou

Jul-19 GSI 74,999 Malta 50%3

Hafnia Beijing Oct-19 GSI 74,999 Malta 50%3

Hafnia 
Europe

Aug-06 Onomichi 74,997 Singapore 100%

Hafnia 
Hong Kong

Jan-19 GSI 74,999 Malta 50%3

Hafnia 
Shanghai

Jan-19 GSI 74,999 Malta 50%3

Karimata Aug-19 Onomichi 79,885 Panama TC-in2

Sunda Jul-19 Onomichi 79,902 Panama TC-in2

Tectus Jul-09 STX 74,862 Liberia TC-in2

Hafnia 
Shenzhen

Aug-20 GSI 74,999 Singapore 50%3

Hafnia 
Nanjing

Jan-21 GSI 74,999 Singapore 50%3

TOTAL (35 VESSELS)

LR1 (continued)

Name
Mth-Year 

built Shipyard
Capacity 

(dwt) Flag
Owner-
ship (%)

BW Amazon Oct-06
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,999 Singapore 100%

BW Clyde Jun-04
New Century 
Shipbuilding

73,400 Singapore 100%

BW Columbia Jan-07
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,999 Singapore 100%

BW Danube Mar-07
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
69,855 Singapore 100%

BW Hudson Jun-07
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
69,991 Singapore 100%

BW Kallang Jan-17
STX 

Shipbuilding
74,189 Singapore 100%

BW Kronborg Mar-07
New Century 
Shipbuilding

73,708 Singapore 100%

BW Lara Aug-04
New Century 
Shipbuilding

73,495 Singapore 100%

BW Lena Aug-07
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,988 Singapore 100%

BW Nile Aug-17
STX 

Shipbuilding
74,189 Singapore 100%

BW Orinoco Nov-07
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,988 Singapore 100%

BW Rhine Mar-08
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,996 Singapore 100%

BW Seine May-08
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
76,580 Singapore 100%

BW Shinano Oct-08
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,998 Singapore 100%

BW Tagus Mar-17
STX 

Shipbuilding
74,189 Singapore 100%

BW Thames Aug-08
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,999 Singapore 100%

BW Yangtze Jan-09
Dalian 

Shipbuilding
74,996 Singapore 100%

LR1
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1 ”BB-in” = Bare boat charter in 
2 ”TC-in” = Time charter in 
3 Owned through the Vista JV.
*Classified as assets held for sale

LR2

Newbuild

Name
Mth-Year 

built Shipyard
Capacity 

(dwt) Flag
Owner-
ship (%)

BW Despina Jan-19 Daehan 109,990 Singapore 100%

BW Galatea Mar-19 Daehan 109,990 Singapore 100%

BW Larissa Apr-19 Daehan 109,990 Singapore 100%

BW Neso Jul-19 Daehan 109,990 Singapore 100%

BW Thalassa Sep-19 Daehan 109,990 Singapore 100%

BW Triton Oct-19 Daehan 99,999 Singapore 100%

TOTAL (6 VESSELS)

Name
Mth-Year 

built Shipyard
Capacity 

(dwt) Flag
Owner-
ship (%)

Hafnia Nanjing Jan-21 GSI 74,999 Singapore 50%

TOTAL (1 VESSEL)
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